

Virginia Commonwealth University VCU Scholars Compass

Theses and Dissertations

Graduate School

2013

Positive Allosteric Modulators of Alpha4Beta2 Neuronal Nicotinic Receptors: Synthesis and In vitro Studies

Atul Jain Virginia Commonwealth University

Follow this and additional works at: http://scholarscompass.vcu.edu/etd Part of the <u>Pharmacy and Pharmaceutical Sciences Commons</u>

© The Author

Downloaded from http://scholarscompass.vcu.edu/etd/2953

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Graduate School at VCU Scholars Compass. It has been accepted for inclusion in Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of VCU Scholars Compass. For more information, please contact libcompass@vcu.edu.

| [©] Atul D Jain | 2013 |
|--------------------------|------|
| All Rights Reserved | |

POSITIVE ALLOSTERIC MODULATORS OF ALPHA4BETA2 NEURONAL NICOTINIC ACETYLCHOLINE RECEPTORS: SYNTHESIS AND IN VITRO STUDIES

A dissertation submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy at Virginia Commonwealth University.

By

Atul Jain Master of Science, Bombay College of Pharmacy, Mumbai, India, 2008 Bachelor of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Bombay College of Pharmacy, Mumbai, India, 2005

> Director: Dr. Richard A. Glennon, PhD Professor and Chairman, Department of Medicinal Chemistry

Virginia Commonwealth University Richmond, Virginia February, 2013

Acknowledgments

It is a pleasant aspect that I have now the opportunity to express my gratitude for all of them. First and foremost I would like to express my deepest sense of respect to my advisor Dr. Richard A. Glennon for being the constant source of inspiration, support and encouragement. His deep knowledge, integral view on research has inspired me to look for solutions to the problems rather than focus on the problem itself. He has taught me that sincerity and dedication towards work will always be rewarded. His methodical approach toward a problem has confirmed the importance of basic knowledge to stand out among the rest.

I am indebted to Dr. Malgorzata Dukat for the immense help, encouragement, constructive criticism and support over the years in the lab.

I owe my gratitude towards the lab members especially; Dr. Nadia German, Dr. Rossana Ferrara, Dr. Renata Kolanos and Dr. Mikhail Bondarev for their stimulating suggestions, constructive criticism and help in planning and executing my work in the lab.

I am very thankful to Sharon and Jennie for their excellent administration and showing me the right channel to be followed for getting the administrative work done quickly and efficiently.

I cherish with gratitude the affectionate encouragement provided by my buddies Hardik, Akul, Rio, Shilpa, Shrenik, Farhana, Tanvi, Khushboo, Soumya, Priyanka, Suditi, Vijay, Pankaj, Vivek, Sweety, Shankar, Pratik, Batul and Osama for their suggestions, strong support, and being a family away from home.

I give a very big express gratitude to Shruti Desai for helping me in more than one way. She has provided me with all the support, provided confidence and belief that I will overcome all the hurdles in work and life. Her words of encouragement have helped me attain peace and calmness in whatever work I do.

I would like to acknowledge the School of Pharmacy, Lowenthal award (special thanks to Dr. Hilda Meth) and Graduate School (dissertation assistantship) for providing me with the financial support throughout my course.

I would also like to share this moment of happiness and acknowledge my family members for providing a strong emotional support while being away from home. The chain of my gratitude would be definitely incomplete without acknowledging my parents, who taught me the value of hard work by their own example and provided love, unconditional support, encouragement and blessings. I dedicate this work to them.

Finally, I would like to thank God who has blessed me all throughout and keeping me safe and happy.

Table of Contents

| List of Tables | X |
|--|-----|
| List of Figures | xi |
| List of Schemes | xiv |
| List of Abbreviations | xvi |
| Abstract | xxi |
| I. Introduction | 1 |
| II. Background | |
| A. Receptors | |
| 1. Definition | |
| 2. General classification | 4 |
| 3. Classification of ligand-gated ion channels | 4 |
| B. Acetylcholine and its receptors | 6 |
| 1. Acetylcholine | 6 |
| 2. Biosynthesis and metabolism of ACh | 7 |
| 3. Classification of ACh receptors | 10 |

| 4. Nicotinic ACh receptors | 13 |
|--|----|
| a. Types and sub-types | 14 |
| C. Neuronal ACh (nACh) receptors | 15 |
| 1. Distribution of nACh receptors | 16 |
| a. Peripheral tissues | 16 |
| b. Central nervous system | 17 |
| 2. Importance of α 7 and α 4 β 2 nACh receptors in the brain | 18 |
| a. Schizophrenia | 19 |
| b. Alzheimer's disease (AD) | 20 |
| c. Autism | 21 |
| d. Attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) | 22 |
| e. Nicotine addiction | 23 |
| f. Depression | 24 |
| g. Parkinson's disease | 26 |
| 3. Agents of nACh and other receptors in disease state | 27 |
| 4. Desensitization of nAChRs | 30 |
| D. Allosterism | 33 |
| 1. Theory | 33 |
| 2. Advantage of allosteric modulators over traditional orthosteric ligands | 37 |
| 3. Allosteric modulators of nACh receptors | |
| 4. des-Formylflustrabromine | 42 |
| III. Specific aims | 44 |
| IV. Results and discussion of deconstruction of dFBr | 53 |

| A. Drug-like properties of dFBr | 53 |
|--|--------------------|
| B. Chemistry | 55 |
| C. Pharmacology | 67 |
| D. Discussion | 69 |
| V. Results and discussion of elaboration of dFBr | 75 |
| A. Chemistry | 75 |
| B. Pharmacology | 94 |
| C. Discussion | 95 |
| D. Antagonism of ACh response | 103 |
| VI. Conclusion | 108 |
| VII. Experimental | 113 |
| A. Synthesis | 113 |
| <i>N</i> -Methyl-6-bromotryptamine (35) | 114 |
| <i>N</i> -Methyl-6-Bromo-2- <i>sec</i> -butyltryptamine Hydrogen Oxalate (37) | 114 |
| <i>N</i> -Methyl-6-Bromo-2- <i>tert</i> -butyltryptamine Hydrochloride (39) | 115 |
| 6-Bromo-2-(1,1-dimethylallyl)tryptamine Hydrochloride (40) | 116 |
| <i>N</i> -Methyl-2- <i>tert</i> -butyltryptamine Hydrogen Oxalate (43) | 116 |
| 3-[(<i>E</i>)-2-Nitroethenyl]-6-bromo-1 <i>H</i> -indole (47) | 117 |
| 6-Bromotryptamine (48) | 117 |
| <i>tert</i> -Butyl-2-(6-bromo-1 <i>H</i> -indol-3-yl)ethylcarbamate (49) | 118 |
| tert-Butyl-2-(6-bromo-2-(1,1-dimethylallyl)-1H-indol-3-yl)ethylcarbamate | e (50)119 |
| 2,2-Dimethyl- <i>N</i> -(<i>o</i> -tolyl)propionamide (52) | 119 |
| 2- <i>tert</i> -Butyl-1 <i>H</i> -indole (55) | |

| <i>N</i> -methyl-2- <i>tert</i> -butyl-1 <i>H</i> -indol-3-glyoxylamide (58) | 120 |
|--|------|
| <i>tert</i> -Butyl-2-(6-bromo-1 <i>H</i> -indol-3-yl)ethyl- <i>N</i> -methylcarbamate (61) | 121 |
| 1-(3-Bromophenyl)-2-(3-methylpentan-2-ylidene)hydrazine (64) | 121 |
| 6-Bromo-2- <i>tert</i> -butyl-1 <i>H</i> -indole (65) | 122 |
| <i>N</i> -Methyl-6-bromo-2- <i>sec</i> -butyl-1 <i>H</i> -indol-3-gloxylamide (66) | 122 |
| 4-Bromo-2-nitrotoluene (68) | 123 |
| (E/Z)-1-(4-Bromo-2-nitrostyryl)pyrrolidine (69) | 124 |
| 6-Bromo-2- <i>tert</i> -butyl-1 <i>H</i> -indole (71) | 124 |
| <i>N</i> -Methyl-6-bromo-2- <i>tert</i> -butyl-1 <i>H</i> -indol-3-glyoxylamide (72) | 125 |
| 1-(2-Amino-4-bromophenyl)-2-chloroethanone (75) | 125 |
| 4-Bromo-2-nitroaniline (77) | 126 |
| 4-Bromo-2-nitroiodobenzene (78) | 126 |
| 5-Bromo-2-iodoaniline (79) | 127 |
| 5-Bromo-2-(3,3-dimethylbut-1-yn-1-yl)aniline (80) | 128 |
| 6-Bromo-2- <i>sec</i> -butyl-1 <i>H</i> -indol-3-gloxylchloride (81) | 128 |
| 2-(1,1-Dimethylallyl)tryptamine Hydrochloride (82) | 129 |
| <i>tert</i> -Butyl-2-(1 <i>H</i> -indol-3-yl)ethylcarbamate (84) | 129 |
| <i>tert</i> -Butyl-2-(2-(1,1-dimethylallyl)-1 <i>H</i> -indol-3-yl)ethylcarbamate (85) | 130 |
| <i>N</i> , <i>N</i> -Dimethyl-6-bromo-2-(1,1-dimethylallyl)tryptamine Hydrochloride (86) | 131 |
| <i>N</i> , <i>N</i> , <i>N</i> -Trimethyl-6-bromo-2-(1,1-dimethylallyl)tryptamine Methiodide (87) | 131 |
| <i>N-iso</i> -Propyl-6-bromo-2-(1,1-dimethylallyl)tryptamine Hydrochloride (91) | 131 |
| <i>N</i> -Benzyl-6-bromo-2-(1,1-dimethylallyl)tryptamine Hydrogen Oxalate (92) | 132 |
| <i>N</i> -Methyl-6-bromo-1-methyl-2-(1,1-dimethylallyl)tryptamine Hydrochloride (93 |)133 |

| N-Methyl-6-bromo-1-benzyl-2-(1,1-dimethylallyl)tryptamine Hydrogen Oxalate |
|--|
| (94) |
| <i>N</i> , <i>N</i> -Dimethyl-6-bromo-2-(1,1-dimethylallyl)tryptamine (101)134 |
| N-Methyl-3-(2-(1,1-dimethylallyl)-1H-indol-3-yl)propanamine Hydrogen Oxalate |
| (103) |
| 1-(6-Bromo-2-(1,1-dimethylallyl)-1H-indol-3-yl)propan-2-amine Hydrochloride |
| (104) |
| <i>N</i> -Methyl-3-(1 <i>H</i> -indol-3-yl)propanamide (106)135 |
| <i>N</i> -Methyl-(1 <i>H</i> -indol-3-yl)propanamine (107)136 |
| <i>tert</i> -Butyl-3-(1 <i>H</i> -indol-3-yl)propyl- <i>N</i> -methylcarbamate (108)136 |
| <i>tert</i> -Butyl-3-(2-(1,1-dimethylallyl)-1 <i>H</i> -indol-3-yl)propyl- <i>N</i> -methylcarbamate (109)137 |
| 3-[(E)-2-Nitroprop-1-en-1-yl]-6-bromo-1 <i>H</i> -indole (111)138 |
| 1-(6-Bromo-1 <i>H</i> -indol-3-yl)propan-2-amine (112)138 |
| <i>tert</i> -Butyl-1-(6-bromo-1 <i>H</i> -indol-3-yl)propyl-2-carbamate (113)139 |
| tert-Butyl-1-(6-bromo-2-(1,1-dimethylallyl)-1H-indol-3-yl)propyl-2-carbamate |
| (114) |
| <i>N-iso</i> -Propyl-6-bromo-1 <i>H</i> -indol-3-glyoxylamide (115)140 |
| <i>N</i> -Benzyl-6-bromo-1 <i>H</i> -indol-3-glyoxylamide (116)141 |
| <i>N-iso</i> -Propyl-6-bromotryptamine (117)141 |
| <i>N</i> -Benzyl-6-bromotryptamine (118)142 |
| <i>tert</i> -Butyl-2-(6-bromo-1 <i>H</i> -indol-3-yl)ethyl- <i>N</i> - <i>iso</i> -propylcarbamate (119)142 |
| <i>tert</i> -Butyl-2-(6-bromo-1 <i>H</i> -indol-3-yl)ethyl- <i>N</i> -benzylcarbamate (120)143 |

| tert-Butyl-2-(6-bromo-2-(1,1-dimethylallyl)-1H-indol-3-yl)ethyl-N-iso-propyl |
|--|
| carbamate (121) |
| tert-Butyl-2-(6-bromo-2-(1,1-dimethylallyl)-1H-indol-3-yl)ethyl-N-benzylcarbamate |
| (122) |
| <i>N</i> -Methyl-6-bromo-1 <i>H</i> -indol-3-glyoxylamide (123)145 |
| tert-Butyl-2-(6-bromo-2-(1,1-dimethylallyl)-1H-indol-3-yl)ethyl-N-methylcarbamate |
| (124) |
| tert-Butyl-2-(6-bromo-1-methyl-2-(1,1-dimethylallyl)-indol-3-yl)ethyl-N-methyl |
| carbamate (125)146 |
| tert-Butyl-2-(6-bromo-1-benzyl-2-(1,1-dimethylallyl)-indol-3-yl)ethyl-N-methyl |
| carbamate (126)147 |
| <i>N</i> , <i>N</i> -Dimethyl-5-bromo-2-(1,1-dimethylallyl)isotryptamine Hydrogen Oxalate (127).148 |
| 3,5-Dibromo-1 <i>H</i> -indole (130)149 |
| 5-Bromo-2-(1,1-dimethylallyl)-1 <i>H</i> -indole (131)149 |
| 2-Butyl-2-methylbut-3-enoic acid (133) |
| 2-Butyl-2-methylbut-3-enoyl chloride (134)150 |
| <i>N</i> -(4-Bromo-2-nitrophenyl)-2,2-dimethylbut-3-enamide (135)151 |
| 5-Bromo-2-(1,1-dimethtylallyl)-benzo[d]imidazole (136)151 |
| 2-(1,1-Dimethylallyl)gramine Hydrogen Oxalate (137)152 |
| 6-Bromo-2-propylgramine Hydrogen Oxalate (138)153 |
| 3-Bromo-1 <i>H</i> -indole (140) |
| 2-(1,1-Dimethylallyl)-1 <i>H</i> -indole (141)154 |
| 5-Bromo-2-(1-pentynyl)aniline (142) |

| 6-Bromo-2-propyl-1 <i>H</i> -indole (143) | 155 |
|--|---------|
| <i>N</i> -Methyl-5,6-Dibromo-2-(1,1-dimethylallyl)tryptamine Hydrochloride (144) | 156 |
| Methyl-5,6-dibromo-1 <i>H</i> -indole-3-carboxylate (146) | 156 |
| 5,6-Dibromo-1 <i>H</i> -indole (147) | 157 |
| <i>N</i> -Methyl-5,6-dibromo-1 <i>H</i> -indol-3-glyoxylamide (148) | 157 |
| <i>N</i> -Methyl-5,6-Dibromotryptamine (149) | 158 |
| <i>tert</i> -Butyl-2-(5,6-dibromo-1 <i>H</i> -indol-3-yl)ethyl- <i>N</i> -methylcarbamate (150) | 158 |
| tert-Butyl-2-(5,6-dibromo-2-(1,1-dimethylallyl)-1H-indol-3-yl)ethyl-N-methylca | rbamate |
| (151) | 159 |
| B. Electrophysiology | 160 |
| Bibliography | 162 |
| Vita | 190 |

List of Tables

| Table 1: List of agents implicated in various disease state 27 |
|---|
| Table 2: A list of agents and their selectivity profile at various nACh receptor subtypes40 |
| Table 3: Physicochemical properties of dFBr (32) versus ideal values |
| Table 4: Effect of dFBr (32) and its deconstructed analogs on the action (potentiation or |
| antagonism) of ACh action at the human $\alpha 4\beta 2$ nACh receptors |
| Table 5: Effect of dFBr (32) and its elaborated analogs on the action (potentiation or antagonism) |
| of ACh action at the human $\alpha 4\beta 2$ nACh receptors94 |
| Table 6: Effect of dFBr (32) and its analogs on inhibition of ACh action at the human $\alpha 4\beta 2$ |
| nACh receptors |
| Table 7: Summary of structural requirements for potentiation/inhibition of the ACh response at |
| the $\alpha 4\beta 2$ nACh receptors |

List of Figures

| Figure 1. Synthesis and metabolism of ACh |
|---|
| Figure 2. Classification of the ACh receptors |
| Figure 3. Schematic representation of a subunit of the nicotinic receptor13 |
| Figure 4. Regional distribution of various receptor subtypes in a rodent CNS |
| Figure 5. Multiple conformation states of ACh receptors and their transition from one state to the |
| other in the presence of ACh |
| Figure 6. Schematic representation of positive allosteric modulation where the pentameric nACh |
| receptor is depicted in blue |
| Figure 7. Allosteric model of the various transition states of the nACh receptors. R= Receptor in |
| the open state, AR= 1 molecule of ACh bound to the receptor, $A_2R=2$ molecules of ACh bound |
| to the receptor, $*=$ open state of the receptor, $_{D}=$ desensitized state of the receptor |
| Figure 8. Potentiation and response curve for dFBr at $\alpha 4\beta 2$ nACh receptors. (A) A typical trace |
| of the potentiation of the ACh-evoked response for dFBr (32) from a single oocyte expressing |
| human $\alpha 4\beta 2$ nACh receptors. (B) A biphasic dose-response curve for dFBr (32) co-applied with |
| 100 μM ACh on human α4β2 nACh receptors |
| Figure 9. Potentiation and response curve for dFBr at α 7 nACh receptors. (A) A typical trace of |
| potentiation of the ACh-evoked response by dFBr (32) from a single oocyte expressing human |

| α 7 nACh receptors. (B) An inhibitory dose-response curve for dFBr (32) co-applied with 100 |
|--|
| μ M ACh on human α 7 nACh receptors |
| Figure 10. Deconstructed analogs of dFBr (32) proposed for synthesis and evaluation. For |
| example, compound 33 can provide information on the necessity of the 6-bromo group of 32, |
| whereas 34 can provide information on the need of unsaturation. Each structure can provide |
| important information on the contribution of specific substituents |
| Figure 11. Deconstructed analogs of 6-desbromo dFBr (33) proposed for synthesis and |
| evaluation |
| Figure 12. Deconstruction of dFBr (32) at the 6-bromo and <i>N</i> -methyl substituents |
| Figure 13. Initial deconstruction of dFBr (32). Each arrow symbolizes a single structural change. |
| Data are from Table 4. Certain analogs did not potentiate the effect of ACh at $\alpha 4\beta 2$ nACh |
| receptors at their highest concentration evaluated (i.e., 100 µM)71 |
| Figure 14. Deconstruction of dFBr (32) revealing the structural requirement for action. a) A |
| secondary amine is optimal, b) a 6-bromo substituent is required for potency but not action, and |
| c) a 2-position quaternary carbon is required for activity as a PAM at $\alpha 4\beta 2$ nACh receptors72 |
| Figure 15. Deconstruction of 33 to determine the role of the 2-position substituent on the PAM |
| action of ACh at nACh receptors. Data are from Table 4 74 |
| Figure 16. Elaborated analogs of dFBr (32) proposed for the synthesis and evaluation. For |
| example compound 86, 87, 91 and 92 can provide information on the steric bulk tolerated on the |
| amine, whereas compound 88 and 89 can provide information on the chain length while |
| compound 90 can provide information about the α -substitution on the tryptamine side chain |
| required for PAM action at the $\alpha 4\beta 2$ nACh receptors |

| Figure 17. Elaborated analogs of dFBr (32) proposed for the synthesis and evaluation. For |
|--|
| example compounds 93-96 can provide information on the importance of indolic N-H whereas |
| compound 98 can provide information on the position of the bromo substituent and its |
| importance towards the activity. Compounds 99 and 100 on the other hand can provide |
| information about the specific role of the 6-bromo substituent required for PAM action at the |
| α4β2 nACh receptors |
| Figure 18. Biphasic dose-response curve for compound 86 co-applied with 100 μ M ACh on |
| human α4β2 nACh receptors95 |
| Figure 19. Initial elaboration of dFBr (32). Data are from Table 5. Certain analogs did not |
| potentiate the effect of ACh at nACh receptors, but blocked the effect of ACh96 |
| Figure 20. Comparison of the two series of analogs; dFBr (32) and 102. Data for 32, 33, and 38 |
| are from Table 4 ; data for 102 , 137 , 138 are from Table 5 98 |
| Figure 21. Elaborated analogs of dFBr (32). Data are from Table 5. Certain analogs did not |
| potentiate the effect of ACh at ACh receptors101 |
| Figure 22. Analogs of dFBr (32) comparing the inhibition of the ACh-induced response. Each |
| arrow symbolizes a structural change. Data are from Table 4 and 5 104 |
| Figure 23. SAR for dFBr (32) at $\alpha 4\beta 2$ nACh receptors |
| Figure 24. Preliminary SAR for antagonist action of dFBr (32) analogs at $\alpha 4\beta 2$ nACh |
| receptors110 |
| Figure 25. Minimal structural features required for the PAM action of dFBr (32). This simplified |
| structure might represent a pharmacophore for such action111 |

List of Schemes

| Scheme 1. Synthesis of compound 40 | 56 |
|--|---------------------|
| Scheme 2. Synthesis of compound 43-45 | 58 |
| Scheme 3. Attempted to achieve synthesis of 37 by alkylation of the <i>N</i> -protected | |
| tryptamine 61 | 59 |
| Scheme 4. Fischer indole syntheses for the attempted synthesis of compound 37 | 60 |
| Scheme 5. Modified Leimgruber-Batcho indole syntheses for the attempted preparati | ion of 39 61 |
| Scheme 6. Direct bromination route for the attempted synthesis of 39 | 62 |
| Scheme 7. Grignard reagent route for attempted synthesis of 39 | 63 |
| Scheme 8. Synthesis of compound 37 and 39 | 65 |
| Scheme 9. Synthesis of compound 82 | 67 |
| Scheme 10. Synthesis of compound 86 and 87 | 78 |
| Scheme 11. Synthesis of compound 103 | 81 |
| Scheme 12. Synthesis of compound 104 | 82 |
| Scheme 13. Synthesis of compound 91 and 94 | 84 |
| Scheme 14. Synthesis of compound 93 and 94 | 86 |
| Scheme 15. Synthesis of compound 127 | |
| Scheme 16. Attempted synthesis of compound 130 | 89 |
| Scheme 17. Synthesis of compound 137 | 90 |
| Scheme 18. Synthesis of compound 138 | 91 |

List of Abbreviations

| % | Percentage |
|----------------------------|---|
| δ | Parts per million |
| α4β2 | Alpha4beta2 |
| μg | Microgram(s) |
| μL | Microliter(s) |
| [³ H]-nicotine | Tritiated nicotine |
| °C | Celsius |
| 5-HT ₃ | Serotonin type 3 |
| 9-BBN | Borabicyclo(3.3.1)nonane |
| Αβ | Beta amyloid |
| $A\beta_{1-42}$ | Beta amyloid with 42 amino acids |
| A-85380 | (S-)3-(2-Azetidinylmethoxy)pyridine |
| A-998679 | 3-(5-Pyridin-3-yl-1,2,4-oxadiazol-3-yl)benzonitrile |
| ABT-089 | (S)-2-Methyl-3-(2-pyrrolidinylmethoxy)pyridine |
| ABT-107 | (R)-5-(6-(-1-Azabicyclo[2,2,2]oct-3-yloxy)pyridazin-3-yl)-1H- |
| | indole |
| ABT-418 | (<i>R</i>)-3-Methyl-4-(1-methylpyrrolidin-2-yl)-1,2-oxazole |
| Acetyl-CoA | Acetyl co-enzyme A |
| ACh | Acetylcholine |
| AChE | Acetylcholine esterase |
| AChRs | Nicotinic acetylcholine receptors |
| AD | Alzheimer's disease |
| ADHD | Attention deficit hyperactivity disorder |
| ADME | Adsorption distribution metabolism and elimination |
| AlCl ₃ | Aluminum chloride |
| Anal. Calcd | Analysis calculated |
| Ar | Aromatic |
| ATP | Adenosine triphosphate |
| AZD-1446 | 1-(5-Chloro-2-furoyl)hexahydropyrrolo[3,4-c]pyrrole |
| BCl ₃ | Boron trichloride |
| $BF_3 \cdot Et_2O$ | Borontritluoride etharate |
| $BH_3 \cdot S(CH_3)_2$ | Borane dimethylsulphide complex |
| Boc | <i>tert</i> -Butylcarbamate |
| br s | Broad singlet |
| Br_{2} | Liquid bromine |
| | Calcium |
| | Deutarated chloroform |
| CH_2Cl_2 | Dichloromethane |

| CH ₃ CN | Acetonitrile |
|--|--|
| CH ₃ SO ₃ H | Methanesufonic acid |
| ClogP | Calculated logP |
| CNS | Central nervous system |
| CO_2 | Carbon dioxide |
| CuBr | Copper bromide |
| CuI | Copper iodide |
| Cvs | Cysteine |
| d | Doublet |
| DCC | N.N'-Dicyclohexylcarbodiimide |
| dd | Doublet of doublet |
| decomp | Decomposition |
| dFBr | des-Formylflustrabromine |
| DIPEA | Di- <i>iso</i> -propylethylamine |
| DMAP | 4-(Dimethylamino)pyridine |
| DMF | <i>N N</i> -Dimethylformamide |
| DMF DMA | N N-Dimethylformamide dimethyl acetal |
| DMPP | Dimethyl-4-phenylniperazinium |
| DMSO | Dimethyl sulfoxide |
| DMSO-d6 | Deutarated dimethylslufoxide |
| DMXB-A/GTS-21 | 3-(2 4-Dimethoxybenzylidene) anabaseine |
| FC-0 | Effective concentration to achieve 50% response |
| Et ₅₀ | Diethyl ether |
| Et ₂ O Et ₂ N | Triethylamine |
| E_{131N} | Ethyl acotata |
| | Ethanol |
| EDA | Ecod and Drug administration |
| FDA Eo | Food and Drug administration |
| re | |
| g CADA | |
| GABA _A | γ -Amino butyric acid receptors A |
| GABA _C | γ -Amino butyric acid receptors C |
| gl. HOAc | Glacial acetic acid |
| GluR | Glutamate receptor |
| GlyRs | Glycine receptors |
| GPCRs | G protein-coupled receptors |
| h | Hour |
| H ₂ O | Water |
| H_2O_2 | Hydrogen peroxide |
| H_2SO_4 | Sulfuric acid |
| HBr | Hydrogen bromide |
| НСНО | Formaldehyde |
| HCl | Hydrochloride |
| HEPES | 4-(2-hydroxyethyl)-1-perazineethanesulfonic acid |
| HPLC | High performance liquid chromatography |
| Hz | Hertz |

| I_2 | Molecular iodine |
|-----------------------|--|
| IC ₅₀ | Inhibition concentration to achieve 50% inhibition |
| <i>i</i> -PrOH | <i>iso</i> -Propanol |
| IR | Infrared spectroscopy |
| IUPHAR | International union of pharmacology |
| J | Coupling constant |
| \mathbf{K}^+ | Potassium |
| KCl | Potassium chloride |
| K_i | Binding affinity |
| KI | Potassium iodide |
| КОН | Potassium hydroxide |
| K <i>t</i> BuO | Potassium tert-butoxide |
| LDE | Di-iso-proylethyllithium |
| L-DOPA | (L)-3,4-Dihydroxyphenylalanine |
| LGICs | Ligand-gated ion channels |
| LiAlH ₄ | Lithium aluminum hydride |
| lit | Literature |
| LY-2087101 | [2-[(4-Fluorophenyl)amino]-4-methyl-5-thiazolyl] thiophen-3- |
| | yl-methanone |
| M | Molar |
| m | Multiplet |
| MΩ | Mega ohms |
| M+1 | Molecular base peak |
| MeOH | Methanol |
| MgCl ₂ | Magnesium chloride |
| $MgSO_4$ | Magnesium sulphate |
| MHz | Mega hertz |
| min | Minutes |
| mL | Milliliters |
| mM/mmol | Millimolar |
| mol | Molar |
| mp | Melting point |
| MS | Mass spectroscopy |
| MIBE | Methyl <i>tert</i> -butyl ether |
| MW | Microwave |
| n N | Hill co-efficient |
| | Nitrogen Nucleus commbers |
| NA Na ⁺ | Inucleus accumbens |
| Na S O | Sodium thiogulabete |
| $Na_2S_2O_3$ | Sodium sulphate |
| NaBH | Sodium horobydrida |
| n A Ch | Neuronal acetylcholine |
| NaCl | Sodium chlorida |
| NaH | Sodium hydride |
| 11411 | Sourum nyunue |

| NaHCO ₃ | Sodium hydrogen carbonate |
|--------------------|---|
| NAMs | Negative allosteric modulators |
| NaNO ₂ | Sodium nitrite |
| NaOH | Sodium hydroxide |
| NDP | Nigrostriatal dopaminergic pathway |
| ng | Nanogram |
| NH ₄ Cl | Ammonium chloride |
| NH ₄ OH | Ammonium hydroxide |
| NHRs | Nuclear hormone receptors |
| nM | Nanomolar |
| NMR | Nuclear magnetic resonance |
| NS-1738 | <i>N</i> -(5-Chloro-2-hydroxyphenyl)- <i>N</i> -[2-chloro-5- |
| | trifluoromethylphenyl]urea |
| P_2O_5 | Phosphorous pentoxide |
| P2X | Purine receptors |
| PAM | Positive allosteric modulator |
| PD | Parkinson's disease |
| $PdCl_2(PPh_3)_2$ | Bis(triphenylphosphine)palladium(II) dichloride |
| pМ | Pico molar |
| PNS | Peripheral nervous system |
| PNU-120596 | 5-Chloro-2,4-dimethoxyphenyl)-N'-(5-methylisoxazol-3-yl) urea |
| PTMA | Phenyltrimethylammonium |
| R_f | Retardation factor |
| S | Singlet |
| SAR | Structure-activity relationships |
| SEM | Standard error of mean |
| sep | Septet |
| SPR | Structure-property relationship |
| t | Triplet |
| TBAB | Tetrabutylammoniumbromide |
| <i>t</i> -BuONO | <i>tert</i> -Butyl nitrite |
| TC-2429 | 2-(-3-Pyridinyl)azabicyclo[2,2,2]octane |
| TC-5619 | (2S, 3S)-N-[2-(Pyridin-3-ylmethyl)-1-azabicyclo[2.2.2]oct-3- |
| | yl]-1-benzofuran-2-carboxamide |
| TFA | Trifluoro acetic acid |
| THF | Tetrahydrofuran |
| TLC | Thin layered chromatography |
| TMA | Tetramethylammonium |
| TMS | Tetramethylsilane |
| TQS | 3a,4,5,9b-Tetrahydro-4-(1-naphthalenyl)-3H- |
| | cyclopentan[c]quinoline-8-sulfonamide |
| Tyr | Tyrosine |
| V/V | Volume by volume |
| VGICs | Voltage-gated ion channels |
| VTA | Ventral tegmental area |

| Watts |
|---------------|
| Zinc dust |
| Zinc |
| Zinc bromide |
| Zinc chloride |
| |

Abstract

POSITIVE ALLOSTERIC MODULATORS OF ALPHA4 BETA2 NEURONAL NICOTINIC ACETYLCHOLINE RECEPTORS: SYNTHESIS AND IN VITRO STUDIES

By Atul D Jain, Ph.D.

A dissertation submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy at Virginia Commonwealth University.

Virginia Commonwealth University, 2013.

Major Director: Dr. Richard A. Glennon, Professor and Chairman, Department of Medicinal Chemistry

des-Formylflustrabromine (dFBr), isolated from the marine organism *Flustra foliacea*, is the first selective, positive allosteric modulator (PAM) of $\alpha 4\beta 2$ nicotinic acetylcholine receptors that potentiates the action of the neurotransmitter acetylcholine (ACh). Most agonists for this receptor population are not selective and can activate other nACh receptors. A selective PAM, which activates $\alpha 4\beta 2$ nACh receptors only in the presence of ACh, might find application in the

treatment of of various neurological diseases such as Alzheimer's disease or autism. dFBr was examined and found to produce a biphasic dose-response curve over a wide concentration range (i.e., potentiation at low concentration, but inhibition of the ACh-induced response at high concentrations). Our goal was to examine various structural features of dFBr required for potentiation; a secondary goal was to examine the same for inhibition. To understand the structural requirements of dFBr, a systematic 'deconstruction-reconstruction-elaboration' approach was employed to determine the contribution of various structrual components of dFBr to its activity at $\alpha 4\beta 2$ nACh receptors. Novel compounds were synthesized and characterized. Human $\alpha 4\beta 2$ nACh receptors were expressed in *Xenopus* oocytes and the actions of dFBr and its analogs were measured using a two-electrode voltage clamp technique. Dose-response curves were obtained for the compounds in the absence and presence of 100 µM ACh. Structural features of dFBr optimal and/or required for PAM action at $\alpha 4\beta 2$ nACh receptors were identified. A novel reconstructed analog with all the essential features for PAM action was synthesized and submitted for biological testing. Elaborated analogs of dFBr further helped in identification of various structural features important for PAM action and the inhibition of action of ACh. The 'deconstruction-reconstructio-elaboration' approach identified important structural features of dFBr that modify its actions as a PAM or an antagonist (NAM? or channel blocker?) at $\alpha 4\beta 2$ nACh receptors. This information should be useful for the subsequent design of novel analogs to evaluate their potential for the treatment of neurological disorders associated with ACh.

1. Introduction

Homeostasis is essential to the day-to-day biological functions of all living organisms. For example simple ions (e.g., Na⁺, K⁺, Ca²⁺, Cl⁻) play a vital role in the regulation of water inside and outside a cell. The phenomenon of transfer of ions across the cell membrane occurs through ion channels. The concept of ion channels evolved because of the discovery of two natural phenomena: the discovery of the *Torpedo* fish and its electrofiring capabilities, and the discovery of α -bungarotoxin, a venom (found in the Taiwanese krait snake).¹ These two spectacular discoveries were the events that attracted the attention of the scientific community to ion channel research. Ion channels are essential for the survival of all organisms including mammals. Malfunction occurs when the normal flow of ions is disrupted which can directly affect the reaction time of the organism to its environment.

Nicotinic acetylcholine receptors are the oldest known ion channels and have been a model for the study of other ligand-gated ion channels.² The nicotinic acetylcholine receptors are pentameric in nature with varying subunits (α 1- α 10, β 1- β 4, γ , δ and ε) located both in the central nervous system and the peripheral nervous system.³ The neuronal acetylcholine (nACh) receptors are found to play a modulatory role in the brain where α 4 β 2 and α 7 nACh receptors predominate, and have been implicated in various neurological disorders.⁴ On binding of the neurotransmitter acetylcholine to the extracellular surface of the ion channel a conformational change in the receptor protein occurs and enables the opening of the channel pore through which

ions pass.² The long exposure of the neurotransmitter or agonist causes desensitization of the nACh receptor.⁵ The desensitized receptor is the state where the affinity of the neurotransmitter is high but the channels are closed. Problems of desensitization of the receptors and the non-selectivity of various agents across various subtypes of the nACh receptors still pose a considerable challenge to develop agents that can modulate ACh action.⁶

Allosteric agents are compounds that bind to the protein/receptor and stabilize the protein in a given conformation. Monod, Wyman and Changeux proposed the allosteric model in 1965 and the concept has been widely investigated since then.⁷ Allosteric molecules can be positive allosteric modulators (PAMs) or negative allosteric modulators (NAMs) depending on whether they activate or inhibit neurotransmitter action.⁸

*des*Formlyflustrabromine (dFBr) was one of 22 alkaloids isolated from the marine bryozoan *Flustra foliacea* and was found to be a selective PAM at the $\alpha 4\beta 2$ nACh receptors; that is, it was inactive alone, but potentiated the effect of ACh.⁹ Thus, dFBr serves as a unique lead for structure-activity relationship studies to understand what structural features are important for its potentiation and/or inhibition of ACh action.

The present investigation is aimed at understanding why dFBr is a PAM of ACh action at $\alpha 4\beta 2$ nACh receptors.

II. Background

A. RECEPTORS

1. Definition

John Newport Langley, a Cambridge physiologist, was a pioneer in the field of 'receptor research' and was the first to conceptualize the idea of receptors in 1905.¹⁰ He defined the 'receptor' (a receptive substance) as a site where an agonist or antagonist competes with the vehicle for the transmission of a stimulus (transduction) which brings about a physiologic response.¹⁰ Until the 1960s the concept of drug-receptor interactions was a hypothetical scenario. The 1965 development of the receptor-subtype specific β -adrenergic receptor antagonist propranolol established the acceptance of receptors in the pharmacological community.¹¹

2. General classification

Now, according to the International Union of Pharmacology (IUPHAR) Committee on Receptor Nomenclature and Drug Classification, a receptor is defined as "a cellular macromolecule, or an assembly of macromolecules, that is concerned directly and specifically in chemical signaling between and within cells".¹² A change in cell function is initiated upon interaction of a hormone, neurotransmitter, drug, or intracellular messenger, with its receptor(s).¹²

The IUPHAR database classifies receptors as:

- 1. G protein-coupled receptors (GPCRs)
- 2. Ligand-gated ion channels (LGICs)
- 3. Voltage-gated ion channels (VGICs)
- 4. Nuclear hormone receptors (NHRs)
- 5. Enzymes

3. Classification of ligand-gated ion channels

The concept of ion channels can be dated back to the late 1800s and the early 1900s. Prof. Langley first observed a twitch in the muscle of a dead frog on the application of nicotine and referred to this as fibrillar twitching.¹³ Hodgkin and Huxley,^{14,15} independently, were the first to study nerve impulses on the neuron of the giant squid (*Loligo*) which is approximately 100 to 1000 times larger than the human neuron in diameter. Later, they also showed that nerve

conductance depends on specific ions outside and inside the nerve cell. They showed that during nerve impulse, or the spike phase, Na⁺ ion inflow increases the positive potential in the cell and causes a response while the falling phase involves K⁺ ions outflow.¹⁵ LGICs are transmembrane proteins that carry out a physiological response by an ion channel which opens on binding of a ligand.¹⁶ These are termed 'ionotropic' which refers to the ion-channel nature of the receptors. The whole process of channel opening and ion-flow is a display of speed and size. The channel is open for a few milliseconds in which thousands of ions flow through. The channel is a dynamic pore that allows passage of ions. The pore can be a few atoms thick at its narrowest point but still functions as a speedway for ions to go through.¹⁷ LGICs mediate action at the synapse and in a matter of microseconds the neurotransmitter released from the nerve terminal interacts with the target protein, and binds and triggers a physiologic response. LGIC receptors are comprised of the following superfamilies:^{17,18}

- 1. The superfamily that resembles the nicotinic receptors.
- 2. The ionotropic glutamate receptor superfamily (GluR).
- 3. Adenosine triphosphate (ATP)-gated purine receptors (P2X).

The classification of LGIC receptor superfamilies is based on molecular architecture, functional behavior, and sequence homology.¹⁹ All of the LGIC receptors share common features, such as their location in the cell membrane, and the three key structural domains that each of them possesses.¹⁹ The superfamily that resembles the nicotinic receptor is distinct because of the presence of a cysteine-loop (Cys-loop) in the extracellular domain of the receptor conserved across all the receptor populations and includes the:

- 1. Glycine receptors (GlyRs)
- 2. γ-Amino butyric acid receptors (GABA_A and GABA_C)
- 3. Serotonin type 3 receptors (5-HT₃ Rs)
- 4. Nicotinic acetylcholine receptors (AChRs)

B. ACETYLCHOLINE AND ITS RECEPTORS

1. Acetylcholine

In 1865 Oscar Liebreich (according to Gamgee) isolated and identified a mixture of chemicals from animal brain that was characterized for its elemental content and referred to it as 'protagon'.²⁰ This finding had a major impact for the next couple of decades and researchers around the world were intrigued and started to study it more closely so as to figure out more about this mystery chemical composite.²⁰ Later Liebreich^{21,22} was able to identify neurin/choline by treating the protagon with a barium hydroxide solution. The finding of Liebreich was consistent with those of Baeyer who had independently synthesized choline.²² In 1914, Ewins^{23,24} synthesized acetylcholine which was also isolated and found to be the major component in the extract of ergot fungus which produced an inhibitory effect on heart muscle and a stimulating effect on intestinal muscle; both responses were abolished by atropine.²⁴ Henry Dale²⁵ was responsible for identifying acetylcholine (ACh) in ergot fungus extract. Later, an extensive study was carried out with various ethers and ester of choline and it was found that ACh was the most

active chemical entity that produced the effect.²⁶ Thus, from this initial literature, it can be seen that ACh was studied and investigated long before it was known to be a neurotransmitter. It was only in the early 1900s that Otto Loewi identified ACh as the first neurotransmitter.²⁶ Both Henry Dale and Otto Loewi received the Nobel Prize in the field of Physiology or Medicine in 1936.^{23,25-27} Acetylcholine is, chemically, 2-acetoxy-*N*,*N*,*N*-trimethylethanamanium (**1**), which is an acetyl derivative of choline.



Acetylcholine (1)

The cholinergic system is, phylogenetically, one of the oldest nervous pathways. The neurons that synthesize, store, and release ACh as a neurotransmitter are called cholinergic neurons.²⁸

2. Biosynthesis and Metabolism of ACh

In the peripheral nervous system, ACh is involved in smooth and cardiac muscle regulation as well as skeletal muscle movement. In the central nervous system ACh is involved in chemoelectrical transduction in cholinergic synapses. ACh is synthesized (Figure 1) in the cytosol of nerve terminals and stored in synaptic vesicles prior to exocytotic release.²⁸ Choline acetyltransferase is an enzyme involved in the synthesis of ACh. Choline is taken up from the synapse by the Na⁺-dependent choline transporter.²⁸ Acetyl-CoA, which is present in the nerve terminal, along with choline, forms ACh in the presence of choline acetyltransferase. CoA is taken up in the mitochondria and is acetylated to acetyl-CoA which is available for ACh synthesis and the cycle continues.²⁹ The ACh is taken up to the synaptic vesicles by the vesicular ACh transporter, where it is stored.²⁹ Upon excitation of the neuron, vesicular fusion occurs and ACh is released into the synapse.²⁹ The concentration of ACh in the synaptic cleft rises to around 0.1 to 1 mM for less than 1 msec.²⁸ The released ACh interacts with postsynaptic cholinergic receptors and triggers the relevant physiological response. ACh is metabolized in the synaptic cleft.²⁹ Acetylcholine esterase (AChE) is the enzyme present in the synapse that metabolizes ACh to choline and acetate.²⁹ Choline is taken up by the choline transporter present at the presynaptic nerve terminal which is utilized to synthesize ACh.²⁸ Metabolism, along with reuptake of ACh by diffusion, rapidly allows normal physiological levels of around 10⁻⁹ M to be attained.^{28,29}



Figure 1. Synthesis and metabolism of ACh adapted from a review by Niewiadomska et al.³⁰

3. Classification of ACh receptors

It was in the early 1900s that physiologists were able to identify that not all responses to the ACh stimulus were identical. They then hypothesized that ACh interacts differently with the so-called muscarinic receptors on some receptors and nicotinic receptors on others.³¹ These two receptor classes were perceived to have different pharmacological properties along with different interactions with ACh and associated postsynaptic properties.³¹ The early classification of ACh receptors involved what ACh imitated, namely, the actions of muscarine and nicotine. This finding was further confirmed with the discovery of selective agents for the two subtypes of ACh receptors. These included nicotinic receptor-selective agents (e.g. tetramethylammonium (TMA), dimethyl-4-phenylpiperazinium (DMPP), phenyltrimethylammonium (PTMA), suxamethonium, and decamethonium) and muscarinic receptor-selective agents (e.g. acetyl-\beta-methylcholine, oxotremorine, pilocarpine and arecoline).³² Later, it was found that nicotinic receptors could be classified further as autonomic, which show a preferential affinity towards DMPP, and skeletal muscle, which are more responsive to PTMA. Antagonists for ACh receptors were also investigated to confirm the presence of three different receptor populations.³² Atropine selectively blocked the effect of muscarinic receptors, whereas hexamethonium and decamethonium differentiated between the autonomic and the skeletal nicotinic receptors.³² Currently, several receptor subtypes of classical ACh receptor populations have been identified.

The ACh receptors now are classified as shown in Figure 2.



Figure 2. Classification of the ACh receptors.^{33,34}

Muscarinic receptors are present in the central nervous system (CNS) and the peripheral nervous system (PNS).³³ The natural ligand that activates these receptor subtypes is muscarine (**2**) which is a plant alkaloid found in various species of mushrooms.³³ The classification of the muscarinic receptors is based on their location and their pharmacological effect.³³ All the subtypes consist of 7 transmembrane-spanning α -helices and are G-protein coupled.³³ The CNS effects associated with muscarinic receptors include motor control, temperature regulation, cardiovascular regulation, and memory.³³ Peripheral effects include smooth muscle contraction, glandular secretion, and modulation of cardiac rate and force.³³ Nicotinic receptors belong to the LGIC receptor superfamily and are ionotropic in nature.³⁴ The natural ligand that mimics ACh is nicotine (**3**) which is a plant alkaloid found in the tobacco plant,³⁴ *Nicotiana tabacum*. Nicotinic

receptors are broadly classified on the basis of their location.³⁴ Nicotinic receptors are present throughout the body and are found, for example, in the PNS, CNS, skeletal muscle, lymphocytes, and fibroblasts.³⁴ Based on their location, they are broadly classified into neuronal and skeletal subtypes.³⁴ Nicotinic receptors play a vital role in mediating excitatory neurotransmission at the neuromuscular junction, and modulation of neurotransmitter release.³⁴



Muscarine (2)

(-)Nicotine (3)

In general, nicotinic receptors (Figure **3**) are pentameric in nature consisting of 5 subunits arranged in a bundle that forms a channel in the center.³⁴ Upon activation by the neurotransmitter ACh, the channel opens to allow ions to flow through. The common feature across all nicotinic receptor subtypes is the extensive N-terminal region of around 200 amino acid residues in the extracellular region.³⁴ They are all comprised of four transmembrane domains (M1–M4), with the M2 domain lining the ion pore.³⁴ The M2 domain consists of amino acids lining the pore which is essential for ion transport.³⁴ A unique intracellular loop between the M3 and M4 subunits consists of 100-200 amino acids, and an extracellular C-terminus.³⁴ The most prominent feature of all the nicotinic receptors is a loop of 13 amino acids between two cysteine residues forming a disulfide bridge in the N-terminal domain; thus, the name cys-loop LGIC receptors.³⁴


Figure 3. Schematic representation of a subunit of the nicotinic receptor adapted from Lukas et al.³⁴

4. Nicotinic ACh receptors

Nicotinic ACh receptors were the first neurotransmitter receptors to be characterized, purified, and cloned.³⁵ Elliott³⁶ observed that a hormone present in the motor nerve ending in crossstriated muscle can activate nerve impulses in a manner comparable to adrenaline's action on non-striated muscle. Herring³⁷ was able to support Elliott's findings in the electric fish, *Torpedo mormorata*, that had a high concentrations of motor nerve endings in their electrical organs that caused an electrical firing caused by ACh due to its depolarizing action at the motor end plates.³⁸ Also, a very high concentration of AChE was observed at the site of the electrical organ implicating the presence of ACh.³⁸ It was found that the fish contain a very high concentration of ACh, around 40-100 μ g/g of fresh tissue.³⁸

a. Types and sub-types

Unwin reported the first-ever crystal structure of a nicotinic receptor in a closed conformation at 9 Å-resolution using electron microscopy of a tubular crystal from the postsynaptic membrane of *Torpedo mormorata*.³⁹ Initially, four different skeletal muscle type subunits of nicotinic receptors were identified, namely: $\alpha 1$, $\beta 1$, γ and δ based on increasing molecular weights of the various subunits.⁴⁰ The δ subunit is converted to the ε subunit from the fetal to the adult subtype.⁴⁰ Cloning and purification of various nicotinic receptors have revealed many additional subtypes.⁴⁰ Neuronal ACh receptors can consist of $\alpha 2$ - $\alpha 10$ and $\beta 2$ - $\beta 4$ subtypes with varying combinations possible between α and β subunits.⁴⁰ The α subunit consists of Cys 192 and 193, which is a characteristic and has been shown to be important for ACh binding in all α subunits, a feature not observed in the β subunit.⁴¹ Thus, the β subunit was not able to bind ACh or various agents. To date nine other α subunits have been identified; $\alpha 2$ - $\alpha 10$ along with four other β subunit; $\beta 2$ - $\beta 4$.⁴¹

C. Neuronal ACh (nACh) receptors

nACh receptors consist of various combinations of $\alpha 1$ - $\alpha 10$ and $\beta 2$ - $\beta 4$ subunits arranged in a pentameric structure (Figure 2).⁴² Functional receptors are a result of the assembly of 5-subunits around a pseudosymmetric axis.⁴² Various combinatorial associations of different α and β subunits are possible, and these form functional nACh receptor subtypes of a large variety.⁴³ It is known that the principal component of the nACh receptor is associated with the $\alpha 2$, $\alpha 3$, $\alpha 4$, $\alpha 6$, α 7, α 8 or α 9 subunits.⁴² The **principal component** consists of two adjacent Cys residues, and contributes towards the binding of ligands with three loops from discontinuous sections.^{41,44} The complementary component of the nACh receptor consists of $\beta 2$, $\beta 4$, $\beta 7$, $\beta 8$, or $\alpha 9$ subunits. The complementary component provides an additional three discontinuous loops for binding of the ligands.⁴⁴ The $\alpha 10$ subunit, although classified as an α -type subunit, can only function as a principal component at the binding site in nACh receptors in conjunction with the $\alpha 9$ subunit.⁴⁵ The stoichiometry of $(\alpha x)_2(\beta y)_3$ is, in general, seen with most of the subunits except the $\alpha 7$, $\alpha 8$, $\alpha 10$ subunits that form homopentameric functional receptors when studied by expressing the subunits in Xenopus laevis oocytes.⁴⁶ The ACh binding site, and the transmembrane (TM) spanning regions, are highly conserved across the various subtypes of nACh receptors, whereas the intra-cellular loop between M3 and M4 (Figure 3) is conserved across various species.⁴⁶ The various subunits of the nACh receptors share a very high homology (91-99%) amongst themselves.⁴⁶ Thus, a single amino acid change in the extra-cellular amino terminal (Figure 3) may affect the property of the nACh receptors.

1. Distribution of nACh receptors

Various techniques, such as in situ hybridization using a subunit mRNA probe, ligand binding studies by means of autoradiography, immunohistochemistry, immunoprecipitation, radioligand binding assays using various ligands such as nicotine, α -bungarotoxin to name a few, and nACh receptor gene knock-out studies, have been performed to map the tissue distribution of nACh receptors.⁴⁷

a. Peripheral Tissues

It is accepted that nACh receptors are located in the ganglionic synapse of the PNS along with broader locations in peripheral tissues.⁴² The α 3, α 5, α 7, β 2 and β 4 subunits are the major subunits identified in peripheral tissue.⁴⁸ Chick ganglia and cromaffin cells have α 3-, α 7-, and β 4-containing subtypes of nACh receptors.^{48,49} Developing muscles show the presence of the α 7- containing subtype.⁵⁰ Various subunits, such as α 3, α 5, α 7, β 2 and β 4, are expressed in keratinocytes,⁵¹ bronchial epithelial cells,⁵² and arterial endothelium.⁴³ Nicotinic receptors have also been found on lymphocytes and polymorphonuclear cells of human blood, and very little is known about their function.⁵³ Functional nACh receptors containing α 3, α 5, β 2 and β 4 subunits are found in endothelial cells lining blood vessels and are quite similar in their channel-open time and, in general, functioning, found in the CNS.⁴³ α 6-Containing nACh receptors are present in the optic pathway which oligomerizes with β 4, β 2, α 3, and β 3 subunits to form functional nACh receptors.⁵⁴

b. Central nervous system

The distribution of nACh receptors in primates is less well known when compared to rodents, which have been far more extensively studied to map the distribution of the nACh receptors and the subunits involved.⁴⁷ In rodents the most abundant subunits expressed in whole brain are the $\alpha 4$, $\alpha 7$, and $\beta 2$ subunits (Figure 4). $\beta 2$ -Containing nACh receptors are highly expressed in the caudate, putamen, and the hippocampal regions of the CNS.⁵⁵ The α 4 subunit is highly expressed in the cortex, whereas the α 7 is expressed in the lateral and medial geniculate nucleus along with the reticular thalamic nucleus.⁵⁶ In rodents, as well in humans, $\alpha 4\beta 2$ nACh receptors are the most abundant and widespread in the human brain all along the hippocampus, basal ganglia, and cerebellum.⁴⁷ Recent studies have suggested that there is an incorporation of the $\alpha 5$ or $\alpha 6$ subunit in some $\alpha 4\beta 2$ nACh receptors.⁴⁷ In rodents, $\alpha 3\beta 4$ nACh receptors are present in the autonomic ganglia, pineal gland, medial habenula, and interpeduncular nucleus,⁵⁷ to name a few. α 6-Containing nACh receptors are present in the locus coereuleus along with the dopaminergic neurons of the mesolimbic system which control dopamine release.⁵⁷ The homopentameric α 7 nACh receptors are particularly found in the hippocampus, hypothalamus, cortex, and motor nucleus of the vagus.⁴⁷ nACh receptors are anatomically and functionally located in pre- and post-synaptic sites in the CNS where they perform various functions such as, pre-synaptically, regulating the release of various neurotransmitters such as norepinephrine, glutamate and GABA, while post-synaptically, bringing about various voltage-dependent downstream responses.47,57



Figure 4. Regional distribution of various receptor subtypes in a rodent CNS adapted from Gotti et al.⁵⁷

2. Importance of α 7 and α 4 β 2 nACh receptors in the brain

The two main classes of nACh receptors widely distributed in the brain are the α 7 and the α 4 β 2 subtypes.⁴ They are thought to be involved in various pathophysiological states such as schizophrenia, Alzheimer's disease (AD), autism, nicotine addiction, attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD), depression, Parkinson's disease (PD), and pain. Also, non-neuronal nACh receptors present in certain tissues and cells are implicated in various disease states such as lung cell carcinoma, blood pressure, and, inflammatory bowel disease. Due to the vastness of the various disease states, only neuronal disorders are considered here.

a. Schizophrenia

Schizophrenia is a neuropsychiatric disorder associated or characterized by delusions, hallucinations, disorganized speech, and catatonic behavior.⁵⁸ A high prevalence of an almost 3fold increase of smoking in schizophrenic patients led to investigations of the possible involvement of nACh receptors in schizophrenia.⁵⁹ Also, the fact that neuroleptic neuronal side effects were fewer among smokers, and a negative correlation between smoking and the symptoms of schizophrenia, established definite involvement of nACh receptors in the pathophysiology of schizophrenia.^{60,61} Sensory gating, which is an involuntary process to selectively sense a stimulus, is impaired in schizophrenic patients, was restored to some extent in heavy smokers.⁶² It was found that heteromeric nACh receptors are not involved in the pathophysiology of schizophrenia.⁶³ Experimental studies were unable to show a difference between controls and schizophrenic patients in terms of [³H]-nicotine binding and the levels of α 4, α 3, and β 2 subunits in the hippocampus, thalamus, cortex and caudate putamen where most heteromeric nACh receptors are located.^{63,64} The homomeric α 7 nACh receptors, on the other hand, were significantly involved in the pathophysiology of schizophrenia, which was shown by α -bungarotoxin administration to induce sensory gating defects in mice.⁶⁵ α -Bungarotoxin was also seen to have reduced binding in temporal lobes along with α 7 nACh receptor immunoreactivity in the hippocampus,^{66,67} reticular nucleus of the thalamus and cingulated frontal cortex of the schizophrenic patients, where α 7 nACh receptors predominate.⁶³ Agents approved by the FDA for the treatment of schizophrenia include various atypical antipsychotics such as clozapine, olanzapine and others. Clozapine has been shown to improve gating deficits, and, thus, improve sensory stimulus.⁶⁸ The improvement can also be attributed to clozapineinduced increased levels of ACh in the hippocampus.⁶⁸ This observation was experimentally demonstrated when α -bungarotoxin was shown to block clozapine's effects.⁶⁹ Clozapine is not a preferred choice for the treatment of schizophrenia due to its severe toxicity profile.⁶⁸ Thus, various α 7 nACh receptor agonists have been examined as potential therapeutic candidates for the treatment of schizophrenia.⁶⁸

b. Alzheimer's disease (AD)

AD is the most common form of dementia in the elderly population.⁷⁰ It is characterized by neuronal cell loss due to the presence of β amyloid (A β_{1-42}) and progressive accumulation of neurofibrillary tangles caused by aggregates of hyperphosphorylated tau proteins in the neurons and amyloid fibers in senile plaques and in the walls of the blood vessels.⁷⁰ To test the neurotoxicity of A β , Jay et al.⁷¹ were able to demonstrate that the mortality rates of transgenic animals that overexpressed AB were doubled compared to control so as to determine that overexpression of A β is sufficient to induce neurotoxicity. This degeneration affects many types of neurons and may account for the numerous neurobiological deficiencies that patients experience with the disease onset. The most notable degeneration occurs in the hippocampus, cerebral cortex, and amygdala.⁷¹ These are the regions that play a major role in memory, cognition and behavior.⁷¹ The vast majority of the people with AD have a late-onset form of the disease in which memory loss occurs at the age of 60 years or more.⁷⁰ There are few cases where people are diagnosed with an inherited form of AD at an age as early as 30 or 40 years.⁷⁰ In AD patients it has been found that a 4 nACh subunits are decreased in the hippocampus and the cortical areas of the brain.⁷² Also since the β 2 nACh subunit, together with α 4, forms the most

abundant heteromeric nACh receptors, a relationship was established between nACh receptors and AD.⁷³ This relationship was further supported by genetic polymorphism studies of the $\alpha 4$ and $\beta 2$ subunits in AD patients.⁷³ The A β_{1-42} is seen to inhibit the $\alpha 4\beta 2$ and $\alpha 7$ nACh receptor subtypes acutely at nM and pM concentrations, respectively, which could contribute to the memory and cognitive impairments associated with AD patients.⁷⁴ It has been shown that $A\beta_{1-42}$ is a non-competitive antagonist of the $\alpha 4\beta 2$ subtype of nACh receptors. It has been experimentally shown that the β 2 subunit isn't affected, suggesting an alternate site of action for the $A\beta_{1-42}$.⁷⁵ The $A\beta_{1-42}$ inhibition is not mediated through an open channel block and pretreatment with A β_{1-42} is necessary to induce convincing inhibition.^{54,75} To combat AD there are two strategies that can help increase cholinergic transmission in the brain: firstly by increasing the amount of ACh at the synapse that could be achieved by blocking acetylcholine esterase (AChE) activity, and secondly by potentiating the action of ACh at nACh receptors. Galantamine, tacrine, memantine, donepezil and rivastigmine are commonly used AChE inhibitors for the treatment of mild to moderate cognitive symptoms of AD of which galantamine, in addition, allosterically potentiates $\alpha 4\beta 2$ and $\alpha 7$ nACh receptors present in the brain.⁷⁶ Thus, drugs selectively targeting the nACh receptor subtypes can increase cholinergic tone in the diseased brain and, hence, provide therapeutic potential for the treatment of AD.

c. Autism

Autism is characterized by impaired social and communications skills along with odd and stereotypical behavior. It is also associated with impaired planning and attention. Autism is also considered as a spectral disorder with severe developmental defects that are apparent beginning in early childhood.⁷⁷ A decreased level of α 4 mRNA in the parietal cortex and cerebellum as well as decreased levels of α 4 β 2 nACh receptors with unchanged levels of α 7 nACh subtypes can be seen in autistic patients.⁷⁸ 'Nicotinic tone' which refers to the overall activation of synapses by nicotine is considered as a factor that could be contributing towards the changes in the etiology of autism.⁷⁸ Thus agents that can restore the 'nicotinic tone' and potentiate the α 4 β 2 nACh receptors might play a crucial role in providing therapeutic options for autism. Selective α 4 β 2 nACh receptor potentiators can provide important insight into some of the cellular and molecular mechanisms that can help understand the etiology and pharmacology of autism, which is still unclear.

d. Attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD)

ADHD is a psychiatric disorder characterized by hyperactivity, inattentiveness and impulsivity symptoms.⁷⁹ Factors such as academic, employment and marital difficulties, psychiatric disorders, substance abuse, depression, anxiety and personality disorders can be a result from ADHD in adults.⁸⁰ nACh receptors have been implicated and studied for their role in the disease state; and it was found that nicotine and its analogs were efficient in treating ADHD symptoms.⁷⁹ $\alpha 4\beta 2$ nACh receptor activation by ABT-089 (**4**), a selective weak agonist, was found to alleviate the symptoms of ADHD in rodents and primates and humans by improving attention, learning and memory.⁸¹ Drugs targeting selectively at the $\alpha 4\beta 2$ nACh receptors subtypes can tackle cognitive disturbances and hence provide therapeutic potential for the treatment of ADHD.





(-)Nicotine (3)

e. Nicotine addiction

Nicotine (3), a plant alkaloid, is an active constituent of the leaves of *nicotiana tabacum* that interacts with all the nACh receptor subtypes distributed in the CNS as well as the PNS.⁸² Nicotine is the chief component of tobacco, which is widely abused by smoking and chewing of the dried and cured leaf. There is an immediate need in understanding the mechanism of nicotine addiction due to the extreme health risk associated with nicotine abuse.⁸³ Prolonged exposure to nicotine causes a gradual decrease of the ionic responses called as the high affinity, super-open desensitized state of nACh receptors that is of key importance to understanding nicotine addiction.⁸⁴ The brain areas involved in addiction are the dopaminergic neurons in the ventral tegmental area (VTA), the prefrontal cortex, the nucleus accumbens (NA), extended amygdala, hippocampus, and the habenulo-interpeduncular system.⁸² Activation followed by desensitization by nicotine causes an alteration in the synaptic response that, in turn, alters synaptic signaling.⁸² The dopaminergic system in the VTA and its projections in the NA reinforce the nicotine reward function and nicotine addiction.⁸⁵ Presynaptic $\alpha 4\beta 2$ nACh receptors on the dopaminergic neurons cause the release of dopamine which is strongly attributed to the addictive properties on nicotine.⁸⁶

f. Depression

A direct correlation exists between smoking and depression with an almost 3-fold increase in nicotine dependence in depressed patients verses nondepressed.⁸⁷ Similar ratios can be found for the population who attempts to quit nicotine consumption, where depressed individuals are 2-3 times less prone to quit versus the nondepressed. This clearly indicates a nicotine component involved in depression and mood.^{87,88} The $\alpha 4\beta 2$ nACh receptor subtype has been considered as an important therapeutic target for the potential treatment of depression due to its widespread presence in the brain.⁸⁹ $\alpha 4\beta 2$ nACh receptors have been implicated to modulate the levels of dopamine which is an important neurotransmitter involved in reward and reinforcement regulation in the brain through direct actions as well as indirectly through the excitatory glutamatergic and the inhibitory GABAergic neurons.^{1,57} The neuronal component of nACh receptors is involved in depression, and not the peripheral nACh receptor subtypes.⁹⁰ Smoking has been known to decrease depression through desensitization of nACh receptors; thus, an antagonist at nACh receptors could have antidepressant effects.^{90,91} This correlation was observed in studies involving mecanylamine (5), a non-selective, non-competitive antagonist at nACh receptors that showed antidepressant-like effects in behavioral tests performed in mice.⁹² Cytisine (6), a partial agonist at nACh receptors with low efficacy at $\alpha 4\beta 2$ nACh receptors and full agonist action at ganglionic $\alpha 3\beta 4$ ACh receptor and $\alpha 7$ nACh receptors, is used as a smoking cessation agent and was also tested for its antidepressant effect.⁹³ A partial agonist at the nACh receptor will increase the activity of the nACh receptor but limits the ability of ACh to activate receptors.⁹⁴ Hence, if high levels of ACh lead to depression-like effect, a partial agonist might provide therapeutic benefit towards depression. Studies with cytisine (6) in mice have supported this theory.⁹⁵



Mecamylamine (5)





Veranicline (7)

Sezetidine-A (8)

Cytisine (6)

Similar studies were performed with veranicline (7), which is also a partial agonist at nACh receptors with low efficacy at $\alpha 4\beta 2$ nACh receptors, with higher efficacy than cytisine and is a full agonist at ganglionic $\alpha 3\beta 4$ ACh receptors and $\alpha 7$ nACh receptors. Veranicline (7) has a similar profile as that of cytisine.⁹⁶ The $\alpha 7$ nACh receptor agonist effect in the above drugs could be a possible reason for the antidepressant like effect. This theory was eliminated when sezetidine-A (8), a selective $\alpha 4\beta 2$ nACh receptor partial agonist, was able to cause antidepressant-like effect in mice.⁹⁷⁻⁹⁹ Future directions towards depression and nicotinic receptors as potential targets requires a bidirectional approach where various factors including different receptor subtypes, different brain areas where the ligands might act, and different neurotransmitters that could be influenced by ACh along with different levels of mood, stress and depression levels in patients. Drugs selectively targeting the $\alpha 4\beta 2$ nACh receptor subtype

can potentially target the depressed state of the patient and hence provide therapeutic treatment for depression.

g. Parkinson's disease (PD)

PD is a neurodegenerative disorder marked by tremor, rigidity, postural instability and bradykinesia.¹⁰⁰ The pharmacology involves the degeneration of the nigrostriatal dopaminergic pathway (NDP) which involves neuronal loss in the CNS and PNS. Various neurotransmitters are thought to be affected, but to a lesser extent compared to the NDP. Collectively there is impairment of motor function, cognition/memory and autonomic functions.¹⁰⁰ Currently, dopamine replacement therapy is the preferred treatment for PD with L-DOPA along with other dopamine agonists. These agents are effective for the motor function deficit for the disease state, while ineffective for the nonmotor symptoms in PD.¹⁰¹ This led to other therapeutic avenues being explored and it was found that nicotine was able to protect the NDP pathway, thus encouraging researchers to explore the cholinergic systems. It has been shown that $\alpha 4\alpha 6(\beta 2)_2\beta 3$ and $\alpha 4\beta 2$ nACh receptors are predominantly present in the corpus striatum with their projections in the substantia nigra region controlling dopaminergic firing.¹⁰¹ The $\alpha 6\beta 2^*$ -containing nACh receptors are almost exclusively expressed on the presynaptic dopaminergic neuronal terminals, whereas $\alpha 4\beta 2^*$ -containing nACh receptors are widely distributed on presynaptic dopaminergic and postsynaptic glutamatergic, GABAergic and serotonergic neurons.^{44,102,103} Researchers were able to show that the $\alpha 4\beta 2^*$ and $\alpha 6\beta 2^*$ nACh receptors present on dopaminergic neurons modulate dopamine release and are important for NDP functioning, thus posing as attractive targets for development of selective agents for the treatment of PD.¹⁰¹

3. Agents of nACh and other receptors in disease state

nACh receptor subtypes have been validated as critical drug targets due to their roles in the muscle and ganglionic functions. This has stimulated a wide interest in the research for generation of synthetic analogs for the various nACh receptor subtypes. However there is still a major void in subtype selective agents. Listed below in Table 1 are a few examples of analogs which have been implicated and approved for the use of the various disease states.

| Agents | Targets | Disease state | Additional information |
|---|--------------------------------|---------------------------------------|---|
| $H_{3}C \xrightarrow{H_{11}} N \xrightarrow{N_{C}} CH_{3}$ $ABT-418 (9)$ | α4β2, α7 agonist | AD, ¹⁰⁴ ADHD ⁸¹ | Phase trials; discontinued for AD |
| $\begin{array}{c} H_{3}C \\ H_{N} \\ CH_{3} \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} O \\ CH_{3} \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} CH_{3} \\ CH_{3} \\ CH_{3} \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} CH_{3} \\ CH$ | α4β2, α7 partial agonist | AD^{105} | Phase IIb; discontinued |
| AZD-3480/Ispronicline/ TC-1734 (10) | | ADHD | Phase II ¹⁰⁶ |
| | α4β2 agonist | AD | Phase II ¹⁰⁷ |
| AZD-1446 (11) | | | |

Table 1. List of agents implicated in various disease state.







4. Desensitization of nACh receptors

Desensitization means decrease of the response in the presence of a stimulus. Katz and Thesleff⁵ first noted that continuous application of ACh on frog muscle end-plate resulted in a decreased cell response and almost abolished the response that was quickly recovered upon removal of ACh from the system.^{124,125} This phenomenon was thus termed as 'desensitization' and was hypothesized to have resulted from the transition of the receptor into a refractory state.¹²⁵ It was also shown that animals exposed to nicotine resulted in an increased density of nACh receptors. This phenomenon allowed scientists to propose a two-state model of nACh receptor desensitization which involved activation and desensitization by nicotine (or any agonist) at the same time.¹²⁶ Various factors together provide the net effect of nicotine on nACh receptors such as drug concentration, exposure length, and the state of the receptor.¹²⁷ nACh receptors have a complex pharmacology and this can be mostly attributed to the activation and desensitization of the nACh receptors over a short time course of nicotine exposure.¹²⁷ The various biological events associated with nACh receptor are initiated by the binding of the ACh, which brings about a conformational change in the receptor shape.¹²⁸ As previously discussed the nACh receptors

exist in four states; the closed, the open, the intermediate transition state and the high-affinity channel-inactive desensitized state (Figure **5**).^{128,129}



Figure 5. Multiple conformation states of nACh receptors and their transition from one state to the other in the presence of ACh (adapted from Arias¹²⁸).

The closed state is the low-affinity resting state of the receptor and, in the absence of the agonist/ACh, consists of around 80% of the receptor population while the remaining 20% exists in the desensitized state.^{130,131} Desensitization of the nACh receptors has been found to be modulated by the activation of protein kinases and receptor phosphorylation.¹³² It can be noted that the agonist-induced desensitization of the nACh receptor occurs rapidly. Experiments were performed on the membrane of Torpedo species and intrinsic fluorescence measurements showed that the $t_{1/2}$ was 1.9 sec for agonist induced desensitization.¹³³ The time frame for the activation cycle of the nACh receptor consists of usec to msec for the fast activation of the receptor from the closed to the open state upon ACh binding. Prolonged presence of agonist/ACh causes the receptor to convert to the intermediate transition state which takes around msec and finally inducing into a high-affinity channel-inactive desensitized state which occurs in a sec to min time frame.¹²⁸ Desensitization of the homomeric α 7 nACh receptor is associated with a structural change of the binding sites at the orthosteric site and the ion pore.^{134,135} Also, mutation of Leu247 in the pore-lining M2 domain of the TM region of the nACh receptor was shown to destabilize the conformation of the desensitized receptor making it conducive to channel opening, thus causing ions to flow through and considerably slow the rate of desensitization of the rapidly fast-desensitizing α 7 nACh receptor.^{134,136} Desensitization experiments of various heteromeric nACh receptors have shown that the rate of desensitization is faster for the $\beta 2$ containing than the β 4 containing subtypes.¹³⁵ The N-terminal region of the β subunit has been shown to confer the different rate of desensitization of the β -containing heteromeric nACh receptors.¹³⁴

D. Allosterism

Receptors are proteins that can adopt multiple tertiary conformations. Receptors can also interact with other cellular proteins that can function as downstream messengers of the signal transduction pathway. The origin of allosterism is in the Greek literature where *allos* means 'other' and stereos mean 'solid shapes'. The concept of allosterism was first proposed by Monod and Jacob in 1961^{7,137} when it was found that certain bacterial enzymes were feedback inhibited by the end product or regulatory ligand of the biosynthesis pathway, even though they had no structural similarity with the starting material or the substrate.¹³⁸ Further experiments were able to demonstrate that the interaction between the substrate and the regulatory ligand were the result of distinct binding sites at which the molecules bind. The binding of the regulatory ligand brings about a change in the conformation of the protein that reversibly modifies the conformation of the active site indirectly.¹³⁸ The concept was studied and adopted by Monod, Wyman and Changeux (MWC) in 1965¹³⁹ where they showed that allosteric effects do not fit general enzymatic theories, and that a molecular transition, also called the allosteric transition, occurs when an allosteric ligand binds to stabilize the protein.¹³⁷ Henceforth, the allosteric model of ligand interaction was also called the MWC model.

1. Theory

In an allosteric modulation various factors play a role such as the dynamic conformational change of the protein in the absence of the ligand, and stabilization of the protein upon ligand binding in a preferred conformation. Thus, in theory, a nACh receptor agonist will preferentially

stabilize the active open state conformation and a nACh receptor competitive antagonist will stabilize the resting or the closed state conformation. As mentioned earlier, different states of the receptor possess different affinity for a ligand (Figure 5). Transition between the different states can be brought about either by ligand binding or a free energy change between the states (L_0-L_2) (Figure 5) that involves transition from one state to another. A three-state model for the allosteric properties of the nACh receptor has been proposed that involves the resting state, open state, and the desensitized state of the receptor. Generally the allosteric system involves quaternary protein structures that can cause alteration in the bonding of the subunits of the receptor. Allosteric effects can be broadly classified into two types; homotropic and heterotropic.¹³⁷ A homotropic effect occurs when the second molecule of the endogenous ligand (ACh) can bring about an allosteric modulation for ACh binding at the orthosteric site. In the case of the heterotropic effect, the allosteric modulator binds at a site distinct from the orthosteric site and modulates the binding of the orthosteric ligand. Agents that stabilize the open state of the receptor, thus potentiating the effect of the endogenous ligand and further shifting the equilibrium towards the open state, are called as positive allosteric modulators (PAMs) (Figure 6).¹³⁹ Whereas, on the other hand, ligands that bind at an allosteric site and increase the energy barrier along with shifting the equilibrium to the resting state are called negative allosteric modulators (NAMs). PAMs on their own are inactive and don't activate the ion channel. A ligand that binds at an allosteric site and activates the receptor on its own is called an allosteric potentiating ligand or allosteric non-competitive agonist.¹⁴⁰



Figure 6. Schematic representation of positive allosteric modulation where the pentameric nACh receptor is depicted in blue (adapted from Bertrand and Gopalakrishnan¹³⁹).

Cooperativity is an important phenomenon where binding of two or more ligands on the same protein at distinct sites generally increases or decreases the rate of binding of the second ligand onto the protein and is termed positive or negative cooperativity, respectively. Cooperativity is measured using a Hill coefficient (*n*) which provides a quantifiable measure of the same. A coefficient of n > 1 indicates a positive cooperativity while n < 1 indicates negative cooperativity. Kinetic models of the ACh response show that two molecules of ACh are required for the activation of the receptor and that n = 1.5 to 2.2, which suggests a homotropic effect.¹⁴¹ The unbinding of the ACh from the receptor is slow enough to allow the receptor to activate the channel opening more than once, thus suggesting that the channel opens and closes with ACh remaining bound to the receptor.¹⁴² Thus, the allosteric model of ACh binding should include the

unliganded, single liganded and double liganded state of the receptor. The model (Figure 7) shows the complexity of the transition of the ACh receptor from one state to the other. At resting state, the closed conformation (R) of the receptor is predominant. The closed channel (R) has low affinity for the ligand but possesses a fast rate constant to go to the open state (AR) of the receptor.¹⁴³ Once the receptor is bound by 2 molecules of ACh (A₂R), the probability of channel opening is almost a million times more when compared to the closed unliganded state (R) of the receptor. Once in the activated state, the receptor desensitizes (A₂R_D) rapidly; thus, eventually, the burst fades away. Thermodynamically, the desensitized state of the receptor is the high-affinity state with a 100-fold higher affinity for the ACh. With equilibrium favoring the closed state (R) of the receptor, the desensitized receptor (A₂R_D and AR_D) and the receptor reverts to the closed state and the cycle is ready to repeat.¹⁴²



Figure 7. Allosteric model of the various transition states of the nACh receptors. R= Receptor in the open state, AR= 1 molecule of ACh bound to the receptor, $A_2R=2$ molecules of ACh bound to the receptor, *= open state of the receptor, $_D=$ desensitized state of the receptor.¹⁴²

2. Advantage of allosteric modulators over traditional orthosteric ligands

There are various advantages of allosteric modulators over orthosteric ligands for receptor activation. First, the orthosteric ligand binds to the orthosteric site and activates the receptor; on the other hand, the allosteric modulator doesn't have any intrinsic activation, thus the natural state of the receptor along with the physiological stimulus produced by the endogenous ligand can be maintained. This phenomenon could possibly reduce the likelihood of receptor desensitization even when an allosteric modulator is continuously present, thus providing a tool to escape tolerance.¹⁴⁴ A second major problem associated with the orthosteric ligands is the overdose/toxicity aspect. The allosteric modulators are saturable; thus once all the binding sites for the allosteric modulators are occupied it cannot produce any additional effect and, thus, can be a safer alternative in cases of overdose.¹⁴⁵ The third advantage tries to tackle the most

problematic aspect of drug discovery, i.e., selectivity of the ligands across various receptor subtypes. In the case of nACh receptors the orthosteric site is highly conserved providing very little room for designing selective agents for various nACh receptor subtypes. An allosteric site could be found anywhere on the receptor surface and thus can be specific for a particular receptor subtype population and provide selectivity.¹⁴⁴

3. Allosteric modulators of nACh receptors

Due to the broad implication of nACh receptors in various neurodegenerative disorders, PAMs can play crucial role in restoration of nicotinic tone.⁵⁴ Ivermectin, an anthelminthic agent, was the first agent to be identified as a PAM at α 7 nACh receptors. The compound was able to decrease the EC_{50} and increase the slope of the dose response curve, thus potentiating the effect of ACh.¹⁴⁶ Since then, various other agents have come to light as potential PAMs at the α 7 nACh receptor subtype.¹³⁹ Galantamine, which is an AChE inhibitor, was shown to activate α 7 and $\alpha 4\beta 2$ nACh receptors along with other subtype populations, through binding at a site distinct from the orthosteric site for ACh.¹⁴⁷ Thus, co-application of galantamine with ACh in *Xenopus* oocytes expressed with $\alpha 4\beta 2$ nACh receptors was shown to potentiate the effect of ACh.¹⁴⁷ The neuro-steroid 17β-estradiol was shown to potentiate ACh-induced responses by increasing channel opening probability at $\alpha 4\beta 2$ nACh receptors.¹⁴⁸ It was found that the C-terminal region of the α 4 subunit was involved in 17 β -estradiol binding and that the site was different from other progesterone inhibitions.¹⁴⁸ Various cations, such as zinc $(Zn^{2+})^{149}$ and calcium $(Ca^{2+})^{150}$ seem to play a crucial role in the modulation of the various nACh receptor subtype populations in the brain. Zinc co-application (50 µM) with a saturating ACh concentration was shown to potentiate

ACh-evoked currents by 260%. Also, it was observed that zinc potentiates at low concentrations $(EC_{50}=16 \ \mu\text{M})$ and inhibits at high concentrations $(IC_{50}=440 \ \mu\text{M})$.¹⁵¹ Through mutagenesis studies it was observed that the Zn²⁺ potentiates low-affinity $(\alpha 4)_3(\beta 2)_2$ receptors that have a $\alpha 4^+/\alpha 4^-$ phase while inhibiting both the low- and high-affinity stoichiometry of $\alpha 4\beta 2$ nACh receptor that have a $\beta 2^+/\alpha 4^-$ phase that is required for Zn²⁺ binding.^{149,152}

PAMs have different qualitative effects on the ACh response.¹⁵³ They are classified into two types namely, Type I and Type II PAMs. Type I PAMs are agents that increase the receptor sensitivity by increasing the magnitude of the current produced by ACh without affecting the decay rates of the current.¹⁵³ Type I PAMs do not affect the onset and the basic decay kinetics of the response. On the other hand Type II PAMs increased the apparent peak current by rapid onset of action and weak current decay kinetics.¹⁵⁴ In the case of α 7 nACh receptors Type II PAMs were able to reactivate the desensitized receptors which are considered to be the reason of the prolonged decay rates for the ACh currents.¹⁵³ Table **2** summarizes various agents that have been shown to be PAMs at the two major nACh receptor populations in the human brain: the α 7 and α 4 β 2 subtypes.



Table 2. A list of agents and their selectivity profile at various nACh receptor subtypes.



4. des-Formylflustrabromine (dFBr)

Marine biology has been for years a great source of novel creatures and a part of the research to identify novel agents for drug discovery. Flustra foliacea is a marine bryozoan species found commonly in the North Sea and is now known to biosynthesize a variety of indole-containing natural products as metabolites.¹⁶³ To date, about 22 alkaloids and monoterpenes have been isolated from the bryozoan species.^{163,164} One of the indolic compounds is dFBr (**32**). Peters et al.¹⁶⁵ performed binding experiments with dFBr (32) at $\alpha 4\beta 2$ and $\alpha 7$ nACh receptors and it showed low ($K_i = 3,400$ nM and >50,000 nM, respectively) affinity compared to (-)nicotine (3) $(K_i = <1 \text{ nM})$.¹⁶⁵ Some of the metabolites were shown to possess muscle relaxant properties.¹⁶⁶ Several of the *Flustra* metabolites were tested for their biological activity against $\alpha 3\beta 2$, $\alpha 3\beta 4$, $\alpha 4\beta 2$, $\alpha 4\beta 4$ and $\alpha 7$ nACh receptors expressed in oocytes and only dFBr (32) showed any significant activity at the $\alpha 4\beta 2$ nACh receptor subtype.¹⁶⁶ dFBr (32) was shown to potentiate ACh-induced responses in *Xenopus* oocytes expressed with $\alpha 4\beta 2$ nACh receptors, while a statistically insignificant inhibitory response was measured at the α 7 nACh receptor subtype.¹⁶⁶ Various experiments were conducted by Sala et al.¹⁶⁶ and dFBr (32) was found to potentiate ACh's effects through a mechanism that does not involve direct activation of $\alpha 4\beta 2$ nicotinic receptors at the orthosteric site. Rather than behaving as an orthosteric agonist, dFBr is a positive allosteric modulator that can potentiate the actions of ACh at $\alpha 4\beta 2$ nACh receptors.¹⁶⁶ It was shown that the action of dFBr (32) was not on the pore properties but kept the channel open for a longer time following ACh binding, along with reopening the channel faster, hence increasing the potency and efficacy of the ACh-induced response.¹⁶⁶ The potentiation caused by dFBr on ACh-induced currents was also found to be reversible and concentration-dependent. dFBr was

the first compound shown to possess selectivity for $\alpha 4\beta 2$ receptors as a PAM and could potentially be of great benefit for further understanding the importance of $\alpha 4\beta 2$ nACh receptors in various disease states. Biological testing was performed using the various *Flustra* metabolites as their free bases, which required using DMSO for solubilizing the compounds.¹⁶⁶ Joshi et al.¹⁶⁷ were able to modify the conventional oocyte electrophysiological experiments and incorporated a vertical flow system that was shown to have extended oocyte stability, drug exposure to the complete oocyte surface, and that can be attached to an HPLC autosampler for high throughput style assays. The vertical oocyte chamber was also able to provide a faster exposure thus providing more accurate determination of the results compared to the conventional flow oocyte chamber.¹⁶⁷



des-Formylflustrabromine (dFBr) (32)

III. Specific aims

With the advent of allosteric modulation as a novel route for activation of nACh receptors it is important to identify agents that act selectively so that nACh receptors and their subtypes can be studied in greater detail. The major limiting factor with allosteric modulators is that they are impossible to design a priori. Thus, the only way to identify such compounds is through serendipity or through high-throughput screening methodology. Sala et al.¹⁶⁶ were fortunate to find dFBr as a novel agent that was able to potentiate $\alpha 4\beta 2$ nACh receptors allosterically and it, thus, provided a novel lead for further drug development. The previous studies of dFBr (32) involved the use of DMSO solutions of the water-insoluble free base for all the biological studies employed. Also, researchers relied on the natural source for obtaining dFBr (32) and, hence, its availability was limited. Our laboratory (i.e., Kim et al.)⁹ and Lindel et al.¹⁶⁸ independently identified convenient synthetic routes for the synthesis of dFBr (32), which was synthesized as a water-soluble HCl salt. The water-soluble HCl salt was tested for its action at the $\alpha 4\beta 2$ and $\alpha 7$ nACh receptor subtypes. It was shown that the potentiating effects of the HCl salt of dFBr was greatly improved over that of its free base.⁹ This could be because of better water solubility while performing the biological testing, or due to the non-necessity of using DMSO as solvent. Interestingly, it was observed that contrary to results published by Sala et al.¹⁶⁶ the HCl salt of dFBr (32) produced a biphasic response at the $\alpha 4\beta 2$ nACh receptor (Figure 8) with an EC₅₀ of 120 nM for the potentiation component and an IC₅₀ of 150,000 nM for the inhibitory component

of the dose-response curve when co-applied with 100 μ M ACh.⁹ dFBr (**32**) potentiated the maximal ACh response to almost 300%.⁹ The inhibition profile at relatively higher concentrations was hypothesized to be due to an open channel blockade mechanism with further studies required to prove it. At α 7 nACh receptors, dFBr (**32**) produced only an inhibitory response with an IC₅₀ of 44,000 nM (Figure **9**).⁹



Figure 8. Potentiation and response curve for dFBr at $\alpha 4\beta 2$ nACh receptors. (A) A typical trace of the potentiation of the ACh-evoked response for dFBr (**32**) from a single oocyte expressing human $\alpha 4\beta 2$ nACh receptors. (B) A biphasic dose-response curve for dFBr (**32**) co-applied with 100 μ M ACh on human $\alpha 4\beta 2$ nACh receptors.⁹



Figure 9. Potentiation and response curve for dFBr at α 7 nACh receptors. (A) A typical trace of potentiation of the ACh-evoked response by dFBr (**32**) from a single oocyte expressing human α 7 nACh receptors. (B) An inhibitory dose-response curve for dFBr (**32**) co-applied with 100 μ M ACh on human α 7 nACh receptors.⁹

Few, if any, allosteric ligands show selectivity for $\alpha 4\beta 2$ nACh receptors. dFBr (**32**) is the first selective allosteric modulator that potentiates the actions of ACh at $\alpha 4\beta 2$ nACh receptors. Unfortunately, dFBr (**32**), at high concentrations, will eventually behave (possibly as a channel blocking agent) to reverse its effects on the ACh receptor activation profile at $\alpha 4\beta 2$ nACh receptors.⁹ Thus, it would be important to determine what structural requirements are responsible for: a) allosteric activation of $\alpha 4\beta 2$ nACh receptors, and b) antagonism. A study will be undertaken to understand structure-activity relationships (SAR) with dFBr (**32**) as a starting point.

To perform the SAR studies that might lead to identification of a possible pharmacophore for PAM action at the $\alpha 4\beta 2$ nACh receptor subtype a 'deconstruction-reconstruction-elaboration' approach will be employed. This approach involves single structural changes being made to a compound and the subsequent evaluation of the new compounds for biological activity.¹⁶⁹ Thus, any change in activity can be associated with a single change in the structure of a molecule, and a rational SAR can be established. The process involves three phases to determine the necessity or contribution to activity of various structural components of the parent molecule. The first phase is the 'deconstruction' phase where the key structural features in the parent molecule are removed one at a time and the new compounds are biologically evaluated to measure the importance of that particular functional group. Also, this might identify the minimum structural features that are required to retain the activity of the parent compound, providing a pharmacophore for designing future analogs. The process of 'deconstruction' is also beneficial in identifying analogs that retain action and simultaneously provide a simpler synthetic procedure
which might ease the scale-up synthesis of a desired final ligand. Once a thorough understanding of the importance of various structural features of the parent molecule is established, the process can move to a 'reconstruction' phase where an analog with all essential structural features is synthesized and biologically evaluated to compare to the parent molecule. The third phase is the 'elaboration' phase where the important structural features are further elaborated to understand their role in producing the action. In this phase, principles of classical medicinal chemistry are applied and an SAR is developed where various substituent parameters, such as electronic, steric, and lipophilic can be studied. A rational approach using the Topliss decision-tree¹⁷⁰ or the Craig Plot¹⁷¹ can be implemented to minimize the vast number of possible substituents that might be introduced, and the total number of compounds that will be required for synthesis and evaluation. The 'elaboration' phase generally involves lead optimization and allows an understanding of 'why' a particular substituent is important. It also might provide a drug-like molecule with novel structural features.

The specific aims of the current investigation are:

- 1. Elucidation of critical structural features of dFBr (32) required for potentiation of ACh at $\alpha 4\beta 2$ nACh receptors.
- 2. Determination of what structural features of dFBr (**32**) contribute to the potentiation and inhibition profile of the biphasic dose-response curve of dFBr (**32**) (Figure **8**) which will eventually help better understand the true potentiation potential of dFBr (**32**) analogs at $\alpha 4\beta 2$ nACh receptors.
- 3. Identification of structurally-simpler PAMs that might result in greater ease of synthesis for scale-up (e.g. for purpose of in vivo studies).
- 4. Synthesis of a radiolabeled ligand as a selective PAM at $\alpha 4\beta 2$ nACh receptors that might facilitate binding experiments to determine binding profiles along with efficacy studies.

The general goal of this work is to prepare dFBr (**32**) analogs that can help provide an understanding of various structural features and their effects towards $\alpha 4\beta 2$ nACh receptor action. Specifically, the compounds considered for synthesis and evaluation are shown in Figure **10**.



Figure 10. Deconstructed analogs of dFBr (32) proposed for synthesis and evaluation. For example, compound 33 can provide information on the necessity of the 6-bromo group of 32, whereas 34 can provide information on the need for unsaturation. Each structure can provide important information on the contribution of specific substituents.

It might be noted that one of the first studies conducted in our laboratory showed that the 6bromo substituent of dFBr was an important, but not necessary, contributor to activity (see discussion to follow). Consequently, compounds **41-45** (Figure **11**) will be prepared and evaluated, to determine the contribution of the 2-position chain substituents to $\alpha 4\beta 2$ PAM action. The reason for this is because of the difficulty in preparing 2-alkyl-6-bromotryptamines. The intent is to identify an optimal 2-position substituent, and to then prepare the 6-bromo analog of this compound (i.e., reconstruction).



Figure 11. Deconstructed analogs of 6-desbromo dFBr (33) proposed for synthesis and evaluation.

IV. Results and discussion of deconstruction of dFBr

A. Drug-like properties of dFBr (32)

The drug-like properties of a compound are related to its structure which, in turn, is essential for absorption, distribution, metabolism and elimination (ADME) in humans. The physicochemical properties of a compound, such as its lipophilicity and solubility, might be related to various ADME properties. Medicinal chemists generally engage in the process of structure-activity relationship (SAR) and/or structure-property relationship (SPR) studies to increase the potency and selectivity towards a drug target, to reduce the undesirable effects, and to improve the druglike properties of a compound. During SAR studies the molecular properties of the compound, such as molecular weight and logP, along with solubility and molecular volume, to name a few, are considered and a multi-dimensional optimization approach is carried out. Lipinski's rule of 5 is a widely accepted guide for understanding the drug's bioavailability, generally for an orally active drug. The rule states that an orally active drug should consist of: 1) no more than 5 hydrogen bond donors; 2) no more than 10 hydrogen bond acceptors; 3) molecular weight under 500 Daltons; and 4) a logP not greater than 5^{172} . There are exceptions to these rules and various other parameters such as the polar surface area and number of rotatable bonds in a compound are considered to better predict the oral bioavailability of a drug.¹⁷³ Table **3** summarizes the various physical properties of dFBr (32) which were calculated using the OSIRIS property explorer (a web-based molecule editor predicting various drug-relevant properties) and MOLSOFT molecular property calculator.

| Physicochemical properties | Predicted values | Ideal values |
|----------------------------|------------------|---------------------|
| logP | 4.24 | < 5 |
| solubility | -4.36 | < -4.0 |
| Molecular weight (MW) | 320 | < 500 |
| Hydrogen bond acceptors | 0 | < 10 |
| Hydrogen bond donors | 3 | < 5 |
| Drug likeness | -6.18 | High positive value |
| Drug score | 0.26 | High positive value |

Table 3. Physicochemical properties of dFBr (32) versus ideal values

According to the Lipinksi's rule of 5, the molecular weight, logP, hydrogen bond acceptor and hydrogen bond donor are within the requirements, thus dFBr (**32**) can qualify as a potential drug. The drug likeness and the drug score is determined by comparing various marketed drugs.¹⁷⁴ These scores also consider the various fragments in the compound that can be problematic and potentially toxic. A positive value for the drug likeness would mean that the fragments of the compound are what are generally present in commercial drugs. Thus, drug likeness, along with lipophilicity, molecular weight and potential toxicity, can determine the relative drug-like attributes of a compound. From Table **3** it can be observed that the drug likeness and the overall drug score of dFBr (**32**) is poor which suggest that dFBr (**32**) is not an ideal drug candidate. Use

of such tools along with other computational models can help in performing SAR and/or SPR studies on dFBr which can help in determining the structural features which can improve the drug-like property of dFBr (**32**). For example, secondary amines are less lipophilic and more prone to metabolism than, for example, tertiary amine or α -alkyl amines. Hence, such factors should be investigated.

B. Chemistry

Analogs of dFBr (32) were synthesized in collaboration with others in our laboratory concurrent with the present investigation. For example the synthesis of compounds 33-36, 38, 41, and 42 were synthesized by German et al.¹⁷⁵ and have now been reported. Compound **35** (Figure **10**) was a useful intermediate for analogs where 2-position substitution was introduced as a separate step. Compound 40 (Scheme 1) was synthesized by performing a modified Henry reaction on an indole nucleus instead of the Speeter-Anthony glyoxylamide synthesis because the reaction and the yield of primary glyoxylamide was poor compared to the secondary glyoxylamide. 6-Bromoindole (46) (Scheme 1) was allowed to react with 1-dimethylamino-2-nitroethylene in the presence of TFA to yield 3-[(E)-2-nitroethenyl]-6-bromo-1H-indole (47), which, upon reductionwith NaBH₄ in the presence of a Lewis acid, yielded the known 6-bromotryptamine (48) in fairly good yield.^{176,177} The tryptamine was used for a further reaction where it was protected with ditert-butyl dicarbonate in the presence of Et₃N to yield tert-butyl-2-(6-bromo-1H-indol-3yl)ethylcarbamate (49). The compound was known as a glassy solid,¹⁷⁸ but a melting point had not been reported. Because of the non-polar nature of the carbamate, it was relatively easy to purify by column chromatography. The Boc-protected tryptamine 49 was subjected to a prenylation reaction to obtain the 2-substituted indole with freshly prepared prenyl 9-BBN¹⁷⁹ in the presence of *tert*-butyl hypochlorite and Et_3N , which yielded *tert*-butyl-2-(6-bromo-2-(1,1dimethylallyl)-1*H*-indol-3-yl)ethylcarbamate (**50**). This was one of the only reactions that was able to provide the 2-dimethylallyl substitution in the presence of 3- and 6-substitution on the indole nucleus (see below for other routes). Deprotection, along with conversion to an HCl salt, yielded 6-bromo-2-(1,1-dimethylallyl)tryptamine hydrochloride (**40**).





^aReagent: (a) 1-dimethylamino-2-nitroethylene, TFA, CH_2Cl_2 , room temperature, 1 h; (b) NaBH₄, BF₃·Et₂O, THF, reflux, 2 h; (c) di-*tert*-butyl dicarbonate, Et₃N, DMF, room temperature, 24 h; (d) (1) *tert*-butyl hypochlorite, Et₃N, THF, -78 °C, 45 min; (2) prenyl-9-BBN, THF, room temperature, 2 h; (3) NaOH, H₂O₂, 1 h; (e) HCl, EtOAc, 0 °C, 24 h, recrystallized from MeOH/EtOAc.

Scheme 2 summarizes the various des-bromo analogs, 43-45, that were synthesized. o-Toludine

(51) was treated with pivaloyl chloride in the presence of base to yield the corresponding amide

52¹⁸⁰ which underwent cyclization in the presence of *n*-butyllithium to yield the known 2-*tert*butyl-1*H*-indole (**55**).¹⁸¹ This is a more convenient synthetic scheme for 2-substituted indoles though the drawback is that halogens are susceptible to lithium exchange so it cannot be used when a 6-bromo substituent is present. The Speeter-Anthony glyoxylamide reaction was performed on 2-*tert*-butyl-1*H*-indole (**55**), followed by LiAlH₄ reduction and salt formation, to yield *N*-methyl-2-*tert*-butyltryptamine oxalate (**43**). A similar synthetic route was followed with 2-methylbutanoyl chloride and acetyl chloride to yield **44** and **45**, respectively. The synthesis of compound **44** and **45** was reported by German et al.¹⁷⁵ (a postdoctoral fellow 2007-11 in Dr. Glennon's Lab). Scheme 2. Synthesis of compounds 43-45^a



^aReagent: (a) trimethylacetyl chloride (for **43**)/2-methylbutanoyl chloride (for **44**)/acetyl chloride (for **45**), Et₃N, CH₂Cl₂; (b) *n*-butyllithium, THF; (c) (1) oxalyl chloride, Et₂O, 0 °C; (2) methylamine, room temperature, overnight; (d) LiAlH₄, THF, reflux; (e) oxalic acid, THF, Et₂O, recrystallized from *i*-PrOH.

Various synthetic routes were attempted for the synthesis of compounds **37** and **39**. It was relatively difficult to incorporate the 6-bromo and 2-alkyl substituents while synthesizing the indole scaffold. All trials involved routes that can provide 6-bromo analogs with varying 2-position alkyl substituents. Some of the attempts are shown in the following schemes (Scheme **3**-

7). The route shown in Scheme 3 was attempted based on the synthesis of 3-alkyl indoles.¹⁸⁰ We tried to use a *N*-protected tryptamine, **61**, reacting it with 2-iodobutane in the presence of zinc triflate, which assists in removal of the proton from the indole nucleus. No product (i.e., **62**) was formed suggesting that 2-position alkylation is not possible even with the 3-position being blocked.

Scheme 3. Attempt to achieve synthesis of 37 by alkylation of the *N*-protected tryptamine 61^a



^aReagent: (a) di-*tert*-butyl dicarbonate, Et₃N, THF; (b) zinc triflate, TBAB, DIPEA, 2iodobutane, toluene; (c) (1) oxalyl chloride, Et₂O; (2) methylamine, THF, H₂O; (3) $BH_3 \cdot S(CH_3)_2$, THF; (4) salt formation.

Scheme **4** represents a Fischer indole synthetic route for the synthesis of 2-substituted indoles. It is one of the oldest methods of indole synthesis and involves a rearrangement reaction of a Schiff's base to give 2-substitued indoles. This route, however, is not favorable for obtaining ring-substituted indoles as intra-molecular ring closure can affect the final position of the ring

substituents. Attempts to perform intra-molecular ring closure of intermediate **64** were not successful and only starting material was recovered. We expected some sort of cyclization to occur but, with the recovery of starting material, we are unable to offer any possible explanation.

 CH_3 CH_3 CH₃ 64 65 H₃C H₃C Ο ÷C CH_3 CH_3 d CH_3 CH_3 Br Br N H 37 66

Scheme 4. Fischer indole syntheses for the attempted synthesis of compound 37^{a}

^aReagent: (a) 3-methylpentan-2-one, HOAc, MeOH; (b) 10% P_2O_5 , CH₃SO₃H; (c) (1) oxalyl chloride, Et₂O; (2) methylamine, THF, H₂O; (d) BH₃·S(CH₃)₂, THF; (4) salt formation.

Another attempt to synthesize **39** was carried out by modifying the Leimgruber-Batcho indole synthesis as shown in Scheme **5**. In this route the 2-nitrostyrene intermediate **70** should undergo hydrolysis to yield the phenyl ketone intermediate which can further undergo cyclization by reduction with Zn/HOAc. To introduce the 2-position alkyl group of **39**, we subjected **69** to alkylation with pivaloyl chloride but the reaction was unsuccessful.¹⁸³ A possible reason for the failure to synthesize **70** could be that a bulky substituent cannot be attached to the β -styrene portion of **69**.

Scheme 5. Modified Leimgruber-Batcho indole syntheses for the attempted preparation of 39^a



^aReagent: (a) (1) NaNO₂, HBr; (2) CuBr, HBr; (b) DMF.DMA, pyrrolidine, DMF; (c) trimethylacetyl chloride, Et_3N ; (d) (1) H₂O, reflux; (2) Zn, HOAc; (e) (1) oxalyl chloride, Et_2O ; (2) methylamine, THF, H₂O; (3) BH₃·S(CH₃)₂, THF; (4) salt formation.

Direct bromination was attempted to achieve regioselective bromination of the indole ring. Burm et al.¹⁷⁸ reported the total synthesis of (±)-arborescidine, a marine alkaloid in which **61** (see Scheme **4**) was a key intermediate. Intermediate **61** was synthesized by direct bromination of the glyoxylamide, followed by reduction, *N*-protection and chromatographic separation of the 5- and 6-bromo mixture.¹⁷⁸ Scheme **6** summarizes the direct bromination route for the synthesis of **39**. Bromination of **58** resulted in a mixture of 5- and 6-bromo compounds (**73** and **72**, respectively). Separation techniques, including flash column chromatography and preparative TLC, failed to separate the two isomers. A possible explanation could be because the 2-postion alkyl substitution makes the compounds quite lipophilic, resulting in very little difference in polarity of the compounds, making chromatographic separation nearly impossible. Scheme 6. Direct bromination route for the attempted synthesis of 39^a



^aReagent: (a) Br₂, HOAc; (b) (1) oxalyl chloride, Et₂O; (2) methylamine, THF, H₂O; (3) BH₃·S(CH₃)₂, THF; (4) salt formation.

Scheme 7 shows an attempt to achieve the synthesis of **39** using a Grignard-based reaction for the cyclization. Pei at al.¹⁸⁴ successfully achieved a synthetic route for the synthesis of 2-substituted indoles with ring substitution by a [1,2]-aryl migration shift in α -chloroacetophenones. Intermediate **75** was synthesized using 3-bromoaniline (**74**) by reacting it with chloroacetonitrile in the presence of a Lewis acid, AlCl₃ and BCl₃. The substituted α -chloroacetophenone **75** was reacted with *tert*-butyl magnesium bromide to obtain 6-bromo-2-*tert*-butyl-1*H*-indole, but here the reaction yielded total degradation indicated by numerous spots upon the TLC analysis with consumption of the starting material **75**. The Grignard reagent route was successful in the synthesis of the 2-methylpropyl analog (**65**) (see Scheme **8**). This suggests

that the *tert*-butyl Grignard reagent might be unstable in the presence of the aromatic halogens, especially bromine, which is very reactive with the Grignard reagent. There was loss of starting material and no product (i.e., **71**) was formed; hence, finding modified routes for the synthesis of 6-bromo-2-alkyl indoles were explored.

Scheme 7. Grignard reagent route for the attempted synthesis of 39^a



^aReagent: (a) chloroacetonitrile, AlCl₃, BCl₃, CH₂Cl₂; (b) *tert*-butyl magnesium bromide, Et₂O; (c)) (1) oxalyl chloride, Et₂O; (2) methylamine, THF, H₂O; (d) BH₃·S(CH₃)₂, THF; (4) salt formation.

We were finally successful in achieving the synthesis of **37** and **39** through a relatively long, but simple, route as shown in Scheme **8**. This involved a Sonagashira coupling reaction to synthesize 6-bromo-2-subsituted analogs. Scheme **8** summarizes the synthesis of *N*-methyl-6-bromo-2*-tert*-butyltryptamine hydrochloride (**39**) and *N*-methyl-6-bromo-2*-sec*-butyltryptamine hydrochloride (**37**). Compound **37** was synthesized in collaboration with Dr. German.

2-Nitroaniline (76) was brominated with N-bromosuccinamide to yield 4-bromo-2-nitroaniline (77)¹⁸⁵ which, on diazotization and reaction with KI and I₂, yielded 4-bromo-2-nitroiodobenzene (78).^{185,186} This was further reduced with Fe and HCl to yield 5-bromo-2-iodoaniline (79).¹⁸⁷ Sonagashira coupling in the presence of the corresponding alkyne with ligand-based palladium catalysts was performed on 79 to yield 5-bromo-2-(3,3-dimethylbut-1-yn-1-yl)aniline (80). The corresponding alkyne was treated with ZnI₂ to render cyclization to 6-bromo-2-tert-butyl-1Hindole (71). Various Lewis acids can be used to perform the cyclization reaction, such as ZnBr₂, ZnCl₂, CuI, CuBr and many others.¹⁸⁸ The synthesis of compound **37** was achieved *via* the Grignard reagent route where the corresponding indole was reacted with oxalyl chloride and methylamine via a Speeter-Anthony glyoxylamide reaction to yield N-methyl-6-bromo-2-tertbutyl-1*H*-indol-3-glyoxylamide N-methyl-6-bromo-2-sec-butyl-1H-indol-3-yl-(72)and glyoxylamide (66), which followed by reduction and formation of an HCl salt, yielded N-methylhvdrochloride 6-bromo-2-*tert*-butyltryptamine (39) and N-methyl-6-bromo-2-secbutyltryptamine hydrochloride (37). The above routes have provided a versatile method for the synthesis of various 2-substituted indoles in the presence of a halogen in the indole nucleus.



Scheme 8. Synthesis of compounds 37 and 39^a

^aReagents: (a) *N*-bromosuccinamide, EtOH, 40-50 °C, 5 h; (b) (1) $BF_3 \cdot Et_2O$, *t*-BuONO, THF, -30 °C to room temperature, 1 h; (2) KI, I₂, CH₃CN, room temperature, 1 h; (3) Na₂S₂O₃; (c) Fe, HOAc, EtOH, reflux, 1.5 h; (d) 3,3-dimethylbut-1-yne, CuI, PdCl₂(PPh₃)₂, Et₃N, THF, room temperature, 5 h; (e) ZnI₂, toluene, reflux, 41 h; (f) (1) oxalyl chloride, Et₂O, reflux, overnight; (2) methylamine, THF, H₂O, room temperature, 15 h; (g) (1) BH₃·S(CH₃)₂, THF, reflux, 6 h; (2) HCl, Et₂O, 0 °C, recrystallized from *i*-PrOH; (h) chloroacetonitrile, AlCl₃, BCl₃, CH₂Cl₂, 12 h reflux; (i) oxalyl chloride, Et₂O, -5 °C, 30 min; (j) methylamine, THF, H₂O, room temperature, overnight; (k) BH₃·S(CH₃)₂, THF, reflux, overnight; (2) oxalic acid, CHCl₃, 0 °C, 1.5 h, recrystallized from *i*-PrOH.

Compound **82**, which is the *des*-bromo analog of **40**, was also synthesized to compare the effect of the 6-bromo substituent with/without the *N*-methyl substituent. Compounds in Figure **12** will provide further evidence towards the importance of the 6-bromo and the *N*-methyl substituent of dFBr (**32**).



Figure 12. Deconstruction of dFBr (32) at the 6-bromo and the N-methyl substituents.

Scheme 9 summarizes the synthesis of compound 82. Compound 82 was synthesized by a relatively simple route from commercially available tryptamine (83) which was protected to obtain the Boc-protected tryptamine (84).¹⁸⁹ Compound 84 was prenylated to yield *tert*-butyl-2-(2-(1,1-dimethylallyl)-1*H*-indol-3-yl)ethylcarbamate (85), that, on deprotection, yielded 2-(1,1-dimethylallyl)tryptamine hydrochloride (82) in fairly good yield.

Scheme 9. Synthesis of compound 82^a



^aReagents: (a) di-*tert*-butyl dicarbonate, Et₃N, DMF, room temperature, 20 h; (b) (1) *tert*-butyl hypochlorite, Et₃N, THF, -78 °C, 45 min; (2) prenyl-9-BBN, THF, room temperature, 3 h; (3) NaOH, H_2O_2 , 1 h; (c) HCl, EtOAc, 0 °C, 24 h, recrystallized from *i*-PrOH/Et₂O.

C. Pharmacology

Biological activities of the synthesized compounds were evaluated using two-electrode voltage clamp techniques employing *Xenopus laevis* oocytes with expressed human $\alpha 4\beta 2$ nACh receptors in the absence or presence of 100 μ M ACh. A typical dose-response curve for the compounds tested on human $\alpha 4\beta 2$ nACh receptors shows potentiation at lower concentrations and inhibitory activation at higher concentrations, but no effect in the absence of ACh. Table **3** provides the biological results of the potentiation or antagonism (i.e., inhibition) of the action of ACh action at human $\alpha 4\beta 2$ nACh receptors by dFBr (**32**) and its analogs.

| Compound | Potentiation | Inhibition | Half maximum potentiation concentration (EC ₅₀) (µM) (± SEM) | Half maximum inhibition concentration (IC ₅₀) (µM) (± SEM) |
|------------------|--------------|------------|---|---|
| 32 (dFBr) | + | + | 0.33 ± 0.52 | 150 ± 0.20 |
| 33 | + | + | 7.59 ± 3.50 | 12.6 ± 3.20 |
| 34 | + | + | 0.14 ± 0.69 | NI ^a |
| 35 | - | + | NP ^b | 39.8 ± 0.87 |
| 36 | - | + | NP | 3.55 ± 0.83 |
| 37 | + | + | 60. 5 (0.6-120)♦ | 40.7 (0.1-81) ♦ |
| 38 | - | + | NP | 72.4 ± 0.79 |
| 39 | | | DA ^c | DA |
| 40 | + | + | 0.51 ± 0.58 | NI |
| 41 | + | + | 3.02 ± 0.09 | NI |
| 42 | - | - | NP | \mathbf{ND}^{d} |
| 43 | + | + | 3.98 ± 0.03 | NI |
| 44 | - | + | NP | 16.6 ± 0.28 |
| 45 | | | DA | DA |
| 82 | | | DA | DA |

Table 4. Effect of dFBr (**32**) and its deconstructed analogs on the action (potentiation or antagonism) of ACh action at the human $\alpha 4\beta 2$ nACh receptors.

^aNI = Inhibition potency of the action of ACh could not be reliably determined. ^bNP = No potentiation of the action of ACh. ^cDA = Data unavailable. ^dND = Not determined. \blacklozenge = 95% confidence limits (CLs). *n* = 4. In some cases, data were provided as ± SEM; in others, data were provided to us with 95% CLs.

D. Discussion

The EC₅₀ value obtained for dFBr (**32**) (0.33 μ M) (Table **4**) in the current investigation is comparable to a previous report (EC₅₀ = 0.12 μ M) from our laboratory, and the small difference might be the result of the large number of determinations carried out with **32** and experimental variation. Compounds **33-40** represent the first deconstructed analogs of dFBr (**32**) (Table **4**; Figure **10**). Comparing dFBr (**32**) with its *des*-bromo analog **33** (EC₅₀ = 7.59 μ M), it is apparent that the 6-bromo substituent makes a substantial contribution to activity. Although removal of the 6-bromo substituent decreased potency by almost 20-fold, compound **33** is still active as a PAM at α 4 β 2 nACh receptors. Thus, the 6-bromo substituent is optimal for potency but is not required for the PAM action of dFBr (**32**). Removal of the 6-bromo substituent improved the inhibitory action (IC₅₀ = 12.6 μ M). It is notable that the removal of the 6-bromo group decreased the concentration range for the potentiation and the inhibition action at α 4 β 2 nACh receptors (Table **4**, 0.3 to 150 μ M for dFBr *vs* 7.6 to 12.6 μ M for **33**, respectively).

Next, the importance of the 2-position side chain of dFBr (**32**) was examined. Compounds **34**, **35**, **36**, and **38** were the initial analogs synthesized in our laboratory. Comparing dFBr (**32**) with **34** (EC₅₀ = 0.14 μ M), it is evident that chain unsaturation is not required for activity. It was found, however, that complete removal of the 2-position chain of dFBr (**32**), affording **35**, resulted in no potentiation of the action of ACh. Compound **35** was, nevertheless, able to produce an inhibitory action at high concentrations (IC₅₀ = 39.8 μ M). Evidently the 2-position substituent, or a portion thereof, is required for the potentiation of ACh action by dFBr at α 4 β 2 nACh receptors. Because compound **34** was twice as potent as its parent, dFBr (**32**), unsaturation of the side chain is not required for the action of ACh. Compound **36**, retaining the propenyl side

chain was unable to potentiate the action of ACh, but produced relatively potent inhibition (IC₅₀ = 3.55μ M). This indicates that at least one of the *gem*-dimethyl groups of dFBr (**32**), and not the unsaturation of the side chain, is important for the potentiating effect of the parent molecule, **32**, as a PAM. Again, supportive of the notion that at least one of the *gem*-dimethyl groups is required for PAM activity, compound **38** lacked this action. Compound **37**, the monomethyl counterpart of **34**, is more than 400-fold less potent than **34** as a PAM. Hence, the *gem*-dimethyl groups seem to play a major role in PAM action.

As in the case of compound **34**, which is twice as potent as dFBr (**32**), compound **38**, although an inhibitor, was almost 24-fold less potent compared to **36** in this regard suggesting a different mode of binding for the potentiation and antagonism at $\alpha 4\beta 2$ nACh receptors.

The *N*-des-methyl analog **40** (EC₅₀ = 0.51 μ M) was half as potent as dFBr (**32**) (Table **4**) as a PAM showing that the secondary amine of dFBr (**32**) is preferred over the primary amine of **40**. Comparing compounds **32**, **33**, **40** and **82** it can be predicted that compound **82**, which lacks the 6-bromo and the *N*-methyl substituent, will be less potent than **33** and **40** although data have not yet been obtained for compound **82**. It would appear that some steric bulk is tolerated at the terminal amine. Thus, most of the deconstructed analogs of dFBr (**32**) to be examined henceforth will retain the *N*-methyl group as seen in **32** (Figure **13**).



Figure 13. Initial deconstruction of dFBr (**32**). Each arrow symbolizes a single structural change. Data are from Table **4**. Certain analogs did not potentiate the effect of ACh at $\alpha 4\beta 2$ ACh receptors at their highest concentration evaluated (i.e., 100 μ M).

Reconstruction. Up to this point, several structural features were found optimal for PAM action: a) an *N*-methyl amine, b) a 6-bromo substituent, and c) a 2-position substituent consisting of a quaternary carbon (Figure**14**).



Figure 14. Deconstruction of dFBr (**32**) revealing the structural requirement for action. a) A secondary amine is optimal, b), a 6-bromo substituent is required for potency but not action, and c) a 2-position quaternary carbon is required for activity as a PAM at $\alpha 4\beta 2$ nACh receptors.

The next goal was a more detailed examination of 2-position substituents. Synthetically, to incorporate 2-position substituents with a 6-bromo group, is a challenge. Also, the *des*-bromo derivative **33** was active; thus, a relatively simpler route for the synthesis of various analogs of dFBr (**32**) which will help understand what portion of the 2-position substituent is required for the potentiation action of ACh was undertaken. The intent was to optimize the 2-position substituent for a 6-*des*bromo analog, and then to add a bromo group to the optimized compound(s). Compound **33** was further deconstructed to compounds **41-45** (Figure **15**; Table **4**) of which only compound **41** and **43** showed potentiation of the activity of ACh (**41**; EC₅₀ = 3.02 μ M and **43**; EC₅₀ = 3.98 μ M). Comparing compounds **32** and **33** with **34** and **41**, are twice as potent as the parent molecules, **32** and **33**, respectively. This information allows us to avoid the

unsaturation of dFBr which can prove to be a synthetic advantage for synthesizing simpler analogs. Compounds **42-44** (Table **4**) provided information about the *gem*-dimethyl system of the 2-position substituent of dFBr (**32**). It was observed that the *gem*-dimethyl groups are important for the potentiation property of dFBr (**32**). Compound **44**, which has a 2-methylpropyl side chain, was inactive as a PAM, but showed antagonist properties ($IC_{50} = 16.6 \mu M$). Comparing compounds **42**, having a 2-*iso*-propyl side chain, and **43** having a 2-*tert*-butyl side chain, it was seen that, although both the analogs possess a *gem*-dimethyl group, the presence of a quaternary carbon at the 2-position in **43** is what provides the potentiation property as a PAM at $\alpha 4\beta 2$ nACh receptors. In simple terms it can be concluded that, for potentiation, the presence of a 2-position quaternary carbon atom is required whereas for the inhibitory/antagonistic effect, a propyl or a mono-substituted propyl substituent is tolerated (Figure **15**).



Figure 15. Deconstruction of **33** to determine the role of the 2-position substituent on the PAM action of ACh at nACh receptors. Data are from Table **4**.

In the reconstruction process, we synthesized compound **39** which bears all the regional features shown in Figure **14**. Although it was expected that the 2-*tert*-butyl compound **39** would be more potent than its *des*-bromo parent **43**, data have not yet been obtained for this compound.



V. Results and discussion of elaboration of dFBr

The elaboration step sought answers to several questions such as, for example: a) is a tertiary amine tolerated, b) is a quaternary amine tolerated (note: ACh is a quaternary amine) (Figure 16), c) is the indolic N-H a contributor to action (Figure 16), d) what is the specific role of the 6-bromo group, e) is the position of attachment of the bromo group important for activity (Figure 17)? That is, the elaboration step introduced substituents not found in dFBr (32).

A. Chemistry

Several analogs of dFBr (32) were synthesized in collaboration with others in our laboratory concurrent with the present investigation. For example the synthesis of compounds 97-100 were synthesized in collaboration with Dr. German (a postdoctoral fellow in Dr. Glennon's lab). Scheme 10 summarizes the synthesis of 86 and 87. Compound 40 was used as the starting material which was converted to its free base and subjected to Eschweiler-Clarke reaction with formic acid and formaldehyde to yield *N*,*N*-dimethyl-6-bromo-2-(1,1-dimethylallyl)tryptamine (101). The latter was converted to the oxalate salt to yield 86. Compound 101 was further methylated with iodomethane to yield *N*,*N*,*N*-trimethyl-6-bromo-2-(1,1-dimethylallyl)tryptamine methiodide (87) (Scheme 10). Direct quaternization of 40 resulted in the reaction not going to completion and yielded a mixture of mono and di-methylated side products under varying

conditions; from room temperature to reflux and varying equivalence of iodomethane; 3 to 10. Thus, a 2-step approach was adopted for the synthesis of **87**.



Figure 16. Elaborated analogs of dFBr (32) proposed for the synthesis and evaluation. For example compound 86, 87, 91 and 92 can provide information on the steric bulk tolerated on the amine, whereas compound 88 and 89 can provide information on the chain length while

compound **90** can provide information about the α -substitution on the tryptamine side chain required for PAM action at the $\alpha 4\beta 2$ nACh receptors.



Figure 17. Elaborated analogs of dFBr (32) proposed for the synthesis and evaluation. For example, compounds 93-96 can provide information on the importance of indolic N-H, whereas compound 98 can provide information on the position of the bromo substituent and its

importance towards the activity. Compounds **99** and **100** on the other hand can provide information about the specific role of the 6-bromo substituent required for PAM action at the $\alpha 4\beta 2$ nACh receptors.

Scheme 10. Synthesis of compounds 86 and 87^a



^aReagents: (a) Formic acid, formaldehyde (37% v/v), H₂O, reflux, 3 h; (b) Oxalic acid, CHCl₃, 0 °C, 1.5 h, recrystallized from *i*-PrOH/Et₂O; (c) iodomethane, *i*-PrOH, 0 °C to room temperature, 22 h, recrystallized from MeOH/*i*-PrOH.

Synthesis of the homotryptamine analog (i.e., **89**) and the 3-position *des*-methyl gramine side chain analog (i.e., **88**) (Figure **16**) was attempted. The instability of the *des*-methyl gramine analog **88** was a major issue, the product could not be isolated and, thus, the compound was not pursued any further. It was found that compound **86** (Scheme **10**) was active (see discussion below) and thus, to see the effect of shortening of the tryptamine chain, compound **102** was

synthesized. Gramines (indole-3-yl-*N*,*N*-dimethylmethylamines) are stable and can be synthesized to obtain substitution on the indole nucleus. Similarly, to understand the role of extension of the tryptamine side chain, compound **103** was considered, which is a *des*-bromo analog of **89**. This particular compound was considered based on the knowledge that the 6-bromo substituent in dFBr (**32**) is required for potency, but not PAM action. Compound **104** was considered instead of **90** (Figure **16**) based on the data that the primary amine (**40**) is only half as potent as dFBr (**32**) (see Table **3**) and also because of the ease of synthesis of **104** compared to **90**.



Compound **102** was synthesized by Dr. German. Scheme **11** summarizes the synthesis of compound **103**. Indole-3-propionic acid (**105**) was treated with methyl chloroformate and then with methylamine hydrochloride to yield the known *N*-methyl-3-(1*H*-indol-3-yl)propanamide (**106**)¹⁹⁰ which was further reduced with LiAlH₄ to yield *N*-methyl-3-(1*H*-indol-3-yl)propanamine (**107**).¹⁹¹ The amine was protected by di-*tert*-butyl dicarbonate in the presence of Et₃N to yield *tert*-butyl-3-(indol-3-yl)propyl-*N*-methylcarbamate (**108**). Upon further treatment of **107** with freshly prepared prenyl-9-BBN in the presence of *tert*-butyl hypochlorite and Et₃N, the reaction yielded *tert*-butyl-3-(2-(1,1-dimethylallyl)-1*H*-indol-3-yl)propyl-*N*-methylcarbamate (**109**), which was deprotected and converted to an oxalate salt to yield *N*-methyl-3-(2-(1,1-dimethylallyl)-1*H*-indol-3-yl)propyl-*N*-methyl-3-(2-(1,1-d

dimethylallyl)-indol-1*H*-yl)propanamine oxalate (**103**). Although homogeneous in thin-layer chromatographic analysis ($R_f = 0.4$ in CH₂Cl₂/MeOH/NH₃ 10:1:01), elemental analysis for **103** was not within the permissible range of 0.4% (Anal. Calcd for ($C_{17}H_{24}N_2 \cdot C_2H_2O_4$) C, 65.87; H, 7.56; N, 8.09. Found: C, 62.95; H, 7.12; N, 7.62). The oxalate salt can exist in different ratios with the free base (e.g., 1 mol of free base and 1 mol of oxalate or 1 mol of free base and 0.5 mol of oxalate). The ¹H NMR spectrum didn't indicate the presence of water in the sample. The MS of **103** revealed a molecular base peak of 257.15 (the same as the M+1 of the free base of **103**). The mass peak of the oxalate ion will not be seen in the MS because the salt is ionic and at high temperature will be converted to CO_2 . Thus, on the basis of a constant melting point on repeated recrystallization with *i*-PrOH, the molecular base peak in the mass spectrum (all the hydrogen atoms in the molecular structure accounted for in the NMR spectrum) it was concluded that **103** had been obtained.

Scheme 11. Synthesis of compound 103^a



^aReagents: (a) (1) methyl chloroformate, Et₃N, THF, 0 °C, 30 min; (2) methylamine HCl, 0 °C, 1.5 h; (b) LiAlH₄, dioxane, reflux, overnight; (c) di*-tert*-butyl dicarbonate, Et₃N, CH₂Cl₂, room temperature, 19 h; (d) (1) *tert*-butyl hypochlorite, Et₃N, THF, -78 °C, 45 min; (2) prenyl-9-BBN, THF, room temperature, 2 h; (3) NaOH, H₂O₂, 1 h; (e) oxalic acid, Et₂O, recrystallized from *i*-PrOH.

Scheme 12 summarizes the synthesis of compound 104. 6-Bromo-1*H*-indole-3-carboxaldehyde (110) underwent a Henry reaction in the presence of nitroethane and ammonium acetate as a weak base to yield 3-[(*E*)-2-nitroprop-1-en-1-yl]-6-bromo-1*H*-indole (111).¹⁷⁶ Further reduction with NaBH₄ in the presence of a Lewis acid yielded the corresponding α -methyltryptamine (112), which was Boc-protected to yield *tert*-butyl-1-(6-bromo-1*H*-indol-3-yl)propyl-2-carbamate (113). The 2-dimethylallyl substituent was introduced by a prenylation reaction to yield *tert*-butyl-1-(6-bromo-2-(1,1-dimethylallyl)-1*H*-indol-3-yl)propyl-2-carbamate (114)

which, on acidic deprotection, yielded 1-(6-bromo-2-(1,1-dimethylallyl)-1*H*-indol-3-yl)propan-2-amine hydrochloride (**104**).



Scheme 12. Synthesis of compound 104^a

^aReagents: (a) Nitroethane, NH₄Ac, reflux, 7 h; (b) NaBH₄, BF₃·Et₂O, THF, reflux, 4 h; (c) di*tert*-butyl dicarbonate, Et₃N, CH₂Cl₂, room temperature, 24 h; (d) (1) *tert*-butyl hypochlorite, Et₃N, THF, -78 °C, 45 min; (2) prenyl-9-BBN, THF, room temperature, 3 h; (3) NaOH, H₂O₂, 1 h; (e) HCl, Et₂O, 0 °C, 24 h, recrystallized from *i*-PrOH/Et₂O.

Scheme 13 summarizes the synthesis of compounds 91 and 92. The *N*-alkyl analogs of dFBr (32) were synthesized following a similar route where oxalyl chloride was reacted with 6-bromoindole to yield the glyoxylyl chloride, which was further treated with the appropriate amine, *iso*-propylamine and benzylamine, respectively, to yield the corresponding glyoxylamides (115, 116) which, on reduction with borane dimethylsulfide complex, yielded the respective tryptamines (117, 118). Further treatment of 117 and 118 with di-*tert*-butyl dicarbonate in the presence of Et₃N to yielded the Boc-protected tryptamines (119, 120) which were treated with

freshly prepared prenyl-9-BBN in the presence of *tert*-butyl hypochlorite and Et₃N to yield the *tert*-butyl-2-(6-bromo-2-(1,1-dimethylallyl)-1*H*-indol-3-yl)ethyl-*N*-isopropylcarbamate (121) and *tert*-butyl-2-(6-bromo-2-(1,1-dimethylallyl)-1*H*-indol-3-yl)ethyl-*N*-benzylcarbamate (122), respectively. Compound 121 was deprotected and converted to an HCl salt to yield *N*-iso-propyl-6-bromo-2-(1,1-dimethylallyl)tryptamine hydrochloride (91), while 122 was deprotected by using TFA and converted into a oxalate salt to yield *N*-benzyl-6-bromo-2-(1,1-dimethylallyl)tryptamine hydrochloride (92). It was observed that the bulkier *N*-alkyl substituent, benzyl group compared to the isopropyl group, lowered the yield of the various reactions involved in the reaction scheme.

Scheme 13. Synthesis of compounds 91 and 92^a



^aReagents: Compound **91** (a) (1) oxalyl chloride, Et₂O, -15 °C, 15 min, room temperature, 2 h; (2) *iso*-propylamine, room temperature, overnight; (b) BH₃·S(CH₃)₂, THF, reflux, 5 h; (c) di-*tert*-butyl dicarbonate, Et₃N, DMF, room temperature, overnight; (d) (1) *tert*-butyl hypochlorite, Et₃N, THF, -78 °C, 45 min; (2) prenyl-9-BBN, THF, room temperature, 4 h; (3) NaOH, H₂O₂, 1 h; (e) HCl, EtOAc, 0 °C, 24 h, recrystallized from MeOH.

Compound **92** (a) (1) oxalyl chloride, Et₂O, -10 °C, 5 min, room temperature, 2 h; (2) benzylamine, room temperature, 3 h; (b) BH₃·S(CH₃)₂, THF, reflux, 6 h; (c) di-*tert*-butyl dicarbonate, Et₃N, DMF, room temperature, 24 h; (d) (1) *tert*-butyl hypochlorite, Et₃N, THF, -78 °C, 45 min; (2) prenyl-9-BBN, THF, room temperature, 6 h; (3) NaOH, H₂O₂, 1 h; (f) (1) TFA, anhydrous CH₂Cl₂, room temperature 6 h; (2) oxalic acid, Et₂O, recrystallized from *i*-PrOH.
Scheme 14 summarizes the synthesis of compounds 93 and 94 where oxalyl chloride was reacted with 6-bromoindole (46) to yield the glyoxylyl chloride, which was further treated with methylamine to yield *N*-methyl-6-bromo-1*H*-indol-3-glyoxylamide (123). This, on reduction with a borane dimethylsulfide complex, yielded N-methyl-6-bromotryptamine (35). Further treatment with di-tert-butyl dicarbonate in the presence of Et₃N to yielded tert-butyl-2-(6-bromo-1H-indol-3-yl)ethyl-N-methylcarbamate (61) which was treated with freshly prepared prenyl 9-BBN¹⁷⁷ in the presence of *tert*-butyl hypochlorite and Et₃N to yield *tert*-butyl-2-(6-bromo-2-(1,1dimethylallyl)-1*H*-indol-3-yl)ethyl-*N*-methylcarbamate (**124**). This product was further methylated at the indole 1-position with iodomethane in the presence of NaH to yield tert-butyl-2-(6-bromo-1-methyl-2-(1,1-dimethylallyl)-indol-3-yl)ethyl-*N*-methylcarbamate (125), which was deprotected and converted to an HCl salt to yield N-methyl-6-bromo-1-methyl-2-(1,1dimethylallyl)tryptamine hydrochloride (93). In a similar manner, 124 was alkylated with benzyl bromide in the presence of NaH to yield tert-butyl-2-(6-bromo-1-benzyl-2-(1,1-dimethylallyl)indol-3-yl)ethyl-N-methylcarbamate (126), which was deprotected by TFA and converted to an oxalate salt to yield N-methyl-6-bromo-1-benzyl-2-(1,1-dimethylallyl)tryptamine hydrogen oxalate (94).

Scheme 14. Synthesis of compound 93 and 94^a



^aReagents: (a) (1) oxalyl chloride, Et₂O, 0 °C, 2 h; (2) methylamine, room temperature, 2 h; (b) BH₃·S(CH₃)₂, THF, reflux, 6 h; (c) di-*tert*-butyl dicarbonate, Et₃N, DMF, room temperature, 24 h; (d) (1) *tert*-butyl hypochlorite, Et₃N, THF, -78 °C, 45 min; (2) prenyl-9-BBN, THF, room temperature, 2 h; (3) NaOH, H₂O₂, 1 h; (e) (1) NaH, DMF, 0 °C, 30 min; (2) CH₃I, 1.5 h; (f) HCl, EtOAc, 0 °C, 7 h, recrystallized from MeOH; (g) (1) NaH, DMF, 0 °C, 45 min; (2) benzylbromide, room temperature, 5.5 h; (h) (1) TFA, CH₂Cl₂, 0 °C, 2.5 h; (2) oxalic acid, Et₂O, recrystallized from *i*-PrOH.

Various unsuccessful attempts were made to synthesize compound **95** (Figure **17**). The problem reaction was the attachment of the 2-position dimethylallyl group in the presence of the 1-

position substitution or vice versa. Various conditions were tried but none yielded the *N*-methylethanamine side chain at the 1-position of the indole ring. While attempting the synthesis of **95**, biological results for compound **86** were obtained (Table **4**) which showed that the *N*,*N*-dimethyl analog of **40** was active (see discussion); thus compound **127** was proposed. On similar lines, compound **96** was modified to its *N*,*N*-dimethyl analog, **129**. Scheme **15** summarizes the synthesis of compound **127**.



5-Bromoindole (**129**) was brominated in presence of bromine to yield 3,5-dibromoindole (**130**),¹⁹² which was further treated with freshly prepared prenyl 9-BBN in the presence of Et₃N to yield 5-bromo-2-(1,1-dimethylallyl)-1*H*-indole (**131**)^{179,193} Compound **131** was alkylated at the 1-position by *N*,*N*-dimethylaminoethyl chloride hydrochloride in the presence of NaH followed by salt formation to yield *N*,*N*-dimethyl-5-bromo-2-(1,1-dimethylallyl)isotryptamine hydrogen oxalate (**127**).

Scheme 15. Synthesis of compound 127^a



^aReagent: (a) Br₂, DMF, light protected, room temperature, 12 h; (b) prenyl-9-BBN, Et₃N, THF, room temperature, 4 h; (c) (1) NaH, DMF, 0 °C, 30 min; (2) *N*,*N*-dimethylaminoethyl chloride hydrochloride, K*t*BuO, KI, reflux, 17 h; (3) oxalic acid, Et₂O, recrystallized from MeOH/Et₂O.

Scheme 16 summarizes the unsuccessful attempt to synthesize the benzimidazole analog 128. Various unsuccessful attempts were made to attach the *N*,*N*-dimethylethanmine side chain to the 5-bromo-2-(1,1-dimethtylallyl)-benzo[*d*]imidazole moiety. Scheme 16, however, provided a route for the synthesis of 5-bromo-2-(1,1-dimethtylallyl)-benzo[*d*]imidazole (136). The synthesis of the benzimidazole analog (136) was discontinued when it was found that the N-H of the indole was important towards the potency at the nACh receptors (see discussion below)

Scheme 16. Attempted synthesis of compound 130^a



^aReagent: (a) LDE, THF, dimethyl sulphate, -78° C to 0° C, 1.5 h; (b) oxalyl chloride, CH₂Cl₂, DMF, room temperature, 16 h; (c) DCC, DMAP, CH₂Cl₂, reflux, 19 h; (d) Fe, HOAc, reflux, 7 h.

Based on the results obtained for compound **102** (see discussion below) two more compounds; **137** and **138**, were synthesized to develop pairs of molecules in different classes of compounds (e.g., **33** and **137**; **38** and **138**).



Scheme 17 summarizes the synthesis of compound 137. The indole (139) was brominated in the presence of bromine to yield 3-bromoindole (140) which was further treated with freshly prepared prenyl-9-BBN in the presence of Et_3N which undergoes a nucleophile substitution reaction where the 3-bromo substituent activates the 2-postion of the indole ring to yield 2-(1,1-dimethylallyl)-1*H*-indole (141). Compound 141 was further treated with dimethylamine and formaldehyde in a Mannich fashion to yield the corresponding gramine that was converted to the oxalate salt to yield 2-(1,1-dimethylallyl)gramine oxalate (137).





^aReagents: (a) Liquid Br₂, DMF, room temperature, 24 h; (b) prenyl-9-BBN, THF, Et₃N room temperature, 5 h; (c) (1) dimethylamine, HCHO, room temperature, overnight; (2) oxalic acid, Et₂O, recrystallized from *i*-PrOH.

Scheme 18 summarizes the synthesis of compound 138. The synthetic route was similar to Scheme 8 which yielded compounds 37 and 39. Sonagashira coupling was performed in the presence of the corresponding alkyne and ligand-based palladium catalysts provided 5-bromo-2-(1-pentynyl)aniline (142). The corresponding alkyne was treated with ZnI_2 to effect cyclization to yield 6-bromo-2-propyl-1*H*-indole (143). Compound 143 was treated with dimethylamine and formaldehyde in the presence of ZnI_2 to undergo a Mannich reaction to yield the corresponding

gramine, which was converted to an oxalate salt to yield 6-bromo-2-propylgramine hydrogen oxalate (138).





^aReagents: (a) 1-pentyne, CuI, PdCl₂(PPh₃)₂, Et₃N, THF, room temperature, overnight; (b) ZnI₂, Toluene, reflux, 2.5 h; (c) (1) Formic acid, dimethylamine, ZnI₂, EtOH, room temperature, 24 h; (2) oxalic acid, Et₂O, recrystallized from *i*-PrOH.

Based on the results obtained for compound **98** (see discussion below), compound **144** was prepared. Scheme **19** summarizes the synthesis of compound **144**. Parsons; et al.¹⁹⁴ in 2011, published a method to synthesize 5,6-dibromo indoles as an important building block for the synthesis of various alkaloids. We were able to replicate the two-step reaction where the commercially available methyl-1*H*-indole-3-carboxylate (**145**) was brominated using bromine and HOAc as the solvent to obtain methyl-5,6-dibromo-1*H*-indole-3-carboxylate (**146**) with a melting point matching the literature.¹⁹⁴ This was one of the few reactions ever reported to synthesize a 5,6-dibrominated indoles. Decarboxylation was achieved by performing a

microwave-assisted reaction to obtain 5,6-dibromo-1*H*-indole (147).¹⁹⁴ Oxalyl chloride was reacted with 5,6-dibromo-1*H*-indole to yield the glyoxylyl chloride, which was further treated with methylamine to yield *N*-methyl-5,6-bromo-1*H*-indol-3-glyoxylamide (148). This compound, upon reduction with a borane dimethylsulfide complex, yielded *N*-methyl-5,6-dibromotryptamine (149). Further treatment with di-*tert*-butyl dicarbonate in the presence of Et_3N yielded *tert*-butyl-2-(5,6-dibromo-1*H*-indol-3-yl)ethyl-*N*-methylcarbamate (150), which was treated with freshly prepared prenyl 9-BBN in the presence of *tert*-butyl hypochlorite and Et_3N to yield *tert*-butyl-2-(5,6-dibromo-2-(1,1-dimethylallyl)-1*H*-indol-3-yl)ethyl-*N*-methylcarbamate (151). Compound 151 was deprotected and converted to an HCl salt to yield *N*-methyl-5,6-dibromo-2-(1,1-dimethylallyl)tryptamine hydrochloride (144).

Scheme 19. Synthesis of compound 144^a



^aReagents: (a) Liquid Br₂, HOAc, room temperature, 16 h; (b) KOH, MeOH, H₂O, THF, MW 100 W, 150 °C, 1 h; (c) (1) oxalyl chloride, Et₂O, -5 °C 15 min, reflux 5 h; (2) methylamine, room temperature, overnight; (d) BH₃·S(CH₃)₂, THF, reflux, 7 h; (e) di-*tert*-butyl dicarbonate, Et₃N, DMF, room temperature, 24 h; (f) (1) *tert*-butyl hypochlorite, Et₃N, THF, -78 °C, 1.5 h; (2) prenyl-9-BBN, THF, room temperature, 6 h; (3) NaOH, H₂O₂, 2 h; (g) HCl, EtOAc, 0 °C, 24 h, recrystallized from *i*-PrOH.

B. Pharmacology

Function data for dFBr (32) analogs are provided in Table 5.

Table 5. Effect of dFBr (**32**) and its elaborated analogs on the action (potentiation or antagonism) of ACh action at the human $\alpha 4\beta 2$ nACh receptors.

| Compound | Potentiation | Inhibition | Half maximum potentiation concentration (EC ₅₀) (µM) (± SEM) | Half maximum inhibition concentration (IC ₅₀) (µM) (± SEM) |
|-----------|--------------|------------|---|--|
| dFBr (32) | + | + | 0.33 ± 0.52 | 150 ± 0.2 |
| 86 | + | - | 9.7 (2.3-17.1) ^b | 146.5 (15.9-280) ^b |
| 87 | - | + | - | $2.48(1.6-3.3)^{b}$ |
| 91 | | | DA ^a | DA |
| 92 | | | DA | DA |
| 93 | + | + | 4.30 ± 1.4 | 35.0 ± 2.0 |
| 94 | | | DA | DA |
| 97 | + | + | 7.40 ± 0.1 | $14.0 \pm .8$ |
| 98 | + | + | 0.90 ± 0.5 | 32.0 ± 0.6 |
| 99 | + | - | 2.40 ± 0.2 | 25.0 ± 21.0 |
| 100 | + | - | 0.90 ± 0.1 | 19.5 ± 0.9 |
| 102 | - | + | - | 1.8 ± 0.7 |
| 103 | | | DA | DA |
| 104 | | | DA | DA |
| 127 | + | + | 11.2 ± 0.5 | 71.0 ± 1.0 |
| 137 | - | + | - | 17.9 (3.1-32.6) ^b |
| 138 | - | + | - | 17.8 (3.1-32.6) ^b |
| 144 | | | DA | DA |

^aDA = Data currently unavailable, ^b95% confidence limits, n = 4. Note: where both potentiation and inhibition was observed, inhibitory potencies (IC₅₀ values) are only estimates.

C. Discussion

Compounds **86-100**, **102-104**, **127**, **137**, **138** and **144** represent elaborated analogs of dFBr (**32**) (Table **5**; Figure **16** and **17**); that is, they possess substituents uncommon to dFBr (**32**). Comparing dFBr (**32**) with **86** (Figure **18**; $EC_{50} = 9.7 \mu$ M), it is evident that the *N*,*N*-dimethyl tertiary amine **86** is around 30-fold less potent than the secondary amine of dFBr (**32**). This suggests that either the tertiary amine or steric bulk at the terminal amine may cause the decrease in potency compared to dFBr (**32**). Interestingly with respect to effect, **86** enhanced the action of ACh at α 4 β 2 nACh receptors by 300% (Figure **18**). This is similar to what was found for dFBr (**32**) itself.⁹ Hence, N-methylation of dFBr (**32**) decreased its potency, but had no effect on its efficacy.



Figure 18. Biphasic dose-response curve for compound 86 co-applied with 100 μ M ACh on human $\alpha 4\beta 2$ nACh receptors.

Compounds **91**, which has an *N-iso*-propyl substituent, and **92**, which is an *N*-benzyl analog, will help answer questions regarding the tolerance of steric bulk at the amine region of dFBr (**32**). Data have not yet been obtained for compounds **91** and **92**.

The $\alpha 4\beta 2$ nACh receptors are ion channel in nature with ACh being the endogenous ligand. ACh is a quaternary amine; thus, it was worthwhile to check the effect of a quaternary amine analog of dFBr (i.e., **87**) on the activity of ACh at the $\alpha 4\beta 2$ nACh receptors. It was found that compound **87** failed to potentiate the action of ACh, but was a relatively potent antagonist (Table **5**; IC₅₀ = 2.5 μ M).



Figure 19. Initial elaboration of dFBr (**32**). Data are from Table **5**. Certain analogs did not potentiate the effect of ACh at nACh receptors, but blocked the effect of ACh.

Given its unusually high potency as an inhibitor, coupled with its quaternary nature, **87** might be a competitive antagonist. Its affinity at $\alpha 4\beta 2$ nACh receptors remains to be measured.

The gramine analog of dFBr (102) also showed no potentiation of action, but inhibited ACh action (Table 5, Figure 19; $IC_{50} = 1.8 \mu M$). It might be proposed that the binding modes of dFBr (32) and 102 can be different and that 102 might be a member of an altogether different mechanistic class of compounds. Compound 102 was also further studied to see what substituents can be tolerated and yet retain the inhibition profile of the gramine analog of dFBr (32). The two series; 32 and 102 were studied to bring about a parallel structural change. A parallel change in structure should result in a parallel change in potency if the two series are behaving in the same manner. Figure 20 summarizes the compounds that were examined to rationally understand the effect of substituents on the action of ACh. It is rather interesting that gramine 102 is an antagonist that lacks the PAM action of dFBr (32). Apparently, the 6-bromo group is neither a requirement for PAM action (comparing 33 with 32) nor a requirement for blocking action (comparing 137 with 102) (Figure 20). But, whereas the *gem*-dimethyl groups appear required for PAM action of 32, they are not required for the blocking action (i.e., both 38 and 138 behaved only as blockers with no action as PAMs).

It might be concluded that shortening the tryptamine chain of dFBr-like compounds and not the presence of the *N*,*N*-dimethylamine accounts for the elimination of PAM action, because the *N*,*N*-dimethyl counterpart of dFBr (**32**), i.e., **86**, retains such action. Likewise, comparing the *des*-bromo analog **33** with *des*-bromo gramine analog **137**, it is apparent that the 6-bromo substituent is not required for potency as an inhibitor for dFBr-like compounds, whereas the lack of a 6-bromo substituent as in the *des*-bromogramine analog **137** decreases potency as an

inhibitor of ACh action. The tryptamine series and the gramine series appear to act very differently (i.e., some tryptamines lack PAM action, whereas all gramines examined lacked this action) and the SAR for their actions appear independent. Gramine analogs should be further explored to optimize this structurally diverse class of compounds behaving as blockers (potential NAMs?) at the $\alpha 4\beta 2$ nACh receptors.



Figure 20. Comparison of the two series of analogs; dFBr (32) and 102. Data for 32, 33, and 38 are from Table 4; data for 102, 137, 138 are from Table 5.

Comparing compounds **97**, which has a piperidine substituent at the 3-position, **102**, which is a gramine analog, and **103**, which is a homotryptamine analog of dFBr (**32**), will help us understand the effect of changing tryptamine chain length. Comparing dFBr (**32**) with compound

97 (Table **5**; EC₅₀ = 7.4 μ M), it can be hypothesized that the 20-fold decrease in potency could be attributed to the slight elongation of the distance between the terminal amine and the indole nucleus (2-carbon length for dFBr *vs* the 2.5-carbon length for the piperidine moiety), or the α substitution on the tryptamine chain. Thus, compound **103**, which is the homotryptamine analog, and **104**, which is a α -methyl substituted analog, respectively, will be able to address each question individually to provide insight into the chain length and α -substitution tolerance on the dFBr (**32**) and potency.

It is known that the 6-bromo substituent of dFBr (**32**) makes a substantial contribution to activity. To further understand whether the effect of the 6-bromo substituent is due to a steric or electronic effect, compounds **99**, which is a 6-methyl analog, and **100**, which is a 6-trifluoromethyl analog, were synthesized. Comparing **32**, **99** and **100** (Figure **21**) it is unclear whether an electronic or steric effect is predominant for activity. Additional compounds will be required to conduct a thorough QSAR study.

Compound **98** in which the position of the bromo substituent was changed, did not substantially affect potency (Figure **21**; Table **5**; $EC_{50} = 0.9 \mu M$). This suggests that there could be steric/electronic properties of the 5-position substituent that can be explored. The similarity in potency could be attributed to either steric or electronic properties of the bromo substituent. Also the 5- and 6-bromo compounds can be binding differently to produce their action as a PAM. Data for compound **144** will help answer the question of bulk tolerance at the 5- and 6-position of dFBr (**32**). It will also help understand if the 5- and 6-bromo analogs bind similarly at the receptor site. The 5-bromo analog **98** is an early example of exploration of the positions on the indolic ring that can be tolerated. Also with the 6-bromo and the 5-bromo analog being almost

equipotent (Table 5; 32; $EC_{50} = 0.33 \ \mu M$, 98; $EC_{50} = 0.87 \ \mu M$), by having both substituents in one compound (146), an increase in potency might be seen. Data for compound 144 has not yet been obtained.

The importance of the N-H of the indole nucleus was addressed. Compound **93** (Table **5**; $EC_{50} = 4.3 \mu$ M), N₁-methyl dFBr, was almost 13-fold less potent than dFBr (Table **5**; **32**; $EC_{50} = 0.33 \mu$ M) suggesting that the N-H of the indole might be involved as a hydrogen-bond donor making an important hydrogen bond interaction with the amino acids in the receptor. This hypothesis was further strengthened when compound **127** (Table **5**; $EC_{50} = 11.2 \mu$ M) was found to be almost 34 times less potent than dFBr (**32**). However, the lower potency of compound **127** could also be due to the translocation of the indole nitrogen atom and/or the presence of a substitution on the tertiary amine. However, the potency of **127** was similar to that of N-methyl dFBr (**86**; $EC_{50} = 9.7 \mu$ M). The comparison of compounds **32**, **93** and **127** helps us understand that a hydrogen bond donor might be important for the potency of dFBr (**32**) (Figure **21**).



144, Data not available

Figure 21. Elaborated analogs of dFBr (**32**). Data are from Table **5**. Certain analogs did not potentiate the effect of ACh at ACh receptors.

Radiolabelled dFBr

Compound **40** was used as an intermediate and submitted for commercial tritiation to obtain $[^{3}H]dFBr$ (in Dr. Jonathan B. Cohen's laboratory at Harvard Medical School).¹⁹⁵ The tritiated dFBr (**152**) is the first radiolabelled positive allosteric modulator at $\alpha 4\beta 2$ nACh receptors. All

the studies performed on dFBr (**32**) involved only the CNS $\alpha 4\beta 2$ nACh receptors, while the peripheral muscle type receptor was not characterized. At the muscle type $\alpha 4\beta 2\gamma \delta$ ACh receptor, it was found that dFBr (**32**) does not activate nor potentiate the ACh response when expressed in *Xenopus* oocytes. Instead it was found to be a potent inhibitor (IC₅₀ = 1 µM). dFBr (**32**) was also found to reversibly inhibit the binding of [³H]phencyclidine (IC₅₀ = 4 µM) with higher affinity in the desensitized state than in the resting state ([³H]ACh, IC₅₀ = 1 mM).¹⁹⁵ Photolabeling studies performed with [³H]dFBr (**152**) highlight certain amino acids in the ion channel (M2 helix): in the ACh binding orthosteric site on the α -subunit (Tyr93, Tyr190 and Tyr198) as well to a site near the orthosteric ACh binding site on the γ subunit (Tyr105, Tyr111 and Tyr117) in the presence and absence of ACh. This data shows dFBr as a potent inhibitor of muscle-type $\alpha 4\beta 2\gamma \delta$ ACh receptor that acts as a channel blocker by binding in the channel pore. Studies are underway to identify possible binding site(s) for the PAM at $\alpha 4\beta 2$ nACh receptor.



[³H] dFBr (152)

D. Antagonism of the ACh response

In biological studies dFBr (32) produces a biphasic dose-response curve (Figure 8). The biphasic response provides information about the potentiation (EC₅₀) as well as inhibition (IC₅₀) of ACh's effect. The biphasic dose-response curve has an overlay between the potentiation and inhibition profile and sometimes it is relatively difficult to define the two regions. Ideally, the biphasic dose-response curve should have a wide concentration range and a broad plateau to allow a definite demarcation of the potentiation and inhibition profile. Some analogs that were tested did not allow for an accurate estimation of the potentiation and inhibition profile. A more accurate IC_{50} value can be obtained for those compounds that only produced an antagonist effect. For purpose of establishing a preliminary SAR for the antagonistic action of dFBr (32), a high standard deviation was accepted and the IC_{50} values were compared. The aim of examining structural analogs of dFBr (32) was to determine similarities and differences for agonist vs antagonist SAR. Figure 22 summarizes dFBr (32) and its analogs. Comparing dFBr (32) with 37, which has a 2-methylpropyl substituent, and 36, with a 2-propenyl substituent, it is evident that the gem-dimethyl groups are not required for the antagonist action at $\alpha 4\beta 2$ nACh receptors. In fact, compound 38 (lacking the methyl group of 37) was as potent as 37 as an antagonist. Removal of the 6-bromo group of dFBr (i.e., 33) resulted in almost a 12-fold increase in inhibitory action. The removal of the 6-bromo group of 37 (i.e., 44) seems to be tolerated and the resulting compound is 3-fold more potent than 37 as an inhibitor. N-Methyl dFBr (86) showed no change in potency compared to dFBr (32) while the gramine analog 102 was almost 80-fold more potent as an inhibitor. Thus, the gramine analog 102 attributes its relative potency as an antagonist to the shortening of the tryptamine side chain rather than to the N,N-dimethyl amine found in **86**. In the gramine series (compounds **102**, **137** and **138**), it can be concluded that the removal of the 6-bromo group is tolerated and is not required for action. Similarly the *gem*-dimethyl groups are not essential for potency as an antagonist (comparing **137** and **138**).



Figure 22. Analogs of dFBr (**32**) comparing the inhibition of the ACh-induced response. Each arrow symbolizes a structural change. Data are from Tables **4** and **5**.

As seen in Figure 22, comparing dFBr (32) and quaternary amine 87, it is seen that the 60-fold increase in potency of 87 is due to the quaternary amine, suggesting that the electronic nature of the amine is important towards the activity (inhibition), along with greater bulk at the amine region. An observation that needs to be further explored. The 1-methyl analog of dFBr (93) was shown to have a 10-fold decrease in PAM potency (Table 6; $EC_{50} = 4.3 \mu M$), but an improved inhibition potency by almost 4-fold (Table 6; $IC_{50} = 35 \mu M$). So it can be predicted that the steric bulk at the N₁-position is not favored for potentiation but it is tolerated for inhibition of ACh action at $\alpha 4\beta 2$ nACh receptors. Comparing dFBr (32) and the 1-methyl analog (93), it can also be concluded that the hydrogen bond acceptor property of the substituted N₁-position of the indole could be favoring the inhibition of the ACh-induced action at the $\alpha 4\beta 2$ nACh receptors.

| Compound | Potentiation | Inhibition | Half maximum potentiation concentration (EC ₅₀) (µM) | Half maximum inhibition concentration (IC ₅₀) (µM) |
|-----------|--------------|------------|---|--|
| dFBr (32) | + | + | $0.33\pm0.52*$ | $150 \pm 0.2*$ |
| 86 | + | + | 9.70 (2.3-17.1)♦ | 146.5 (15.9-280)♦ |
| 87 | - | + | NP^{a} | 2.48 (1.6-3.3)♦ |
| 93 | + | + | $4.30 \pm 1.4*$ | $35.0 \pm 2.0*$ |
| 97 | + | + | $7.40\pm0.1*$ | $14.0\pm0.8*$ |
| 102 | - | + | NP | $1.8\pm0.7*$ |
| 137 | - | + | NP | 17.9 (3.1-32.6) ♦ |
| 138 | - | + | NP | 17.8 (3.1-32.6) ♦ |

Table 6. Effect of dFBr (**32**) and its analogs on inhibition of ACh action at the human $\alpha 4\beta 2$ nACh receptors.

^aNP = No potentiation of the action of ACh; * = SEM; \blacklozenge = 95% confidence limits; n = 4.

It can be concluded that the structural features required for potentiation action and inhibition action are not identical, as summarized in Table 7. Nevertheless, it is realized that the 'inhibitory' effect is in need of further study. That is, the nature of 'inhibition' is unknown at this time. Several dramatic structural changes have been made (e.g., tryptamine *vs* quaternary amine *vs* gramine). Certain compounds might produce their inhibitory effect like dFBr (**32**), presumably by acting as a channel blocker; others might represent NAMs, or perhaps competitive antagonists that bind at the orthosteric site. This needs to be investigated.

Table 7. Summary of structural requirements for potentiation/inhibition of the ACh response at the $\alpha 4\beta 2$ nACh receptors.

| Substituent | Potentiators | Inhibitors |
|------------------------------|------------------------------|-------------------------------|
| 6-Bromo | Required for potency but not | Not required for potency or |
| | action | action |
| gem-Dimethyl | Required for action | Not required |
| 3-Position carbon chain | 2-Carbon (tryptamine) | 1-Carbon (gramine) |
| | | Quaternary amine might be |
| M. Caller of the second | | optimal |
| N-Substituent | Secondary amine optimal | Secondary and tertiary amine |
| | | are equipotent |
| | Indolic NH required for | Bulk tolerated at the indolic |
| N ₁ -Substitution | activity | NH |
| | | |

The results shown in Table 7 can be a good starting point to develop functionally different series of analogs as potentiators or inhibitors of the ACh response at the $\alpha 4\beta 2$ nACh receptors.

VI. Conclusions

des-Formylflustrabromine (dFBr, **32**) has been identified as a positive allosteric modulator (PAM) at $\alpha 4\beta 2$ nACh receptors that potentiates the actions of the neurotransmitter ACh. It was isolated in small quantities from a marine organism: *Flustra foliacea*. The present investigation was to identify what structural features of dFBr (**32**) are required for the action of dFBr as a PAM. The 'deconstruction-reconstruction-elaboration' approach also identified a possible pharmacophore for a positive allosteric modulator action at $\alpha 4\beta 2$ nACh receptors.

It is worth mentioning that the *in vitro* studies were performed on oocytes. The electrophysiological data obtained from the oocytes studies should be thoroughly examined and various factors such as temperature, experimental conditions, and functioning of the oocytes should be considered. Also the data obtained from electrophysiology should be used as a good starting point for performing *in vivo* studies which has a better correlation with how the drug behaves in humans.

One of the aims of this study was to identify critical structural features of dFBr for potentiation of ACh at $\alpha 4\beta 2$ nACh receptors. Figure 23 summarizes the structural features required for action/potency. The 'deconstructed' analogs of the 2-position showed that double bond saturation (i.e., 34) is tolerated. This provides a synthetic advantage for future dFBr (32) analogs. The *gem*-dimethyl groups are required along with a quaternary carbon at the 2-position (i.e., 39) for potency. The amine region was investigated and it was shown that the secondary amine of dFBr (32) was optimal. The primary amine counterpart 40 was half as potent as the parent analog. The *N*,*N*-dimethyl tertiary amine analog 86 was almost 30 times less potent than dFBr (32). This might be attributed to the basicity of the amine or the steric bulk at the amine region. The quaternary amine 87 was studied to see if the quaternary amine and its cation- π interaction similar to the interaction of ACh would have any effect. It was shown to be an antagonist, and was relatively potent. The antagonistic action of the analog can be because of a different mode of binding. The tryptamine side chain was examined and it was found that shortening of the chain abolishes potentiation of action of ACh, but the compound retains action as an antagonist. A possible explanation could be a different mode of binding. The development of the gramine analogs (i.e., 102, 137, and 138) provides some preliminary information on the structural requirements for their antagonist action at α 4 β 2 nACh receptors.



Figure 23. SAR for dFBr (32) at $\alpha 4\beta 2$ nACh receptors.



Figure 24. Preliminary SAR for antagonist action of dFBr (32) analogs at $\alpha 4\beta 2$ nACh receptors.

The piperidine analog 97 was synthesized to examine a constrained side chain. The piperidine analog 97 possesses two features of interest; the distance of the amine from the indole nucleus, and branching of the 3-position tryptamine side chain. The secondary amines of dFBr (32) with *i*-propyl (i.e., **91**) and benzyl (i.e., **92**) substituents were synthesized to explore the region for steric bulk tolerance. The indolic N-H was investigated and it was seen that the hydrogen-bond donor is required at the receptor site, shown by the almost 10-fold decreased potency of 93 compared to **32**. The 1-methyl substitution of **93** provided information about the indolic N-H and steric bulk. Although a methyl substituent is not too bulky in volume, a benzyl substituent (i.e., 94) was synthesized which might provide information about any region for bulk tolerance at the indolic N-H region. The isotryptamine analog 127 was similar in potency compared to N-methyl dFBr (86), which supports data for compound 93 suggesting that the N-H of the indole is optimal for potency. The 6-bromo substituent of dFBr (32) was investigated. Removal of the 6-bromo group was a major synthetic advantage for synthesis of 2-position substituted analogs of dFBr (32), although removal of the 6-bromo group reduced the activity by 20-fold; thus, the 6-bromo group is required for potency but not for action. The steric and electronic properties of the 6bromo substituent were further explored. The 6-methyl analog (i.e., 99) and the 6-trifluoromethyl analog (i.e., 100) explored the importance of the 6-bromo group, and comparing them, it is still unclear whether electronic or steric properties are important for the potentiation of the AChinduced response. Additional analogs are required for developing a QSAR for studying the electronic and steric effect for PAM action. The 5-position of dFBr (32), which is para- to the indolic N-H, was also examined and it was found that a 5-bromo substituent is tolerated; thus, compound 144 can possibly have a synergistic/additive effect towards the potency by having 5,6dibromo substituents. Compound **152** will be a useful tool to perform binding experiments to understand the binding sites. In conclusion a pharmacophore of dFBr (**32**) was developed.



Figure 25. Minimal structural features required for the PAM action of dFBr (**32**). This simplified structure might represent a pharmacophore for such action.

There is growing interest in the discovery of PAMs which are selective for $\alpha 4$ -, $\alpha 2$, or $\beta 2$ containing subunits, and one such compound; NS9283 (**153**) has been found to be selective for the $\alpha 2$ - and $\alpha 4$ - containing nACh receptors. Compound **153** is a potent PAM at the $(\alpha 2)_3(\beta 2)_2$, $(\alpha 2)_3(\beta 4)_2$, and $(\alpha 4)_3(\beta 2)_2$ nACh receptors (EC₅₀ = 1.3 µM, EC₅₀ = 1.7 µM, EC₅₀ = 3.3 µM respectively).¹⁹⁶ Attaining subunit selectivity and progressing towards subtype selectivity is the need of the hour for understanding the role of various subtypes of the nACh receptors.



Binding experiments with tritiated dFBr will further help understand the binding of dFBr (32)like ligands at the $\alpha 4\beta 2$ nACh receptors. Compound 152, being a radiolabeled ligand, can be used for high-throughput screening to identify other allosteric modulators for the $\alpha 4\beta 2$ nACh receptors thus further helping in identification of possible new leads.

VII. Experimental

A. Synthesis

Melting points (mp) were measured on a Thomas-Hoover melting point apparatus using a glass capillary tube and are uncorrected. ¹H NMR spectra were recorded on a Varian 400 MHz spectrometer using tetramethylsilane (TMS) as an internal standard. Peak positions are given in parts per million (δ). UHPLC-MS were recorded on a Perkin Elmer Flexar UHLPC with AxION 2 Time of Flight (TOF) Mass Spectrometer and the molecular weight of the compounds was within 0.05% of calculated values. Elemental analysis was performed by Atlantic Microlab Inc. (Norcross, GA) for the elements indicated and the results are within 0.4% of calculated values. Infrared spectra were obtained on a Thermo Nicolet iS10 FT-IR. Flash chromatography was performed on CombiFlash Companion/TS (Telodyne Isco Inc., Lincoln, NE) using packed silica gel (Silica Gel 230-400 mesh) columns (RediSep Rf Normal-phase Silica Flash Column, Teledyne Isco Inc., Lincoln, NE). All reactions were monitored by thin-layer chromatography (TLC) on silica gel GHLF plates (250 μ, 2.5 x 10 cm; Analtech Inc., Newark, DE).

N-Methyl-6-bromotryptamine (35). Compound 35 was prepared as described.⁹ Borane dimethylsulfide (10.1M in THF, 3.63 mL) was added in a dropwise manner at 60 °C to a stirred solution of *N*-methyl-6-bromo-1*H*-indol-3-gloxylamide (123) (3.4 g, 12 mmol) in anhydrous THF (35 mL). The reaction mixture was heated at reflux for 3 h, cooled to room temperature, quenched with HCl (2N, to pH 1), and extracted with EtOAc (2 x 30 mL). The aqueous portion was basified with NaOH (3M, to pH 8) and extracted with CH₂Cl₂ (3 x 40 mL). The combined organic portion was washed with H₂O (2 x 50 mL), brine (50 mL), dried (Na₂SO₄), and evaporated under reduced pressure to yield 1.4 g (49%) of **35** as an off-white colored solid: mp 108-110 °C (lit.⁹ mp 112-114 °C); ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 2.38 (s, 3H, CH₃), 2.85 (m, 4H, CH₂), 6.95-7.41 (m, 4H, Ar), 8.0 (s, 1H, indolic NH).

N-Methyl-6-Bromo-2-*sec*-butyltryptamine Hydrogen Oxalate (37). Compound 37 was prepared using a literature procedure for a similar compound.¹⁷⁸ Borane dimethylsulfide (10.1M in THF, 0.4 mL, 4.5 mmol) was added in a dropwise manner at 60 °C to a stirred solution of *N*-methyl-6-bromo-2-*sec*-butyl-1*H*-indol-3-glyoxylamide (66) (0.5 g, 1.5 mmol) in anhydrous THF (15 mL). The reaction mixture was allowed to stir at reflux overnight, cooled to 0 °C, quenched with H₂O (4 mL), acidified with HCl (2N, to pH 1), and heated at reflux for 30 min. The THF was evaporated under reduced pressure and the remaining aqueous portion was diluted with H₂O (50 mL) and basified with NaOH (3M, to pH 14) and extracted with CH₂Cl₂ (2 x 20 mL). The combined organic portion was washed with H₂O (2 x 15 mL), dried (Na₂SO₄), and solvent was evaporated under reduced pressure to yield 0.2 g (50%) of the free base of **37** as a yellow oil. Oxalic acid (0.1 g, 0.8 mmol) was added to the solution of free base of **37** in CHCl₃ (3 mL) and

the reaction mixture was allowed to stir at room temperature for 30 min. The precipitate was collected by filtration to yield a white-colored solid which upon recrystallization from *i*-PrOH afforded 0.1 g (43%) of **37** as a white solid: mp 126-129 °C; ¹H NMR (DMSO-d₆) δ 0.70 (t, 3H, CH₃), 0.85-0.87 (m, 3H, CH₃), 1.42-1.50 (m, 2H, CH₂), 2.42 (s, 3H, CH₃), 2.76-2.81 (m, 5H, 2 x CH₂, CH), 6.92 (d, 1H, Ar), 7.24-7.28 (m, 2H, Ar), 10.78 (s, 1H, COOH). Anal. Calcd. (C₁₅H₂₁BrN₂·C₂H₂O₄·0.5H₂O) C, 50.01; H, 5.92; N, 6.86. Found: C, 49.90; H, 5.73; N, 6.68.

N-Methyl-6-Bromo-2-tert-butyltryptamine Hydrochloride (39). Compound 39 was prepared using a literature procedure for a similar compound.¹⁷⁸ Borane dimethylsulfide (10.1M in THF, 0.3 mL, 2.5 mmol) was added in a dropwise manner at 60 °C to a stirred solution of N-methyl-6bromo-2-tert-butyl-1H-indol-3-glyoxylamide (72) (0.3 g, 0.8 mmol) in anhydrous THF (15 mL). The reaction mixture was allowed to stir at reflux for 6 h, cooled to 0 °C, quenched with H₂O (4 mL), acidified with HCl (2N, to pH 1), and heated at reflux for 1 h. The THF was evaporated under reduced pressure and the remaining aqueous portion was diluted with H₂O (50 mL) and extracted with Et₂O (2 x 25 mL). The aqueous portion was basified with NaOH (3M, to pH 9) and extracted with CH₂Cl₂ (3 x 30 mL). The combined organic portion was washed with H₂O (3 x 70 mL), dried (Na₂SO₄), and solvent was evaporated under reduced pressure to yield 0.2 g (78%) of the free base of **39** as a yellow oil. The oil was dissolved in anhydrous Et_2O (15 mL) and cooled to 0 °C. HCl/Et₂O (10 mL) was added and the reaction mixture was allowed to stir overnight. The solvent was evaporated to yield a white solid which was recrystallized from i-PrOH to yield 0.05 g (17%) of **39** as a white solid: mp 246-248 °C; ¹H NMR (DMSO- d_6) δ 1.44 (s, 9H, (CH₃)₃), 2.61 (s, 3H, CH₃), 2.94-2.98 (m, 2H, CH₂), 3.16-3.19 (m, 2H, CH₂), 7.09-7.12 (dd, J = 8.4, 1.7 Hz, 1H, Ar), 7.46 (d, J = 1.7 Hz, 1H, Ar), 7.52-7.54 (d, J = 8.4 Hz, 1H, Ar), 8.87 (br s, 2H, NH₂⁺ aliphatic), 10.76 (s, 1H, indolic NH). Anal. Calcd for (C₁₅H₂₁BrN₂·HCl) C, 52.11; H, 6.41; N, 8.10. Found: C, 52.28; H, 6.42; N, 8.01.

6-Bromo-2-(1,1-dimethylallyl)tryptamine Hydrochloride (40). Gaseous HCl was bubbled into a solution of *tert*-butyl-2-(6-bromo-2-(1,1-dimethylallyl)-1*H*-indol-3-yl)ethylcarbamate (**50**) (90 mg, 0.22 mmol) in anhydrous EtOAc (10 mL) at 0 °C. The reaction mixture was allowed to stir at room temperature for 24 h and the solvent was evaporated to yield a white solid which was recrystallized from EtOAc/MeOH to yield 25 mg (33%) of **40** as white crystals: mp 256-258 °C; ¹H NMR (DMSO-*d*₆) δ 1.49 (s, 6H, (CH₃)₂), 2.85 (t, 2H, CH₂), 3.05 (t, 2H, CH₂), 5.08 (m, 2H, CH), 6.14 (m, 1H, CH), 7.12 (dd, 1H, Ar), 7.50 (m, 2H, Ar), 7.98 (s, 3H, NH₃⁺ aliphatic), 10.76 (s, 1H, indolic NH). Anal. Calcd for (C₁₅H₁₉BrN₂·HCl·0.25H₂O) C, 51.74; H, 5.93; N, 8.05. Found: C, 51.90; H, 5.87; N, 8.00.

N-Methyl-2-*tert*-butyltryptamine Hydrogen Oxalate (43). Compound 43 was prepared using a literature procedure for a similar compound.¹⁹⁷ Lithium aluminum hydride (0.3 g, 6.5 mmol) was suspended in dioxane (10 mL) and heated at reflux. A solution of *N*-methyl-2-*tert*-butyl-1*H*-indol-3-glyoxylamide (58) (0.2 g, 0.7 mmol) was added, and the reaction mixture was allowed to reflux overnight. The reaction mixture was cooled to room temperature, diluted with THF (10 mL) and quenched with MeOH (3 mL) and NaOH (3M, 3 mL). The reaction mixture was filtered and the filtrate was diluted with THF (15 mL) and further heated at reflux for 30 min, the organic solvent was evaporated under reduced pressure to yield a yellow oil. The residue was purified by

column chromatography (silica gel; CH₂Cl₂/MeOH 100:1 to 10:1) to afford 0.05 g (33%) of the free base as a yellow oil. A solution of the free base in anhydrous THF (2 mL) and anhydrous Et₂O (5 mL) was cooled to 0 °C. Saturated oxalic acid solution in anhydrous Et₂O (5 mL) was added and the reaction mixture was allowed to warm to room temperature and stirred overnight. The precipitate was collected by filtration to yield a white-colored solid which upon recrystallization from *i*-PrOH afford 0.03 g (56%) of **43** as white flakes: mp 194-195 °C; ¹H NMR (DMSO-*d*₆) δ 1.43 (s, 9H, (CH₃)₃), 2.64 (s, 3H, CH₃), 2.94 (d, 2H, CH₂), 3.15 (d, 2H, CH₂), 6.96-7.51 (m, 4H, Ar), 10.55 (s, 1H, indolic NH). Anal. Calcd for (C₁₈H₃₀N₂O·C₂H₂O₄·C₃H₈O) C, 63.14; H, 8.49; N, 7.19. Found: C, 62.81; H, 8.46; N, 7.18.

3-[*(E)*-**2-Nitroethenyl]-6-bromo-1***H***-indole (47). Compound 47 was prepared as described.¹⁷⁶ In a 2-neck flask, 1-dimethylamino-2-nitroethylene (1.2 g, 10.2 mmol) was added to a solution of 6-bromoindole (46) (2.0 g, 10.2 mmol) in anhydrous CH₂Cl₂ (10 mL) under a N₂ atmosphere. Trifluoroacetic acid (1 mL) was added and the reaction mixture was allowed to stir at room temperature for 1 h, quenched carefully with a saturated aqueous solution of NaHCO₃ and the residue was collected by filtration and dried to yield 2.4 g (88%) of 47 as a yellow solid: mp 193-195 °C (decomp) (lit.¹⁷⁶ mp not reported); ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) \delta 7.37 (dd,** *J* **= 8.64, 1.56 Hz, 1H, Ar), 7.58 (m, 3H, Ar), 7.66 (d,** *J* **= 13.5 Hz, 1H, CH), 8.17 (d,** *J* **= 13.5 Hz, 1H, CH), 8.67 (s, 1H, indolic NH).**

6-Bromotryptamine (48). Compound 48 was prepared as described.¹⁷⁶ To a round bottom flask cooled to 0 °C (ice bath), NaBH₄ (0.8 g, 21 mmol) was added followed by addition of anhydrous

THF (18 mL) and BF₃·Et₂O (5.65 mL, 23 mmol). The ice bath was removed and the contents were allowed to stir at room temperature for 15 min. A solution of 3-[(*E*)-2-nitroethenyl]-6-bromo-1*H*-indole (**47**) (1.0 g, 4 mmol) in anhydrous THF (11 mL) was added in a dropwise manner over 10 min, and the reaction mixture was heated at reflux for 2 h, cooled to room temperature and quenched with careful addition of ice. The mixture was acidified with HCl (2N, to pH 2) and heated at 80-85 °C for 2 h. After cooling, the acidic solution was extracted with Et₂O (2 x 25 mL). The aqueous portion was basified with NaOH (3M, to pH 10) to liberate the amine. NaCl (10 g) was added and the product was extracted with Et₂O (3 x 30 mL). The combined organic portion was washed with H₂O (3 x 50 mL), brine (50 mL), dried (Na₂SO₄), and evaporated to dryness under reduced pressure to yield 0.33 g (40%) of **48** as a brown oil: ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 2.81 (t, 2H, CH₂), 2.95 (t, 2H, CH₂), 6.93 (s, 1H, Ar), 7.14 (dd, *J* = 8.4, 1.6 Hz, 1H, Ar), 7.43 (s, *J* = 1.5 Hz, 1H, Ar), 8.2 (s, 1H, indolic NH).

tert-Butyl-2-(6-bromo-1*H*-indol-3-yl)ethylcarbamate (49). Compound 49 was prepared as described.⁹ Di-*tert*-butyl dicarbonate (0.3 g, 1.3 mmol) and Et₃N (0.2 mL, 1.3 mmol) were added to an anhydrous DMF (15 mL) solution of 6-bromotryptamine (48) (0.3 g, 1.3 mmol) and the reaction mixture was allowed to stir at room temperature for 24 h. The reaction mixture was quenched with ice-cold H₂O (100 mL) and extracted with EtOAc (3 x 40 mL). The combined organic portion was washed with H₂O (3 x 40 mL), brine (50 mL), dried (Na₂SO₄), and evaporated to dryness under reduced pressure to afford 0.26 g (60%) of 49 as a white foam which solidified on drying: mp 100-102 °C (lit.¹⁷⁸ mp not reported); ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 1.36 (s, 9H, (CH₃)₃), 2.85 (t, 2H, CH₂), 3.37 (t, 2H, CH₂), 4.51 (s, 1H, NH aliphatic), 6.95 (s, 1H, Ar),

7.15 (dd, *J* = 8.5, 1.6 Hz, 1H, Ar), 7.39 (d, *J* = 8.4 Hz, 1H, Ar), 7.45 (s, *J* = 1.5 Hz, 1H, Ar), 7.94 (s, 1H, indolic NH).

tert-Butyl-2-(6-bromo-2-(1,1-dimethylallyl)-1H-indol-3-yl)ethylcarbamate (50). Compound 50 was prepared using a literature procedure for a similar compound.¹⁹⁸ *tert*-Butyl hypochlorite (0.10 g, 0.9 mmol) was added to a solution of tert-butyl-2-(6-bromo-1H-indol-3vl)ethylcarbamate (49) (0.25 g, 0.7 mmol) and Et₃N (0.90 g, 0.9 mmol) in anhydrous THF (10 mL) at -78 °C and allowed to stir for 45 min. Freshly prepared prenyl 9-BBN¹⁷⁹ (1.5 mmol) was added in a dropwise manner over 20 min while maintaining the temperature below -78 °C. The reaction mixture was allowed to warm to room temperature and stirred for an additional 2 h. NaOH (3M, 3 mL) and H_2O_2 (30% v/v, 3 mL) were added dropwise and stirring was continued for another 1 h at room temperature. The reaction mixture was diluted with Et₂O (100 mL), the organic layer was separated and washed with H₂O (3 x 30 mL), brine (40 mL) and dried (Na₂SO₄). The solvent was evaporated under reduced pressure to yield a crude residue which was purified by column chromatography (silica gel; hexanes/EtOAc; 100:1 to 10:1) to afford 0.1 g (33%) of **50** as a white foam: ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 1.37 (s, 9H, (CH₃)₃), 1.48 (s, 6H, (CH₃)₂), 2.93 (t, 2H, CH₂), 3.29 (t, 2H, CH₂), 5.08 (m, 2H, CH), 6.03 (m, 1H, CH), 7.10 (dd, 1H, Ar), 7.35 (m, 2H, Ar), 7.78 (s, 1H, indolic NH). Compound 50 was used for the preparation of compound 40.

2,2-Dimethyl-N-(o-tolyl)propionamide (52). Compound 52 was prepared as described.¹⁸⁰ A solution of trimethylacetyl chloride (4.6 mL, 37 mmol) in anhydrous CH₂Cl₂ (10 mL) was added

to a solution of *o*-toludine (**51**) (4.01 mL, 37.3 mol) and Et₃N (5.2 mL, 37.3 mol) in anhydrous CH₂Cl (30 mL) which was previously cooled to 0 °C. The reaction mixture was allowed to warm to room temperature and stirred for 2 h. The reaction was quenched with H₂O (50 mL). The organic layer was washed with H₂O (3 x 50 mL), dried (Na₂SO₄) and evaporated to dryness under reduced pressure to yield a crude white solid which upon recrystallization from CH₂Cl₂/hexanes yielded 5.95 g (83%) of **52** as a white solid: mp 109-111 °C (lit.¹⁸⁰ mp 109-111 °C); ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 1.36 (s, 9H, (CH₃)₃), 2.28 (s, 3H, CH₃), 7.0-7.5 (m, 4H, Ar).

2-tert-Butyl-1*H*-indole (55). Compound 55 was prepared as described.¹⁸¹ *n*-Butyllithium (1.6 M in hexane, 19.6 mL, 31 mmol) was added in a dropwise manner at 0 °C to a stirred solution of 2,2-dimethyl-*N*-(*o*-tolyl)propionamide (52) (3 g, 16 mmol) in anhydrous THF (20 mL). The reaction mixture was allowed to stir at 0 °C for 1 h, at room temperature for 8 h and heated at reflux for 2 h. The reaction was cooled to room temperature, diluted with EtOAc (35 mL), and quenched with saturated NH₄Cl (20 mL). The organic layer was separated, washed with H₂O (2 x 50 mL), dried (Na₂SO₄) and evaporated to dryness to yield a crude brown oil which on crystallization with MeOH/H₂O yielded 2.0 g (74%) of 55 as a light brown solid: mp 73-75 °C (lit.¹⁸¹ mp 77 °C); ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 1.46 (s, 9H, (CH₃)₃), 6.32 (s, 1H, CH), 7.15-7.61 (m, 4H, Ar), 7.99 (s, 1H, indolic NH).

N-Methyl-2-*tert*-Butyl-1*H*-indol-3-glyoxylamide (58). Compound 58 was prepared using a literature procedure for a similar compound.¹⁹⁹ A solution of 2-*tert*-butyl-1*H*-indole (55) (0.2 g, 1 mmol) in anhydrous Et₂O (10 mL) in a 2-neck flask was chilled to -5 °C and N₂ was bubbled in
for 5 min. Oxalyl chloride (0.2 mL, 2 mmol) was added in a dropwise manner and the reaction mixture was allowed to stir at 0 °C for 6 h. The organic solvent was evaporated under reduced pressure and to the precipitate was added methylamine (40% in H₂O, 5 mL) and the solution was allowed to stir at room temperature overnight. The precipitate was collected by filtration, washed with H₂O (3 x 50 mL), dried and recrystallized from MeOH to yield 0.2 g (56%) of **58** as a brown solid: mp 190-191 °C; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 1.46 (s, 9H, (CH₃)₃), 3.1 (s, 3H, CH₃), 6.77 (s, 1H, NH aliphatic), 7.07-7.45 (m, 4H, Ar), 7.76 (s, 1H, indolic NH). Compound **58** was employed in synthesis of **43**.

tert-Butyl-2-(6-bromo-1*H*-indol-3-yl)ethyl-*N*-methylcarbamate (61). Compound 61 was prepared as described.⁹ Di-*tert*-butyl dicarbonate (0.9 g, 4 mmol) and Et₃N (0.5 g, 4 mmol) were added to an anhydrous DMF (15 mL) solution of *N*-methyl-6-bromotryptamine (**35**) (1.0 g, 4 mmol) and allowed to stir at room temperature for 24 h. The reaction mixture was quenched with H_2O (40 mL) and extracted with EtOAc (3 x 40 mL). The combined organic portion was washed with H_2O (3 x 40 mL), brine (50 mL), dried (Na₂SO₄) and evaporated to dryness to afford 1.3 g (94%) of **61** as a white foam: mp 124-126 °C (lit.⁹ mp 120-124 °C). The product was used without further purification in the attempted synthesis of **62**.

1-(3-Bromophenyl)-2-(3-methylpentan-2-ylidene)hydrazine (64). Compound 64 was prepared according to a literature procedure for a similar compound.²⁰⁰ To a solution of 3-methylpentan-2-one (0.1 mL, 0.9 mmol) in MeOH (10 mL) was added 3-bromophenylhydrazine (63) (0.2 g, 0.9 mmol) along with few drops of gl. HOAc and the reaction mixture was allowed to stir at

room temperature for 2 h. The solvent was removed under reduced pressure and the residue was dried to afford 0.23 g (95%) of **64** as a yellow-colored oil: ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 0.54 (t, 3H, CH₃), 0.98 (d, 3H, CH₃), 1.45-1.47 (m, 2H, CH₂), 1.56-1.58 (m, 1H, CH), 2.04 (s, 3H, CH₃), 6.69 (d, 1H, Ar), 6.94-6.96 (m, 2H, Ar), 7.30 (m, 1H, Ar). The product was used without further purification in the attempted preparation of **65**.

6-Bromo-2-*sec*-butyl-1*H*-indole (65). Compound 64 was prepared according to a literature procedure for similar compound.¹⁸⁴ A solution of *sec*-butyl magnesium chloride in THF (2.0 M, 5 mL) was added in a dropwise manner to a solution of 1-(2-amino-4-bromophenyl)-2-chloroethan-1-one (75) (1.0 g, 4.0 mmol) in anhydrous THF (20 mL) at -10 °C and allowed to stir in an ice bath for 15 min. The reaction mixture was allowed to warm to room temperature, and quenched with aqueous saturated NH₄Cl (10 mL), extracted with MTBE (2 x 30 mL) and washed with brine (10 mL). The organic portion was combined, dried (Na₂SO₄) and the solvent was removed under reduced pressure. The oily residue was purified by column chromatography (silica gel) using hexanes/EtOAc (9:1) to afford 0.64 g (38%) of 65 as a yellow solid: mp 37-38 °C; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 0.83 (t, 3H, CH₃), 1.25 (d, 3H, CH₃), 1.6-1.65 (m, 2H, CH₂), 2.72-2.75 (m, 1H, CH), 6.14 (s, 1H, ArH), 7.07 (d, *J* = 8.0 Hz, 1H, ArH), 7.29 (s, 1H, ArH), 7.35 (s, 1H, ArH), 7.78 (br s, 1H, indolic NH).

N-Methyl-6-bromo-2-*sec*-butyl-1*H*-indol-3-glyoxylamide (66). Compound 66 was prepared using a literature procedure for a similar compound.²⁰¹ A solution of 6-bromo-2-*sec*-butyl-1*H*-indole-3-glyoxylchloride (81) (0.6 g, 1.9 mmol) in anhydrous THF (2 mL) was added to

methylamine (40% in H₂O, 25 mL) cooled to °C. The reaction mixture was allowed to warm to room temperature and stirred overnight. The reaction mixture was diluted with H₂O (100 mL) and the residue was collected by filtration, washed with H₂O (3 x 50 mL) and dried to yield 0.5 g (82%) of **66** as a buff-colored solid: The compound was impure even after repeated attempts at crystallization with various solvents. Compound **66** was used without any further purification in the preparation of compound **37**.

4-Bromo-2-nitrotoluene (**68**). Compound **68** was prepared as described.²⁰² A solution of 4methyl-3-nitroaniline (**67**) (10.0 g, 65.7 mmol) in H₂O (25 mL) was added to conc. H₂SO₄ (25 mL) in H₂O (150 mL) in a flask. The mixture was heated until all the starting material was dissolved. On cooling the solid crystals were collected by filtration, washed with cold H₂O (3 x 50 mL) to give the sulfonic acid salt as dark-yellow crystals (A) which was dissolved in H₂O (70 mL) and HBr (62%, 17.5 mL) and the temperature was maintained at -5 °C. In a separate flask, a solution of NaNO₂ (8.2 g, 118.3 mmol) in H₂O (26 mL) was added slowly to the above solution while maintaining the temperature below 0 °C (B). In a 3-neck flask, CuBr (9.5 g, 65.7 mmol) was dissolved in HBr (62%, 12.5 mL) and the mixture was heated to reflux. To this heated solution, solution B was added slowly over 15 min and stirring was continued at reflux for 1.5 h. The reaction mixture was allowed to cool to room temperature and extracted with MTBE (3 x 50 mL). The combined organic portion was washed with H₂O (2 x 100 mL), 5% NH₄OH (2 x 150 mL), brine (150 mL), dried (MgSO₄) and the solvent was removed under reduced pressure to afford 7.1 g (50%) of **68** as yellow, needle-shaped crystals: mp 42-44 °C (lit.²⁰² mp 43-45 °C), ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 2.55 (s, 3H, CH₃), 7.32 (d, *J* = 8.2 Hz, 1H, Ar), 7.72 (dd, *J* = 8.2, 1.9 Hz, 1H, Ar), 8.22 (d, *J* = 1.9 Hz, 1H, Ar).

(E/Z)-1-(4-Bromo-2-nitrostyryl)pyrrolidine (69). Compound 69 was prepared as described.²⁰³ A solution of 4-bromo-2-nitrotoluene (68) (1 g, 4.6 mmol), DMF-DMA (0.8 mL, 5.6 mmol) and pyrrolidine (0.5 mL, 5.6 mmol) in DMF (10 mL) was heated to 110 °C until the TLC analysis showed consumption of 68. The dark red solution was allowed to cool to room temperature, diluted with Et₂O (30 mL) and washed with H₂O (3 x 50 mL). The combined H₂O portion was further extracted with Et₂O (2 x 25 mL) and the combined organic portion was washed with H₂O (3 x 50 mL), brine (50 mL), dried (Na₂SO₄) and the solvent was removed under reduced pressure to afford 1 g (70%) of 69 as a red-colored crystals: mp 61-63 °C (lit.¹⁷⁶ mp not reported) ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 1.92-1.96 (m, 4H, CH₂), 3.32-3.36 (m, 4H, CH₂), 5.80 (d, *J* = 13.4 Hz, 1H, CH), 7.28 (d, *J* = 13.3 Hz, 1H, CH), 7.34 (d, *J* = 8.3 Hz, 1H, Ar), 7.58 (d, *J* = 1.8 Hz, 1H, Ar), 8.12 (dd, *J* = 8.2, 1.9 Hz, 1H, Ar). Compound 69 was used in the attempted synthesis of 70.

6-Bromo-2-*tert***-butyl-1***H***-indole (71)**. Compound **71** was prepared using a literature procedure for a similar compound.¹⁸⁸ Zinc iodide (0.2 g, 0.6 mmol) was added in one portion to a solution of 5-bromo-2-(3,3-dimethylbut-1-yn-1-yl)aniline (**80**) (2.9 g, 11.5 mmol) in anhydrous toluene (40 mL) and the reaction mixture was heated at reflux for 41 h. The reaction mixture was allowed to cool to room temperature and washed with H₂O (3 x 50 mL). The aqueous portion was extracted with CH_2Cl_2 (3 x 50 mL) and the combined organic portion was washed with H₂O (3 x 70 mL), dried (Na₂SO₄) and the solvent was evaporated under reduced pressure to yield a

crude product which upon recrystallization from hexanes afforded 1.5 g (51%) of **71** as buffcolored flakes: mp 110-111 °C; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 1.39 (s, 9H, (CH₃)₃), 6.24 (s, 1H, Ar), 7.15-7.18 (dd, *J* = 8.4, 1.2 Hz, 1H, Ar), 7.37-7.40 (d, *J* = 9 Hz, 1H, Ar), 7.46 (d, *J* = 1.2 Hz, 1H, Ar), 7.94 (br s, 1H, indolic NH).

N-Methyl-6-bromo-2-*tert*-butyl-1*H*-indol-3-glyoxylamide (72). Compound 72 was prepared using a literature procedure for a similar compound.²⁰¹ A solution of 6-bromo-2-*tert*-butyl-1*H*-indole (71) (1.3 g, 5 mmol) in anhydrous Et₂O (25 mL) in a 2-neck flask was chilled to -5 °C and N₂ was bubbled in for 5 min. Oxalyl chloride (0.9 mL, 10 mmol) was added in a dropwise manner and the reaction mixture was heated at reflux overnight. The Et₂O was evaporated and the precipitate was dissolved in THF (5 mL) to which was added methylamine (40% in H₂O, 25 mL) and the solution was allowed to stir at room temperature for 15 h. The reaction mixture was diluted with H₂O (100 mL) and the residue was collected by filtration, washed with H₂O (3 x 50 mL), hexanes (3 x 50 mL) and dried to yield 1.4 g (77%) of **72** as a buff-colored solid: mp 190-193 °C (decomp); ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 1.53 (s, 9H, (CH₃)₃), 3.04 (s, 3H, CH₃), 6.85 (br s, 1H, NH), 7.28-7.29 (dd, *J* = 8.4, 1.4 Hz, 1H, Ar), 7.50 (d, *J* = 1.4 Hz, 1H, Ar), 7.54-7.57 (d, *J* = 8.4 Hz, 1H, Ar), 8.66 (br s, 1H, indolic NH). Compound **72** was used in the preparation of compound **39**.

1-(2-Amino-4-bromophenyl)-2-chloroethan-1-one (**75**). Compound **75** was prepared according to a literature procedure for a similar compound.¹⁸⁴ 3-Bromoaniline (**74**) (5.0 g, 29 mmol) and chloroacetonitrile (4.6 mL, 73 mmol) were added sequentially to a mixture of AlCl₃ (4.6 g, 35

mmol) and BCl₃ solution (1.0 M in CH₂Cl₂, 35 mL, 35 mmol) in CH₂Cl₂ (30 mL) in an ice bath and the cloudy solution was allowed to stir for 5 h at room temperature and heated at reflux overnight. The reaction mixture was cooled in an ice bath, quenched with 2 N HCl 150 mL, heated at reflux for 20 min, allowed to cool to room temperature, and extracted with CH₂Cl₂ (3 x 50 mL). The combined organic portion was washed with H₂O (3 x 50 mL), brine (50 mL), dried (Na₂SO₄) and the solvent was removed under reduced pressure to afford 6.0 g (69%) of **75** as a yellow solid: mp 139-141 °C; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 4.54 (s, 2H, CH₂), 6.28 (br s, 2H, NH₂), 6.70 (dd, *J* = 8.68, 1.84 Hz, 1H, Ar), 6.81 (d, *J* = 1.84 Hz ,1H, Ar), 7.40 (d, *J* = 8.68 Hz, 1H, Ar). The product was used without further purification in the attempted synthesis of **71**. It was also used in the preparation of compound **65**.

4-Bromo-2-nitroaniline (77). Compound 77 was prepared as described.¹⁸⁵ *N*-Bromosuccinimde (12.9 g, 72 mmol) was added slowly over 10 min to a solution of commercially available 2-nitroaniline (77) (10.0 g, 72 mmol) in gl. HOAc (30 mL) and the solution was heated to 55 °C. The reaction mixture was allowed to stir at 40-50 °C for 5 h, upon which it was poured into icewater (100 mL). The product was collected by filtration, washed with cold H₂O (3 x 50 mL), dried and recrystallized from EtOH to afford 12.4 g (79%) of 77 as orange, needle-shaped crystals: mp 110-111 °C (lit.¹⁸⁵ mp 111-112 °C); ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 6.01 (br s, 2H, NH₂), 6.65 (d, *J* = 8.9 Hz, 1H, Ar), 7.36 (dd, *J* = 8.8, 2.3 Hz, 1H, Ar), 8.20 (d, *J* = 2.3 Hz, 1H, Ar).

4-Bromo-2-nitroiodobenzene (**78**). Compound **78** prepared as described.¹⁸⁶ A solution of 4bromo-2-nitroaniline (**77**) (7.3 g, 34 mmol) in anhydrous THF (50 mL) was added in a dropwise manner to BF₃·Et₂O (15.7 mL, 125 mmol) at -30 °C. The reaction mixture was allowed to stir for 10 min and then a solution of *t*-BuONO (13.3 mL, 111 mmol) in anhydrous THF (40 mL) was added in a dropwise manner. The reaction mixture was allowed to warm to -10 °C, diluted with Et₂O (100 mL), and stirring was continued at room temperature for 1 h until a pale-yellow solid precipitate was formed. The solid was collected by filtration and washed with Et₂O (50 mL) to afford a pale-yellow solid, which was then slowly added to a mixture of KI (7.1 g, 43 mmol) and I₂ (5.4 g, 21 mmol) in MeCN (100 mL). The reaction mixture was allowed to stir at room temperature for 1 h. A saturated aqueous solution of Na₂S₂O₃ (250 mL) was added and the reaction mixture was extracted with CH₂Cl₂ (2 x 90 mL). The combined organic portion was washed with H₂O (2 x 100 mL), dried (Na₂SO₄) and the solvent was removed under reduced pressure to afford 9.3 g (84%) of **78** as a yellow powder: mp 86-88 °C (lit.¹⁸⁶ mp 87-89 °C); ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 7.40 (dd, *J* = 8.4, 2.2 Hz, 1H, Ar), 7.89 (d, *J* = 8.4 Hz, 1H, Ar), 8.0 (d, *J* = 2.2 Hz, 1H, Ar).

5-Bromo-2-iodoaniline (**79**). Compound **79** was prepared as described.¹⁸⁷ A mixture of 4bromo-2-nitroiodobenzene (**78**) (8.4 g, 26 mmol), Fe powder (6.1 g, 110 mmol) in gl. HOAc (45 mL) and absolute EtOH (40 mL) was heated at reflux for 1.5 h. The reaction mixture was allowed to cool to room temperature and a saturated aqueous solution of NaHCO₃ (200 mL) was added. The mixture was extracted with Et₂O (4 x 50 mL) and the combined organic portion was washed with H₂O (3 x 100 mL), brine (100 mL), dried (Na₂SO₄) and the solvent was evaporated under reduced pressure to yield a crude residue. The crude product was purified by column chromatography (silica gel; hexanes/EtOAc; 100:1 to 100:5) to afford 4.6 g (60%) of **79** as a cream-colored solid: mp 54-55 °C (lit.¹⁸⁷ mp 55 °C); ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 4.14 (br s, 2H, NH₂), 6.60 (dd, J = 8.4, 2.2 Hz, 1H, Ar), 6.88 (d, J = 2.2 Hz, 1H, Ar), 7.45 (d, J = 8.4 Hz, 1H, Ar).

5-Bromo-2-(3,3-dimethylbut-1-yn-1-yl)aniline (80). Compound **80** was prepared using a literature procedure for a similar compound.²⁰⁴ A mixture of 5-bromo-2-iodoaniline (**79**) (4.0 g, 13.4 mmol), CuI (0.1 g, 0.7 mmol) and PdCl₂(PPh₃)₂ (0.5 g, 0.7 mmol) was suspended in anhydrous THF (50 mL). Et₃N (5.6 mL, 40.3 mmol) and 3,3-dimethylbut-1-yne (2.2 mL, 17.5 mmol) were added successively and the reaction mixture was allowed to stir at room temperature for 5 h. The reaction mixture was diluted with Et₂O (100 mL), filtered through Celite, and the organic portion was washed sequentially with H₂O (3 x 100 mL), a saturated aqueous solution of NH₄Cl (50 mL), brine (50 mL), dried (Na₂SO₄) and the solvent was evaporated under reduced pressure to yield a crude residue. The crude product was purified by column chromatography (silica gel; hexanes/EtOAc 100:1 to 75:1) to afford 2.9 g (86%) of **80** as a light-yellow oil: ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 1.34 (s, 9H, (CH₃)₃), 4.19 (br s, 2H, NH₂), 6.75-6.79 (dd, *J* = 8.4, 1.9 Hz, 1H, Ar), 6.84 (d, *J* = 1.9 Hz, 1H, Ar), 7.06-7.08 (d, *J* = 8.1 Hz, 1H, Ar). Compound **80** was used in the preparation of compound **71**.

6-Bromo-2-*sec*-butyl-1*H*-indol-3-glyoxylchloride (81). Compound 81 was prepared using a literature procedure for a similar compound.²⁰¹ A solution of 6-bromo-2-*sec*-butyl-1*H*-indole (65) (0.5 g, 1.98 mmol) in anhydrous Et₂O (20 mL) in a 2-neck flask was chilled to -5 °C and N₂ was bubbled in for 5 min. Oxalyl chloride (0.2 mL, 2.40 mmol) was added in a dropwise manner and allowed to stir for 30 min at 0 °C. The Et₂O was evaporated and the residue was washed

with Et_2O (2 x 5 mL) to remove excess oxalyl chloride to afford 0.6 g (94%) of **81** as a yellow colored oil. The product was used without any further purification for the synthesis of compound **66**.

2-(1,1-Dimethylallyl)tryptamine Hydrochloride (82). Gaseous HCl was bubbled into a solution of *tert*-butyl-2-(2-(1,1-dimethylallyl)-1*H*-indol-3-yl)ethylcarbamate (**85**) (0.4 g) in anhydrous Et₂O (20 mL) at 0 °C. The reaction mixture was allowed to stir for 24 h and the solvent was evaporated to yield a purple solid which was recrystallized from *i*-PrOH/Et₂O to yield 0.1 g (28%) of **82** as brown crystals: mp 231-232 °C; ¹H NMR (DMSO-*d*₆) δ 1.50 (s, 6H, CH₃), 2.86 (t, 2H, CH₂), 3.07 (t, 2H, CH₂), 5.06-5.11 (m, 2H, CH₂), 6.12-6.18 (m, 1H, CH), 6.95-7.06 (m, 2H, Ar), 7.34 (d, *J* = 7.9 Hz, 1H, Ar), 7.51 (d, *J* = 7.8 Hz, 1H, Ar), 8.05 (br s, 3H, NH₃⁺ aliphatic), 10.59 (br s, 1H, indolic NH). Anal. Calcd for (C₁₅H₂₀N₂·HCl) C, 68.04; H, 7.99; N, 10.58. Found: C, 67.89; H, 7.99; N, 10.46.

tert-Butyl-2-(1*H*-indol-3-yl)ethylcarbamate (84). Compound 84 was prepared as described.¹⁸⁹ Triethylamine (0.9 g, 8.5 mmol) and di-*tert*-butyl dicarbonate (1.9 g, 8.5 mmol) were added to a solution of tryptamine (83) (1.4 g, 8.5 mmol) in anhydrous DMF (30 mL) and allowed to stir for 20 h at room temperature. The reaction mixture was quenched with ice and H₂O (80 mL) and extracted with EtOAc (3 x 40 mL). The combined organic portion was washed with H₂O (3 x 40 mL), brine (50 mL), dried (Na₂SO₄) and the solvent was removed under reduced pressure to yield a crude oil. The crude product was purified by column chromatography (silica gel; hexanes/EtOAc; 100:1 to 4:1) to afford 2.0 g (91%) of **84** as a white solid: mp 92-94 °C (lit.¹⁸⁹

mp 96 °C); ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 1.37 (s, 9H, CH₃), 2.96 (t, 2H, CH₂), 3.32 (m, 2H, CH₂), 4.55 (br s, 1H, NH aliphatic), 6.98-7.08 (m, 3H, Ar), 7.21 (d, *J* = 8.0 Hz, 1H, Ar), 7.48 (d, *J* = 7.8 Hz, 1H, Ar), 7.79 (br s, 1H, indolic NH).

tert-Butyl-2-(2-(1,1-dimethylallyl)-1H-indol-3-yl)ethylcarbamate (85). Compound 85 was prepared using a literature procedure for a similar compound.¹⁹⁸ tert-Butyl hypochlorite (0.5 g. 4.6 mmol) was added to a solution of *tert*-butyl-2-(1*H*-indol-3-yl)ethylcarbamate (84) (1.0 g, 3.8 mmol) and Et₃N (0.5 g, 4.6 mmol) in anhydrous THF (25 mL) at -78 °C and the solution was allowed to stir for 45 min. Freshly prepared prenyl 9-BBN¹⁷⁹ (7.7 mmol) was added in a dropwise manner over 15 min while maintaining the temperature at -55 °C. The reaction mixture was allowed to warm to room temperature and was stirred for an additional 3 h. Sodium hydroxide (3M, 10 mL) and H₂O₂ (30% v/v, 10 mL) were added in a dropwise manner and the reaction mixture was allowed to stir for 1 h at room temperature. The reaction was diluted with Et₂O (100 mL), the organic layer was separated and washed with H₂O (3 x 60 mL), brine (80 mL) and dried (Na₂SO₄). The solvent was evaporated under reduced pressure to yield a crude residue which was purified by column chromatography (silica gel; hexanes/EtOAc; 100:1 to 5:1) to afford 0.5 g (36%) of 85 as a white foam: ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 1.37 (s, 9H, CH₃), 1.47 (s, 6H, CH₃), 2.96 (t, 2H, CH₂), 3.32 (m, 2H, CH₂), 4.53 (br s, 1H, NH aliphatic), 5.06-5.11 (m, 2H, CH₂), 6.01-6.08 (m, 1H, CH), 6.98-7.08 (m, 2H, Ar), 7.21 (d, J = 8.0 Hz, 1H, Ar), 7.48 (d, J =7.8 Hz, 1H, Ar), 7.79 (br s, 1H, indolic NH). Compound 85 was used in the preparation of compound 82.

N,N-Dimethyl-6-bromo-2-(1,1-dimethylallyl)tryptamine Hydrogen Oxalate (86). A solution of *N,N*-dimethyl-6-bromo-2-(1,1-dimethylallyl)tryptamine (101) (0.05 g) in anhydrous CHCl₃ (3 mL) was allowed to stir at 0 °C for 1.5 h. The precipitate was collected by filtration and the white solid obtained was recrystallized from *i*-PrOH/Et₂O to yield 0.02 g (36%) of 86 as a white crystals: mp 172-173 °C; NMR (DMSO- d_6) δ 1.58 (s, 6H, (CH₃)₂), 2.73 (s, 6H, N(CH₃)₂), 4.39 (m, 4H CH₂), 5.25-5.29 (m, 2H, CH₂), 6.31-6.38 (m, 1H, CH), 7.25 (dd, *J* = 8.4, 1H, Ar), 7.59 (d, *J* = 1.6 Hz, 1H, Ar), 7.70 (d, *J* = 8.4, 1.5 Hz, 1H, Ar), 11.27 (s, 1H, COOH). Anal. Calcd for (C₁₇H₂₃BrN₂·C₂H₂O₄) C, 53.40; H, 6.36; N, 6.55. Found: C, 53.39; H, 6.06; N, 6.50.

N,N,N-Trimethyl-6-bromo-2-(1,1-dimethylallyl)tryptamine Methiodide (87). A solution of *N,N*-dimethyl-6-bromo-2-(1,1-dimethylallyl)tryptamine (101) (0.05g, 0.2 mmol) in anhydrous *i*-PrOH (4 mL) was cooled to 0 °C (ice-bath). Iodomethane (0.06 g, 0.5 mmol) was added and the reaction mixture was allowed to stir for 22 h at room temperature under a N₂ atmosphere. The precipitate was collected by filtration and washed with anhydrous Et₂O (3 x 15 mL), air dried and crystallized from MeOH/*i*-PrOH to afford 0.02 g (30%) of **87** as yellow crystals: mp 208-210 °C; ¹H NMR (CD₃CN) δ 1.54 (s, 6H, (CH₃)₂), 3.15 (s, 9H, N(CH₃)₃), 3.22-3.38 (m, 4H CH₂), 5.25 (m, 2H, CH₂), 6.22 (m, 1H, CH), 7.22 (dd, *J* = 8.4, 1.7 Hz, 1H, Ar), 7.46 (d, *J* = 8.5 Hz, 1H, Ar), 7.59 (d, *J* = 1.5 Hz, 1H, Ar), 9.35 (br s, 1H, indolic NH). Anal. Calcd for (C₁₈H₂₆BrIN₂·C₃H₈O) C, 46.94; H, 6.38; N, 5.21. Found: C, 46.73; H, 6.29; N, 5.25.

N-iso-**Propyl-6-bromo-2-(1,1-dimethylallyl)tryptamine Hydrochloride (91)**. HCl gas was bubbled into a 0 °C solution of *tert*-butyl-2-(6-bromo-2-(1,1-dimethylallyl)-1*H*-indol-3-yl)ethyl-

N-iso-propylcarbamate (**121**) (0.4 g) in dry anhydrous EtOAc (10 mL). The reaction mixture was allowed to stir for 24 h and the solvent was evaporated to yield a white solid which was recrystallized from MeOH to yield 0.1g, (29%) of **91** as white crystals: mp 295-299 °C; ¹HNMR (DMSO-*d*₆) δ 1.25 (d, 6H, CH₃), 1.50 (s, 6H, CH₃), 2.88-2.92 (m, 2H, CH₂), 3.09-3.14 (t, 2H, CH₂), 5.09-5.13 (d, 2H CH₂), 6.12-6.19 (m, 1H, CH), 7.11-7.14 (d, *J* = 8.4, 1.8 Hz, 1H, Ar), 7.49 (d, *J* = 1.7 Hz, 1H, Ar), 7.53-7.55 (d, *J* = 8.4 Hz, 1H, Ar), 8.86 (br s, 2H, NH₂⁺ aliphatic), 10.78 (s, IH, indolic NH). Anal. Calcd for (C₁₈H₂₅BrN₂·HCl) C, 56.04; H, 6.79; N, 7.26. Found: C, 56.02; H, 6.75; N, 7.32.

N-Benzyl-6-bromo-2-(1,1-dimethylallyl)tryptamine Hydrogen Oxalate (92). Trifluoroacetic acid (0.05 mL) was added into a 0 °C solution of *tert*-butyl-2-(6-bromo-2-(1,1-dimethylallyl)-1*H*-indol-3-yl)ethyl-*N*-benzylcarbamate (122) (0.05 g) in anhydrous CH₂Cl₂ (5 mL), and the reaction mixture was allowed to stir for 6 h at room temperature. The reaction was quenched with H₂O (25 mL) and the organic portion was separated. The aqueous portion was further extracted with CH₂Cl₂ (2 x 15 mL) and the combined organic portion was washed with NaOH (3M, 3 x 25 mL), H₂O (3 x 50 mL), dried (Na₂SO₄) and evaporated under reduced pressure to yield a yellow oil. The free base was dissolved in anhydrous Et₂O (15 mL) and converted to the oxalate salt by addition of saturated oxalic acid solution in Et₂O (4 ml). The precipitate was collected by filtration, dried and recrystallized from *i*-PrOH to yield 0.02g (51%) of **92** as a white powder: mp 244-245 °C; ¹HNMR (DMSO-*d*₆) δ 1.47 (s, 6H, (CH₃)₂), 2.99 (br s, 2H, CH₂), 3.07 (br s, 2H, CH₂), 4.15 (s, 2H, CH₂), 4.99-5.04 (d, 2H CH₂), 6.03-6.10 (m, 1H, CH), 7.09 (d, *J* = 8.6 Hz, 1H, Ar), 7.38-7.50 (m, 7H, Ar), 10.72 (s, IH, indolic NH). Anal. Calcd

(C₂₂H₂₅BrN₂·C₂H₂O₄) C, 59.14; H, 5.58; N, 5.75. Found: C, 56.02; H, 6.75; N, 7.32. UHPLC-MS; [M⁺1] calculated for C₂₂H₂₅BrN₂ 397.1, found 397.1.

N-Methyl-6-bromo-1-methyl-2-(1,1-dimethylallyl)tryptamine Hydrochloride (93). Gaseous HCl was bubbled into a 0 °C solution of *tert*-butyl-2-(6-bromo-1-methyl-2-(1,1-dimethylallyl)-indol-3-yl)ethyl-*N*-methylcarbamate (125) (100 mg) in anhydrous EtOAc (10 mL). The reaction mixture was allowed to stir at room temperature for 7 h and the solvent was evaporated under reduced pressure to yield a white solid which was recrystallized from MeOH to yield 35 mg (41%) of **93** as white crystals: mp 251-252 °C; ¹H NMR (DMSO-*d*₆) δ 1.52 (s, 6H, (CH₃)₂), 2.53 (s, 3H NHCH₃), 2.87 (t, 2H, CH₂), 3.2 (t, 2H, CH₂), 3.6 (s, 3H, NCH₃), 4. 88 (d, 1H CH₂), 5.05 (d, 1H, CH₂), 6.15 (m, 1H, CH), 7.12 (d. 1H, Ar), 7.54 (m, 2H, Ar), 8.78 (s, 2H, NH₂⁺ aliphatic). Anal. Calcd for (C₁₇H₂₃BrN₂·HCl) C, 54.93; H, 6.51; N, 7.54. Found: C, 55.21; H, 6.70; N, 7.27.

N-Methyl-6-bromo-1-benzyl-2-(1,1-dimethylallyl)tryptamine Hydrogen Oxalate (94). Gaseous HCl was bubbled into a 0 °C solution of *tert*-butyl-2-(6-bromo-1-benzyl-2-(1,1-dimethylallyl)-indol-3-yl)ethyl-*N*-methylcarbamate (126) (100 mg) in anhydrous EtOAc (10 mL). The reaction mixture was allowed to stir at room temperature for 7 h and the solvent was evaporated under reduced pressure to yield a sticky yellow solid which was converted to an oxalate salt which upon recrystallization from *i*-PrOH yielded 50 mg (60%) of **94** as a yellow solid: mp 184-186 °C; ¹H NMR (DMSO-*d*₆) δ 1.52 (s, 6H, (CH₃)₂), 2.53 (s, 3H NHCH₃), 2.87 (t, 2H, CH₂), 3.2 (t, 2H, CH₂), 3.6 (s, 3H, NCH₃), 4. 88 (d, 1H CH₂), 5.05 (d, 1H, CH₂), 6.15 (m,

1H, CH), 7.12 (d. 1H, Ar), 7.54 (m, 2H, Ar), 8.78 (s, 2H, NH_2^+ aliphatic). UHPLC-MS; [M⁺1] calculated for C₂₃H₂₇BrN₂ 410.13, found 410.13.

N,N-Dimethyl-6-bromo-2-(1,1-dimethylallyl)tryptamine (101). Compound 101 was prepared using a literature procedure for a similar compound.²⁰⁵ An aqueous mixture (3N NaOH to pH 10) of 6-bromo-2-(1,1-dimethylallyl)tryptamine hydrochloride (40) (0.06 g, 0.2 mmol) was extracted with CH₂Cl₂ (3 x 10 mL). The combined organic portion was washed with H₂O (3 x 15 mL), brine (30 mL), dried (Na₂SO₄) and the solvent was evaporated under reduced pressure to yield 6-bromo-2-(1,1-dimethylallyl)tryptamine (40, free base). Formic acid (0.04 g, 0.8 mmol), formaldehyde (37%, 0.02 g, 0.5 mmol) and H₂O (3 mL) were added and the reaction mixture was heated at reflux for 3 h. The reaction mixture was basified with NaOH (3M, to pH 10). The aqueous portion was extracted with EtOAc (3 x 20 mL) and the combined organic portion was washed with H₂O (3 x 40 mL), brine (50 mL), dried (Na₂SO₄) and the solvent was removed under reduced pressure to yield 0.05g (91%) of 101 as a crude product which was used for further reaction without purification in the preparation of compound 86 and 87.

N-Methyl-3-(2-(1,1-dimethylallyl)-1*H*-indol-3-yl)propanamine Hydrogen Oxalate (103). Gaseous HCl was bubbled into a solution of *tert*-butyl-3-(2-(1,1-dimethylallyl)-1*H*-indol-3yl)propyl-*N*-methylcarbamate (109) (0.1 g, 0.3 mmol) in anhydrous EtOAc (10 mL) at 0 °C. The reaction mixture was allowed to stir at room temperature overnight. The solvent was evaporated under reduced pressure to yield a brown solid which was converted to the oxalate salt and recrystallized from *i*-PrOH to yield 0.03 g (28%) of **103** as a yellow solid: mp 135-138 °C; ¹H NMR (DMSO-*d*₆) δ 1.49 (s, 6H, (CH₃)₂), 1.83 (m, 2H, CH₂), 2.55 (s, 3H, CH₃), 2.76 (t, 2H, CH₂), 2.94 (t, 2H, CH₂), 5.09 (m, 2H, CH₂), 6.16 (m, 1H, CH), 6.95 (t, 1H, Ar), 7.21 (t, 1H, Ar), 7.32 (d, *J* = 8.0 Hz, 1H, Ar), 7.44 (d, *J* = 7.8 Hz, 1H, Ar), 10.47 (s, 1H, COOH). Anal. Calcd for (C₁₇H₂₄N₂·C₂H₂O₄) C, 63.04; H, 7.18; N, 7.50. Found: C, 65.87; H, 7.56; N, 8.09; UHPLC-MS; [M⁺1] calculated for C₁₇H₂₄N₂ 257.15, found 257.15.

1-(6-Bromo-2-(1,1-dimethylallyl)-1*H*-indol-3-yl)propan-2-amine Hydrochloride (104). Gaseous HCl was bubbled into a solution of *tert*-butyl-1-(6-bromo-2-(1,1-dimethylallyl)-1*H*-indol-3-yl)propyl-2-carbamate (**114**) (300 mg, 0.2 mmol) in anhydrous Et₂O (20 mL) at 0 °C. The reaction mixture was allowed to stir at room temperature for 24 h and the solvent was evaporated to yield a white solid which was recrystallized from *i*-PrOH/Et₂O to yield 60 mg (27%) of **104** as white crystals: mp 229-230 °C; ¹H NMR (DMSO-*d*₆) δ 1.09 (d, 3H, CH₃), 1.51 (d, 6H, (CH₃)₂), 2.95-3.14 (m, 2H, CH₂), 3.43 (m, 1H, CH), 5.08-5.15 (m, 2H, CH), 6.14-6.21 (m, 1H, CH), 7.14 (dd, 1H, Ar), 7.51 (m, 2H, Ar), 8.07 (br s, 3H, NH₃⁺ aliphatic), 10.86 (br s, 1H, indolic NH). Anal. Calcd for (C₁₆H₂₁BrN₂·HCl) C, 53.72; H, 6.20; N, 7.83. Found: C, 53.55; H, 6.25; N, 7.82.

N-Methyl-3-(1*H*-indol-3-yl)propanamide (106). Compound 106 was prepared as described.¹⁹⁰ Indole-3-propionic acid (105) (1 g, 5.3 mmol) and Et_3N (2.1 g, 21.1 mmol) were dissolved in anhydrous THF (40 mL). The solution was cooled to 0 °C in an ice bath to which was added methyl chloroformate (0.5 mL, 6.3 mmol) in a dropwise manner over 10 min. Stirring was

continued at 0 °C for an additional 30 min. Methylamine hydrochloride (5.5 g, 81.4 mmol) was added and the reaction was allowed to stir further at 0 °C for 90 min upon which the precipitate was removed by filtration and the filtrate was evaporated under reduced pressure to yield a crude yellow oil. The crude product was purified by column chromatography (silica gel; hexanes/EtOAc; 100:1 to 5:1) to afford 0.8 g (76%) of **106** as a cream-colored solid: mp 99-100 °C (lit.¹⁹⁰ mp 99-101 °C); ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 2.49 (t, 2H, CH₂), 2.66 (d, 3H, CH₃), 3.05 (t, 2H, CH₂), 6.94 (s, 1H, Ar), 7.03-7.06 (dt, 1H, Ar), 7.10-7.14 (dt, 1H, Ar), 7.28 (d, *J* = 8.0 Hz, 1H, Ar), 7.52 (d, *J* = 7.6 Hz, 1H, Ar), 7.95 (br s, 1H, indolic NH).

N-Methyl-(1*H*-indol-3-yl)propanamine (107). Compound 107 was prepared as described.¹⁹¹ Lithium aluminum hydride (1.1 g, 27.7 mmol) was suspended in anhydrous dioxane (12 mL) and a solution of 3-(1H-indol-3-yl)-N-methylpropanamide (106) (0.2 g, 0.65 mmol) was added, and the reaction mixture was heated at reflux overnight. The reaction mixture was allowed to cool to room temperature and diluted with Et₂O (50 mL), H₂O (1 mL), NaOH (15%, 1 mL) and EtOH (2 mL). The reaction mixture was further stirred at room temperature for 2 h and dried (Na₂SO₄). The organic portion was evaporated under reduced pressure to afford 0.5 g (67%) of 107 as a yellow oil which was used without purification for the next step.

tert-Butyl-3-(1*H*-indol-3-yl)propyl-*N*-methylcarbamate (108). Compound 108 was prepared using a literature procedure for a similar compound.⁹ Triethylamine (0.4 mL, 2.6 mmol) and di*tert*-butyl dicarbonate (0.6 g, 2.6 mmol) were added to a CH_2Cl_2 (15 mL) solution of indol-3-yl-*N*-methylpropanamine (107) (0.5 g, 2.6 mmol) and allowed to stir at room temperature for 19 h. The reaction mixture was quenched with H₂O (50 mL) and extracted with CH₂Cl₂ (2 x 30 mL). The combined organic portion was washed with H₂O (3 x 50 mL), dried (Na₂SO₄) and evaporated under reduced pressure to obtain a yellow oil. The crude product was purified by column chromatography (silica gel; hexanes/EtOAc; 100:1 to 25:1) to afford 0.4 g (58%) of **108** as a white foam: ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 1.37 (s, 9H, (CH₃)₃), 1.83-1.90 (m, 2H, CH₂), 2.68 (t, 2H, CH₂), 2.78 (s, 3H, CH₃), 3.24 (m, 2H, CH₂), 6.93 (s, 1H, Ar), 7.01-7.03 (dt, 1H, Ar), 7.09-7.13 (dt, 1H, Ar), 7.28 (d, *J* = 8.0 Hz, 1H, Ar), 7.52 (d, *J* = 7.8 Hz, 1H, Ar), 7.86 (br s, 1H, indolic NH).

tert-Butyl-3-(2-(1,1-dimethylallyl)-1*H*-indol-3-yl)propyl-*N*-methylcarbamate (109). Compound 109 was prepared using a literature procedure for a similar compound.¹⁹⁸ *tert*-Butyl hypochlorite (0.2 g, 1.7 mmol) was added to a solution of *tert*-butyl-3-(indol-3-yl)propyl-*N*-methylcarbamate (108) (0.4 g, 1.4 mmol) and Et₃N (0.2 g, 1.7 mmol) in THF (15 mL) at -78 °C and allowed to stir for 45 min. Freshly prepared prenyl-9-BBN¹⁷⁹ (2.8 mmol) was added in a dropwise manner over 10 min while maintaining temperature at -78 °C. The reaction mixture was allowed to warm to room temperature and stirred for additional 2 h. Sodium hydroxide (3M, 5 mL) and H₂O₂ (30% v/v, 5 mL) were added in a dropwise manner and the solution was stirred for 1 h and diluted with Et₂O (100 mL). The organic layer was washed with H₂O (3 x 60 mL), brine (80 mL), dried (Na₂SO₄), and evaporated under reduced pressure to yield a yellow oil which was subjected to purification by column chromatography (silica gel; hexanes/EtOAc; 100:1 to 25:1) to afford 0.2 g (40%) of 109 as a glassy solid: mp 116-118 °C; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 1.38 (s, 9H, (CH₃)₃), 1.45 (m, 8H, CH₂, CH₃), 2.72 (t, 2H, CH₂), 2.81 (s, 3H, CH₃), 3.25 (m, 2H, CH₂), 5.05-5.10 (m, 2H, CH₂), 6.01-6.08 (m, 1H, CH), 6.97-7.06 m, 2H, Ar), 7.20 (d, *J* = 7.8 Hz, 1H, Ar), 7.41 (d, *J* = 7.6 Hz, 1H, Ar), 7.74 (br s, 1H, indolic NH). Compound **109** was used in the preparation of compound **103**.

3-[(**E**)-**2-**Nitroprop-1-en-1-yl]-**6-**bromo-1*H*-indole (111). Compound 111 was prepared as described.¹⁷⁶ Ammonium acetate (1.2 g, 15 mmol) was added to a solution of 6-bromo-1*H*-indole-3-carboxaldehyde (**110**) (4.0 g, 17.9 mmol) in nitroethane (25 mL) in a 2-neck flask under an N₂ atmosphere and the solution was then allowed to stir at reflux for 7 h. The reaction mixture was allowed to cool to room temperature and the precipitate was collected by filtration, washed with H₂O (30 mL), nitroethane (2 x 15 mL) and dried to yield 3.7 g (74%) of **111** as a yellow solid: mp 219-220 °C (lit.¹⁷⁶ mp not reported); ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 2.53 (d, 3H, CH₃), 7.39-7.42 (dd, *J* = 8.48, 1.68 Hz, 1H, Ar), 7.54 (d, *J* = 2.8 Hz, 1H, Ar), 7.63 (d, *J* = 1.4 Hz, 1H, CH), 7.68 (d, *J* = 8.52 Hz, 1H, Ar), 8.43 (s, 1H, Ar), 8.65 (br s, 1H, indolic NH).

1-(6-Bromo-1*H***-indol-3-yl)propan-2-amine** (**112**). Compound **112** was prepared using a literature procedure for a similar compound.¹⁷⁶ Sodium borohydride (2.8 g, 73 mmol) was added to a solution of anhydrous THF (40 mL) and BF₃.Et₂O (10 mL, 79 mmol) at 0 °C, and the resulting suspension was stirred for 15 min while maintaining the temperature at 0 °C. 3-[(*E*)-2-Nitroprop-1-en-1-yl)-6-bromo-1*H*-indole (**111**) (3.7 g, 13 mmol) was then added, and the reaction mixture was allowed to stir at reflux for 4 h, cooled in an ice bath and quenched by the careful addition of H₂O (2 mL). The mixture was acidified with HCl (2N, to pH 1) and heated at reflux for a further 2 h. After cooling, the acidic solution was extracted with Et₂O (2 x 25 mL).

The aqueous portion was basified with NaOH (3M, to pH 10) and extracted with Et_2O (3 x 50 mL). The combined organic portion was washed with H_2O (3 x 100 mL), brine (50 mL), dried (Na₂SO₄), and the solvent was evaporated under reduced pressure to yield 1.5 g (44%) of **112** as a white foam which was used for next step without purification.

tert-Butyl-1-(6-bromo-1*H*-indol-3-yl)propyl-2-carbamate (113). Compound 113 was prepared using a literature procedure for a similar compound.⁹ Di-*tert*-butyl dicarbonate (1.3 g, 5.8 mmol) and Et₃N (0.6 g, 5.8 mmol) were added to a solution of 1-(6-bromo-1*H*-indol-3-yl)propan-2-amine (112) (1.5 g, 1.3 mmol) in anhydrous DMF (20 mL) and the reaction mixture was allowed to stir for 24 h. The reaction mixture was poured into H₂O with ice (100 mL) and extracted with EtOAc (3 x 40 mL). The combined organic portion was washed with H₂O (3 x 40 mL), brine (50 mL), dried (Na₂SO₄), and evaporated under reduced pressure to yield the crude product. The crude residue was purified by column chromatography (silica gel; hexanes/EtOAc; 100:1 to 3:1) to afford 1.5 g (75%) of **113** as a white foam: ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 1.04 (d, 3H, CH₃), 1.36 (s, 9H, (CH₃)₃), 2.72-2.89 (m, 2H, CH₂), 3.92 (m, 1H, CH), 4.34 (s, 1H, NH aliphatic), 6.93 (s, *J* = 2.1 Hz, 1H, Ar), 7.14 (dd, *J* = 8.4, 1.6 Hz, 1H, Ar), 7.43 (m, 2H, Ar), 7.95 (s, 1H, indolic NH).

tert-Butyl-1-(6-bromo-2-(1,1-dimethylallyl)-1*H*-indol-3-yl)propyl-2-carbamate (114).

Compound **114** was prepared using a literature procedure for a similar compound.¹⁹⁸ *tert*-Butyl hypochlorite (0.4 g, 3.3 mmol) was added to a solution of *tert*-butyl-3-(6-bromo-1*H*-indol-3-yl)propyl-2-carbamate (**113**) (0.9 g, 2.5 mmol) and Et₃N (0.3 g, 3.3 mmol) in anhydrous THF (30 mL) at -78 °C and the solution was allowed to stir for 45 min. Freshly prepared prenyl-9-

BBN¹⁷⁹ (5.1 mmol) was added in a dropwise manner over 20 min while maintaining the temperature at -55 °C. The reaction mixture was allowed to warm to room temperature and was stirred for an additional 3 h. Aqueous NaOH (3M, 7 mL) and H₂O₂ (30% v/v, 7 mL) were added in a dropwise manner and stirring was continued for another 1 h. The reaction mixture was diluted with Et₂O (100 mL), the organic layer was separated and washed with H₂O (3 x 100 mL), brine (80 mL), dried (Na₂SO₄) and evaporated under reduced pressure to yield a crude residue which was purified by column chromatography (silica gel; hexanes/EtOAc; 100:1 to 100:8) to afford 0.5 g (45%) of **114** as a white foam: ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 1.09 (d, 3H, CH₃), 1.36 (s, 9H, (CH₃)₃), 1.51 (d, 6H, (CH₃)₂), 2.95-3.14 (m, 2H, CH₂), 3.43 (m, 1H, CH), 4.34 (s, 1H, NH aliphatic), 5.08-5.15 (m, 2H, CH), 6.14-6.21 (m, 1H, CH), 7.14 (dd, 1H, Ar), 7.51 (m, 2H, Ar), 7.95 (s, 1H, indolic NH). Compound **114** was employed in the preparation of compound **104**.

N-iso-**Propyl-6-bromo-1***H***-indol-3-glyoxylamide** (115). Compound 115 was prepared using a literature procedure for a similar compound.^{201,206} In a 2-neck flask a solution of 6-bromoindole (46) (4.0 g, 20.4 mmol) in anhydrous Et₂O (25 mL) was chilled to -15 °C and N₂ was bubbled for 5 min. Oxalyl chloride (3.6 mL, 40.8 mol) was added in a dropwise manner with continued stirring for 2 h, after which the precipitate was collected by filtration, washed with Et₂O (2 x 25 mL) and dried over vacuum. The solid was dissolved in THF (10 mL) and cooled to 0 °C. *iso*-Propylamine (3 mL) was added in a dropwise manner and the reaction mixture was allowed to stir at room temperature overnight. The organic portion was evaporated and the residue was washed with H₂O (100 mL), Et₂O (3 x 35 mL) to afford 2.7 g (69%) of **115** as a white solid: mp 268-269 °C; ¹H NMR (DMSO-*d*₆) δ 1.16-1.18 (d, 6H, CH₃), 4.00-4.06 (sep, 1H, CH), 7.40-7.42

(dd, *J* = 8.4, 1.8 Hz, 1H, Ar), 7.44 (d, *J* = 1.8 Hz, 1H, Ar), 8.14-8.16 (d, *J* = 8.5 Hz, 1H, Ar), 8.53-8.55 (d, *J* = 8.2 Hz, 1H, Ar), 8.74 (s, 1H, NH aliphatic), 12.27 (br s, 1H, indolic NH).

N-Benzyl-6-bromo-1*H*-indol-3-glyoxylamide (116). Compound 116 was prepared using a literature procedure for a similar compound.^{201,206} In a 2-neck flask a solution of 6-bromoindole (46) (1.7 g, 8.7 mmol) in anhydrous Et₂O (25 mL) was chilled to -10 °C and N₂ was bubbled for 5 min. Oxalyl chloride (1.5 mL, 17.4 mmol) was added in a dropwise manner and the stirring was continued for 2 h. The glyoxyl chloride formed was collected by filtration, washed with Et₂O (2 x 25 mL), dried under reduced pressure, dissolved in anhydrous THF (18 mL), and the solution cooled to 0 °C. Benzylamine (1.4 mL, 13.1 mmol) was added in a dropwise manner and the reaction was allowed to stir at room temperature for 3 h. The precipitate was collected by filtration and washed with H₂O (100 mL). The crude product was recrystallized from MeOH to afford 1.6 g (51%) of **116** as buff-colored, needle-shaped crystals: mp 232-233 °C; ¹H NMR (DMSO-*d*₀) δ 4.42-4.44 (d, 2H, CH₂), 7.26-7.28 (m, 1H, Ar), 7.33-7.35 (m, 4H, Ar), 7.40-7.43 (dd, *J* = 8.5, 1.8 Hz, 1H, Ar), 8.16-8.18 (d, *J* = 8.4 Hz, 1H, Ar), 8.78 (s, 1H, Ar), 9.30-9.33 (t, 1H, NH aliphatic), 12.30 (br s, 1H, indolic NH).

N-iso-**Propyl-6-bromotryptamine** (117). Compound 117 was prepared using a literature procedure for a similar compound.¹⁷⁸ Borane dimethylsulfide (10.1M in THF, 1.4 mL) was added in a dropwise manner at 60 °C to a stirred solution of *N-iso*-propyl-6-bromo-1*H*-indol-3-glyoxylamide (115) (1.5 g, 4.9 mol) in dry THF (35 mL). The reaction mixture was heated at reflux for 5 h, cooled to room temperature and quenched with HCl (2N, to pH 1). The THF was

evaporated under reduced pressure and the remaining aqueous portion was diluted with H₂O (100 mL), basified with NaOH (3M, to pH 9) and extracted with CH₂Cl₂ (3 x 50 mL). The combined organic portions were washed with H₂O (2 x 50 mL), dried (Na₂SO₄), and solvent was evaporated under reduced pressure to yield 1.2 g (89%) of **117** as a yellow foam: ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 1.07-1.09 (d, 6H, CH₃), 2.86-2.90 (m, 2H, CH₂), 3.21-3.23 (t, 2H, CH₂), 6.91 (s, 1H, Ar), 7.13-7.15 (d, 1H, Ar), 7.43 (s, 2H, Ar), 8.01 (s, IH, indolic NH). Compound **117** was used without further purification in the synthesis of compound **119**.

N-Benzyl-6-bromotryptamine (118). Compound 118 was prepared using a literature procedure for a similar compound.¹⁷⁸ Borane dimethylsulfide (10.1M in THF, 1.3 mL) was added in a dropwise manner at 60 °C to a stirred solution of *N*-benzyl-6-bromo-1*H*-indol-3-glyoxylamide (116) (1.5 g, 4.2 mmol) in anhydrous THF (35 mL). The reaction mixture was heated at reflux for 5.5 h, cooled to room temperature and quenched with HCl (2N, to pH 1). The organic solvent was evaporated under reduced pressure and the remaining aqueous mixture was diluted with H₂O (100 mL), basified with NaOH (3M, to pH 9) and extracted with CH₂Cl₂ (3 x 50 mL). The combined organic portion was washed with H₂O (2 x 50 mL), dried (Na₂SO₄), and solvent was evaporated under reduced pressure to yield 1.4 g (61%) of **118** as a yellow foam. Compound **118** was used without further purification for synthesis of compound **120**.

tert-Butyl-2-(6-bromo-1*H*-indol-3-yl)ethyl-*N-iso*-propylcarbamate (119). Compound 119 was prepared using a literature procedure for a similar compound.⁹ Triethylamine (0.60 mL, 4.3 mmol) and di-*tert*-butyl dicarbonate (0.93 g, 4.3 mmol) were added to a CH₂Cl₂ (20 mL) solution

of *N-iso*-propyl-6-bromotryptamine (**117**) (1.20 g, 4.3 mmol) and allowed to stir overnight. The reaction mixture was diluted with CH_2Cl_2 (30 mL) and washed with H_2O (3 x 40 mL), dried (Na₂SO₄), and evaporated to yield a crude residue. The residue was purified by column chromatography (silica gel; hexanes/EtOAc; 100:1 to 100:24) to afford 1.04 g (64%) of **119** as white foam: ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 1.07-1.09 (d, 6H, CH₃), 1.43 (s, 9H, CH₃), 2.86-2.90 (m, 2H, CH₂), 3.21-3.23 (t, 2H, CH₂), 4.04-4.06 (sep, 1H, CH), 6.91 (s, 1H, Ar), 7.13-7.15 (d, 1H, Ar), 7.43 (s, 2H, Ar), 8.01 (s, IH, indolic NH).

tert-Butyl-2-(6-bromo-1*H*-indol-3-yl)ethyl-*N*-benzylcarbamate (120). Compound 120 was prepared using a literature procedure for a similar compound.⁹ Triethylamine (0.3 g, 2.6 mmol) and di-*tert*-butyl dicarbonate (0.6 g, 2.6 mmol) were added to an anhydrous CH₂Cl₂ (15 mL) solution of *N*-benzyl-6-bromotryptamine (118) (0.8 g, 2.6 mmol) and allowed to stir at room temperature for 24 h. The reaction mixture was diluted with CH₂Cl₂ (30 mL) and washed with H₂O (3 x 40 mL), dried (Na₂SO₄), and evaporated to yield a crude residue. The residue was purified by column chromatography (silica gel; hexanes/EtOAc; 100:1 to 100:24) to afford 0.6 g (50%) of **120** as a white foam: ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 1.38 (s, 9H, (CH₃)₃), 2.83 (br s, 2H, CH₂), 3.36 (br s, 2H, CH₂), 4.31 (s, 2H, CH₂), 6.84 (br s, 1H, Ar), 7.10-7.30 (m, 8H, Ar), 7.91 (br s, IH, indolic NH).

tert-Butyl-2-(6-bromo-2-(1,1-dimethylallyl)-1*H*-indol-3-yl)ethyl-*N*-*iso*-propyl carbamate (121). Compound 121 was prepared using a literature procedure for a similar compound.¹⁹⁸ *tert*-Butyl hypochlorite (0.24 g, 2.2 mmol) was added to a solution of *tert*-butyl-2-(6-bromo-1*H*-

indol-3-yl)ethyl-*N-iso*-propylcarbamate (**119**) (0.70 g, 1.8 mmol) and Et₃N (0.22 g, 2.2 mmol) in THF (15 mL) at -65 °C and allowed to stir for 45 min. Freshly prepared prenyl 9-BBN¹⁷⁹ (3.7 mmol) was added in a dropwise manner over 30 min while maintaining the temperature at -50 °C. The reaction mixture was allowed to warm to room temperature and stirred for an additional 4 h. Sodium hydroxide (3M, 7 mL) and H₂O₂ (30%, 7 mL) were added in a dropwise manner and stirring was continued for 1 h. The reaction mixture was diluted with Et₂O (50 mL), and the organic layer was washed with H₂O (3 x 60 mL), brine (80 mL), dried (Na₂SO₄), and evaporated to yield a crude residue. The residue was purified by column chromatography (silica gel; hexanes/EtOAc; 100:1 to 10:1) to afford 0.5 g (62%) of **121** as a white foam: ¹HNMR (CDCl₃) δ 1.25 (d, 6H, CH₃), 1.43 (s, 9H, CH₃), 1.50 (s, 6H, CH₃), 2.86-2.90 (m, 2H, CH₂), 3.21-3.23 (t, 2H, CH₂), 5.09-5.13 (d, 2H CH₂), 6.12-6.19 (m, 1H, CH), 7.13-7.15 (d, *J* = 8.4, 1.8 Hz, 1H, Ar), 7.43 (s, 2H, Ar), 8.01 (s, 1H, indolic NH). Compound **121** was used in preparation of **91**.

tert-Butyl-2-(6-bromo-2-(1,1-dimethylallyl)-1*H*-indol-3-yl)ethyl-*N*-benzylcarbamate (122). Compound 122 was prepared using a literature procedure for a similar compound.¹⁹⁸ *tert*-Butyl hypochlorite (0.09 g, 0.8 mmol) was added to a solution of *tert*-butyl-2-(6-bromo-1*H*-indol-3-yl)ethyl-*N*-benzylcarbamate (120) (0.30 g, 0.7 mmol) and Et₃N (0.08 g, 0.8 mmol) in anhydrous THF (10 mL) at -65 °C and allowed to stir for 45 min. Freshly prepared prenyl 9-BBN¹⁷⁹ (1.4 mmol) was added in a dropwise manner over 10 min while maintaining the temperature at -50 °C. The reaction mixture was allowed to warm to room temperature and stirred for an additional 5.5 h. Sodium hydroxide (3M, 3 mL) and H₂O₂ (30%, 3 mL) were added in a dropwise manner and stirring was continued for 1 h. The reaction mixture was diluted with Et₂O (50 mL), and the

organic layer was washed with H₂O (3 x 30 mL), brine (50 mL), dried (Na₂SO₄), and evaporated to yield a crude residue. The residue was purified by column chromatography (silica gel; hexanes/EtOAc; 100:1 to 10:1) to afford 0.06 g (17%) of **122** as a white foam: ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 1.37 (s, 9H, (CH₃)₃), 1.43 (s, 6H, (CH₃)₂), 2.84 (br s, 2H, CH₂), 3.36 (br s, 2H, CH₂), 4.31 (s, 2H, CH₂), 4.99-5.03 (d, 2H CH₂), 6.02-6.08 (m, 1H, CH), 6.84 (d, *J* = 8.4 Hz, 1H, Ar), 7.10-7.30 (m, 7H, Ar), 7.43 (s, 2H, Ar), 8.01 (s, IH, indolic NH). This compound was employed in the preparation of compound **92**.

N-Methyl-6-bromo-1*H*-indol-3-glyoxylamide (123). Compound 123 was prepared as described.²⁰¹ In a 2-neck flask a solution of 6-bromoindole (46) (4.0 g, 20 mmol) in anhydrous Et₂O (20 mL) was chilled to -5 °C and N₂ was bubbled for 5 min. Oxalyl chloride (3.6 mL, 41 mmol) was added in a dropwise manner with continued stirring and the reaction was stirred at 0 °C for 2 h, after which the solvent was evaporated, the residue was washed with cold Et₂O (25 mL) and dried under vacuum. The solid was added to cold aqueous methylamine (40%, 35 mL) and was allowed to stir at room temperature for 2 h after which the precipitate was collected by filtration to yield a brown solid which, upon recrystallization from MeOH, yielded 4.3 g (73%) of **123** as a white solid: mp 252-253 °C (lit.⁹ mp 249-252 °C); ¹H NMR (DMSO-*d*₆) δ 2.75 (s, 3H, CH₃), 7.4 (d, *J* = 8.48 Hz, 1H, Ar), 7.73 (s, 1H, Ar), 8.15 (d, *J* = 8.48 Hz, 1H, Ar), 8.68 (s, 1H, NH aliphatic), 8.79 (s, 1H, Ar), 12.26 (s, 1H, indolic NH). Compound **123** was used in the preparation of compound **35**.

tert-Butyl-2-(6-bromo-2-(1,1-dimethylallyl)-1*H*-indol-3-yl)ethyl-*N*-methylcarbamate (124). Compound 124 was prepared as described.¹⁹⁸ *tert*-Butyl hypochlorite (0.5 g, 4.1 mmol) was added to a solution of *tert*-butyl-2-(6-bromo-1*H*-indol-3-yl)ethyl-*N*-methylcarbamate (61) (1.2 g, 3.4 mmol) and Et₃N (0.4 g, 4.1 mmol) in anhydrous THF (15 mL) at -78 °C and allowed to stir for 45 min. Freshly prepared prenyl 9-BBN¹⁷⁹ (6.8 mmol) was added in a dropwise manner over 30 min while maintaining the temperature at -78 °C. The reaction mixture was allowed to warm to room temperature and stirred for 2 h. Sodium hydroxide (3M, 5 mL) and H₂O₂ (30% v/v, 5 mL) were added in a dropwise manner and stirring was continued for 1 h. The reaction mixture was diluted with Et₂O (100 mL), and the organic layer was washed with H₂O (3 x 60 mL), brine (80 mL), dried (Na₂SO₄), and evaporated to yield a crude residue which was purified by column chromatography (silica gel; hexanes/EtOAc 100:1 to 10:1) to afford 0.4 g (27%) of **124** as a white foam: ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 1.40 (s, 9H, (CH₃)₃), 1.54 (s, 6H, (CH₃)₂), 2.78 (t, 3H, CH₃), 2.92 (t, 2H, CH₂), 3.32 (t, 2H, CH₂), 5.09 (m, 2H, CH₂), 6.03 (m, 1H, CH), 7.10-7.35 (m, 3H, Ar), 7.77 (s, 1H, indolic NH).

tert-Butyl-2-(6-bromo-1-methyl-2-(1,1-dimethylallyl)-indol-3-yl)ethyl-*N*-methyl carbamate (125). Compound 125 was prepared according to a literature procedure for a similar compound.^{207,208} In a dry, round-bottom flask NaH (60% oil dispersion) (0.04 g, 0.9 mmol) was allowed to stir with anhydrous toluene at 0 °C (ice bath) for 10 min. After removal of the toluene, a solution of *tert*-butyl-2-(6-bromo-2-(1,1-dimethylallyl)-1*H*-indol-3-yl)ethyl-*N*-methylcarbamate (124) (0.3 g, 0.7 mmol) in anhydrous DMF (5 mL) was added and stirring continued at 0 °C (ice bath) for 30 min. Iodomethane (0.15 g, 1.1 mmol) was added to the cold

solution and the reaction mixture was allowed to stir at room temperature for 1.5 h. The reaction was quenched with H₂O (10 mL) and extracted with EtOAc (3 x 20 mL). The combined organic portions were washed with H₂O (3 x 25 mL) and brine (40 mL), dried (Na₂SO₄) and evaporated to dryness under reduced pressure to yield a crude, yellow-colored oil which was purified by column chromatography (silica gel; hexanes/EtOAc 100:1 to 10:1) to afford 0.2 g (79%) of **125** as a light-yellow oil: ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 1.41 (s, 9H, (CH₃)₃), 1.56 (s, 6H, (CH₃)₂), 1.97-2.11 (m, 2H, CH₂), 2.51 (br s, 5H, NCH₃, CH₂), 5.18-5.26 (m, 2H, CH₂), 6.28-6.35 (m, 1H, CH), 6.77 (d, 2H, ArCH₂), 7.13-7.18 (m. 7H, Ar), 7.72 (s, 1H, Ar). The product was used in the preparation of compound **93**.

tert-Butyl-2-(6-bromo-1-benzyl-2-(1,1-dimethylallyl)-indol-3-yl)ethyl-*N*-methyl carbamate (126). Compound 126 was prepared according to a literature procedure for a similar compound.^{207,208} In a dry, round-bottom flask NaH (60% oil dispersion) (0.02 g, 0.6 mmol) was allowed to stir with anhydrous toluene at 0 °C (ice bath) for 10 min. After removal of the toluene, a solution of *tert*-butyl-2-(6-bromo-2-(1,1-dimethylallyl)-1*H*-indol-3-yl)ethyl-*N*-methylcarbamate (124) (0.2 g, 0.5 mmol) in anhydrous DMF (2 mL) was added and stirring continued at 0 °C (ice bath) for 45 min. Benzyl bromide (0.09 g, 0.6 mmol) was added to the cold solution and the reaction mixture was allowed to stir at room temperature for 5.5 h. The reaction was quenched with H₂O (30 mL) and extracted with EtOAc (3 x 20 mL). The combined organic portions were washed with H₂O (3 x 25 mL) and brine (40 mL), dried (Na₂SO₄) and evaporated to dryness under reduced pressure to yield a crude, yellow-colored oil which was purified by column chromatography (silica gel; hexanes/EtOAc 100:1 to 100:5) to afford 0.13 g

(55%) of **126** as a white foam: ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 1.31 (s, 9H, (CH₃)₃), 1.47 (s, 6H, (CH₃)₂), 1.97-2.11 (m, 2H, CH₂), 2.51 (br s, 5H, NCH₃, CH₂), 5.18-5.26 (m, 2H, CH₂), 6.28-6.35 (m, 1H, CH), 6.7 (s, 2H, CH₂), 7.1-7.2 (m, 7H, Ar), 7.37 (s, 1H, Ar). Compound **126** was used in the preparation of compound **94**.

N,*N*-Dimethyl-5-bromo-2-(1,1-dimethylallyl)isotryptamine Hvdrogen Oxalate (127).Compound **127** was prepared according to a literature procedure for a similar compound.^{207,208} In a dry, round-bottom flask NaH (60% oil dispersion) (0.06 g, 1.4 mmol) was allowed to stir with anhydrous toluene in an ice bath for 10 min. After removal of the toluene, a solution of 5-bromo-2-(1,1-dimethylallyl)-1H-indole (131) (0.15 g, 0.6 mmol) in anhydrous DMF (5 mL) was added and stirring continued in an ice bath (0 °C) for another 20 min. In a separate beaker a solution of N,N-dimethylaminoethyl chloride hydrochloride (0.2 g, 1.1 mmol), KtBuO (0.2 g, 1.4 mmol) and KI (0.08 g, 0.6 mmol) in cold anhydrous DMF (3 mL) was then added to the round-bottom flask and the reaction mixture was heated at reflux for 17 h. The reaction mixture was quenched with H₂O (20 mL) and extracted with EtOAc (2 x 25 mL) and CH₂Cl₂ (2 x 25 mL). The combined organic portions were washed with H₂O (2 x 50 mL), brine (50 mL), dried (Na₂SO₄) and evaporated to dryness to yield 0.1 g (63%) of free base as a brown-colored oil. Saturated oxalic acid solution in anhydrous Et₂O (5 mL) was added to a solution of the free base (0.1 g) in anhydrous Et₂O (5 mL) at 0 °C and allowed to stir overnight. The precipitate formed was collected by filtration and recrystallized from MeOH/Et₂O to afford 0.04 g (32%) of **127** as white flakes: mp 185-188 °C [The compound was prepared as previously described by D. Kim (postdoctoral fellow in Dr. Glennons lab) as **JSK-087** (mp 191-194 °C)]; ¹H NMR (DMSO-d₆) δ

1.49 (s, 6H, (CH₃)₂), 2.69 (s, 6H N(CH₃)₂), 3.03 (t, 2H, CH₂), 4.42 (t, 2H, CH₂), 5.17 (m, 2H, CH₂), 6.09 (m, 1H, CH), 6.37 (s, 1H, CH), 7.25 (d, 1H, *J* = 8.7 Hz, Ar), 7.43 (s, 1H, *J* = 8.7 Hz, Ar), 7.70 (d, 1H, Ar).

3,5-Dibromo-1*H***-indole (130)**. Compound **130** prepared as described.¹⁹² A solution of liquid Br₂ (0.2 mL, 4 mmol) in anhydrous DMF (5 mL) was added in a dropwise manner to a solution of 5-bromoindole (**129**) (1.0 g, 4 mmol) in anhydrous DMF (5 mL). The light-protected mixture was allowed to stir at room temperature for 12 h and then poured into water and ice (100 mL) containing NH₄OH (2 mL) and saturated aqueous NaS₂O₃ (0.3 mL). The product was collected by filtration and was washed with water, dried under reduced pressure to yield 0.6 g (41%) of **130** as a brown solid: mp 90-92 °C (decomp) (lit.¹⁹² mp 94 °C); ¹H NMR (DMSO*d*₆) δ 7.41 (dd, 1H, Ar), 7.29 (dd, 1H, Ar), 7.62 (s, 1H, Ar), 7.53 (s, 1H, Ar), 11.69 (br s, 1H, indolic NH).

5-Bromo-2-(1,1-dimethylallyl)-1*H***-indole (131)**. Compound **131** was prepared as described.¹⁹³ 3,5-Dibromo-1*H*-indole (**130**) (0.5 g, 1.8 mmol) was added in one portion to a freshly prepared prenyl 9-BBN¹⁷⁷ (5.4 mmol) and Et₃N (0.9 mL, 6.3 mmol) in anhydrous THF (10 mL) at room temperature. The reaction mixture was allowed to stir at room temperature for 4 h and then quenched with a saturated solution of NaHCO₃ (20 mL). The organic layer was separated and the aqueous portion was extracted with Et₂O (2 x 20 mL). The combined organic portion was washed with H₂O (2 x 30 mL), brine (30 mL), dried (Na₂SO₄) evaporated to dryness under reduced pressure to yield a crude, dark-yellow oil. The residue was purified by column chromatography (silica gel; hexanes/EtOAc 100:1 to 30:1) to afford 0.3 g (78%) of **131** as a

yellow oil: ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 1.47 (s, 6H, CH₃), 5.10 (m, 2H, CH₂), 6.01 (m, 1H, CH), 6.24 (s, 1H, Ar), 7.20 (dd, 2H, Ar), 7.89 (br s, 1H, indolic NH). Compound **131** was used in the preparation of **127**.

2.2-Dimethylbut-3-enoic acid (133). Compound 133 was prepared as described.²⁰⁹ n-Butyllithium (2.5 M in hexane, 4.6 mL, 11.5 mmol) was added to a 3-neck flask and the solvent was evaporated to dryness under N2. Anhydrous THF (5 mL) was added and the resulting solution was cooled to -78 °C. Diethylamine (1.1 mL, 10.9 mmol) was added and the solution was stirred for 15 min at 0 °C and cooled to -78 °C after which a solution of 2-methylbut-2-enoic acid (132) (0.5 g, 4.9 mmol) in THF (3 mL) was added over 5 min with continuous stirring and stirred additionally for 0.5 h at 0 °C. The solution was cooled again to -78 °C and dimethyl sulfate (0.5 mL, 4.9 mmol) in THF (5 mL) was added over 5 min and stirring was continued for 0.5 h at the temperature, and then for additional 1.5 h at room temperature. The reaction mixture was quenched with H₂O (10 mL) and the mixture was washed with Et₂O (3 x 15 mL). The aqueous portion was acidified with conc. HCl (to pH 1) and extracted with EtOAc (3 x 10 mL). The combined organic portion was washed with H₂O (3 x 25 mL), brine (30 mL), dried (Na₂SO₄) and evaporated to dryness to afford 0.35 g (61%) of 133 as a colorless oil: bp 184-187 °C (lit.²⁰⁹ bp not reported); ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 1.27 (s, 6H, (CH₃)₂), 5.03-5.11 (m, 2H, CH₂), 5.95-6.02 (m, 1H, CH), 6.93 (s, 1H, COOH).

2,2-Dimethylbut-3-enoyl chloride (134). Compound 134 was prepared as described.²¹⁰ Oxalyl chloride (0.3 mL, 2.9 mmol) was added dropwise to a solution of 2,2-dimethylbut-3-enoic acid

(133) (0.3 g, 2.6 mmol) in anhydrous CH_2Cl_2 (5 mL) and few drops of DMF at 0 °C and stirred for 16 h at room temperature. On completion the reaction mixture was evaporated to dryness under reduced pressure to afford 0.3 g (90%) of 134 as a colorless oil. The material was used without further purification for synthesis of compound 135.

N-(4-Bromo-2-nitrophenyl)-2,2-dimethylbut-3-enamide (135). Compound 135 was prepared according to a literature procedure for a similar compound.²¹¹ A solution of 2-butyl-2-methylbut-3-enoyl chloride (134) (0.3 g, 2.4 mmol) in CH₂Cl₂ (30 mL) was cooled to 0 °C to which DMAP (0.1 g, 0.8 mmol), 4-bromo-2-nitroaniline (77) (0.3 g, 1.5 mmol) and DCC (0.3 g, 1.5 mmol) was added sequentially, stirred for 10 min at 0 °C and heated at reflux for 19 h. The reaction mixture was allowed to cool to room temperature and washed with HCl (2M, 3 x 30 mL), saturated NaHCO₃ (40 mL), brine (40 mL), dried (Na₂SO₄) and the solvent was removed under reduced pressure to yield a crude, yellow oil. The residue was purified by column chromatography (silica gel; hexanes/EtOAc; 100:1 to 100:15) to afford 0.2 g (52%) of 135 as a yellow solid: mp 98-99 °C; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 1.35 (s, 6H, (CH₃)₂), 5.33-5.37 (m, 2H, CH₂), 5.98-6.06 (m, 1H, CH), 7.65 (dd, *J* = 9.1, 2.4 Hz, 1H, Ar), 8.28 (d, *J* = 2.4 Hz, 1H, Ar), 8.68 (d, *J* = 9.1 Hz, 1H, Ar), 10.51 (br s, 1H, NH).); IR (Diamond): 1698 cm⁻¹ (C=O).

5-Bromo-2-(1,1-dimethtylallyl)-benzo[*d*]**imidazole** (136). Compound 136 was prepared according to a literature procedure for a similar compound.²¹² Iron (0.07 g, 1.3 mmol) was added to a solution of *N*-(4-bromo-2-nitrophenyl)-2,2-dimethylbut-3-enamide (135) (0.2 g, 0.6 mmol) in gl. HOAc (4 mL) and the reaction mixture was heated at reflux for 5 h. The reaction mixture

was allowed to cool to room temperature and diluted with H₂O (25 mL). The aqueous mixture was washed with EtOAc (2 x 25 mL) and basified with NaOH (3M, to pH 8). The basified aqueous portion was extracted with EtOAc (3 x 30 mL), and the combined organic portions were washed with H₂O (2 x 30 mL), brine (30 mL), dried (Na₂SO₄) and the solvent was removed under reduced pressure to yield 0.15 g (86%) of **136** as a cream-colored solid: mp 231-233 °C; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 1.52 (s, 6H, (CH₃)₂), 5.15-5.20 (m, 2H, CH₂), 6.04-6.11 (m, 1H, CH), 7.44 (d, *J* = 1.8 Hz, 1H, Ar), 7.55 (dd, *J* = 8.5, 1.8 Hz, 1H, Ar), 7.82 (d, *J* = 8.6 Hz, 1H, Ar), 8.73 (br s, 1H, NH).

2-(1,1-Dimethylallyl)gramine Hydrogen Oxalate (137). Compound 137 was prepared following a literature procedure for a similar compound.²¹³ Dimethylamine (40%, 0.1 mL, 0.8 mmol) and HCHO (37%, 0.7 mL, 0.8 mmol) were added to a solution of 2-(1,1-dimethylallyl)-1*H*-indole (141) (0.10 g, 0.5 mmol) in gl. HOAc (3 mL) maintained at 5 °C. When the vapors ceased, MeOH (4 mL) was added to make a clear solution and the reaction mixture was allowed to stir overnight at room temperature. The organic solvent was removed by evaporation under reduced pressure and the solution was basified with NaOH (3M, to pH 10). The aqueous portion was extracted with Et₂O (3 x 30 mL) and the combined organic portion was washed with H₂O (3 x 50 mL), brine (50 mL), dried (Na₂SO₄) and the solvent was removed under reduced pressure to yield the gramine as a free base which was converted to an oxalate salt by addition of a saturated oxalic acid solution in anhydrous Et₂O (5 mL) at 0 °C. The precipitate was collected by filtration, dried and recrystallized from *i*-PrOH to afford 0.04 g (22%) of **137** as white crystals: mp 155-158 °C; ¹H NMR (DMSO- d_6) δ 1.54 (s, 6H, (CH₃)₂), 2.72 (s, 6H, N(CH₃)₂), 4.39 (s, 2H, CH₂), 5.22 (m, 2H, CH₂), 6.33 (m, 1H, CH), 7.04-7.68 (m, 4H, Ar), 11.13 (br s, 1H, COOH). Anal. Calcd for (C₁₆H₂₂N₂·C₂H₂O₄·0.5 H₂O) C, 63.33; H, 7.38; N, 8.21. Found: C, 63.09; H, 7.40; N, 8.42.

6-Bromo-2-propylgramine Hydrogen Oxalate (138). Compound 138 was prepared following a literature procedure for a similar compound.²¹³ Dimethylamine (40% in H₂O, 0.12 mL, 1.0 mmol), formaldehyde (37%, 0.07 mL, 0.9 mmol) and zinc iodide (0.30 g, 1.0 mmol) were added to a solution of 6-bromo-2-propyl-1*H*-indole (**143**) (0.15 g, 0.6 mmol) in absolute EtOH (20 mL) and allowed to stir at room temperature for 24 h. The organic solvent was evaporated under reduced pressure, and the aqueous portion was extracted with CH₂Cl₂ (2 x 40 mL). The combined organic portions were washed with H₂O (3 x 50 mL), dried (Na₂SO₄) and evaporated under reduced pressure to yield the free base as a yellow oil. Saturated oxalic acid solution in anhydrous Et₂O (5 mL) was added to a solution of crude 6-bromo-2-propylgramine (0.1 g) in anhydrous Et₂O (5 mL) at 0 °C and allowed to stir overnight. The precipitate formed was collected by filtration and recrystallized from *i*-PrOH to afford 0.05 g (21%) of **138** as white crystals: mp 181-183 °C; ¹H NMR (DMSO-*d*₆) δ 0.93 (s, 3H, CH₃), 1.69 (m, 2H, CH₂), 2.74 (s, 6H, CH₃), 2.79 (t, 2H, CH₂), 4.39 (s, 2H, CH₂), 7.20 (dd, J = 8.4, 1.8 Hz, 1H, Ar), 7.50 (d, J =1.6 Hz, 1H, Ar), 7.65 (d, J = 8.4 Hz, 1H, Ar), 9.17 (br s, 1H, indolic NH), 11.47 (s, 1H, COOH). Anal. Calcd for (C₁₄H₁₉BrN₂·C₂H₂O₄) C, 49.88; H, 5.49; N, 7.27. Found: C, 49.85; H, 5.44; N, 7.26.

3-Bromo-1*H***-indole** (140). Compound 140 was prepared as described.^{192,214} A solution of liquid Br_2 (0.7 mL, 14 mmol) in anhydrous DMF (20 mL) was added in a dropwise manner to a solution of indole (139) (2.0 g, 17 mmol) in anhydrous DMF (20 mL). The light-protected mixture was allowed to stir at room temperature for 24 h and then poured into water and ice (100 mL) containing NH₄OH (2 mL) and a saturated aqueous solution of Na₂S₂O₃ (0.5 mL). The aqueous portion was extracted with EtOAc (3 x 40 mL). The combined organic portion was washed with 5% aqueous LiCl (3 x 40 mL), brine (50 mL), dried (Na₂SO₄) and the solvent was removed under reduced pressure to yield a crude product which upon recrystallization from petroleum ether/Et₂O yield 1.6 g (48%) of **140** as an off-white solid: mp 66-67 °C (decomp) (lit.²¹⁴ mp 65 °C).

2-(1,1-Dimethylallyl)-1*H***-indole (141)**. Compound **141** was prepared as described.²¹⁵ 3-Bromo-1*H*-indole (**140**) (0.3 g, 1.3 mmol) was added in one portion to freshly prepared prenyl 9-BBN¹⁷⁷ (3.8 mmol) and Et₃N (0.6 mL, 4.5 mmol) in anhydrous THF (10 mL) at room temperature. The reaction mixture was allowed to stir at room temperature for 5 h and then quenched with saturated NaHCO₃ (20 mL). The organic layer was separated and the aqueous portion was extracted with Et₂O (3 x 40 mL). The combined organic portion was washed with H₂O (2 x 30 mL), brine (30 mL), dried (Na₂SO₄) and the solvent was removed under reduced pressure to yield a crude, yellow oil. The residue was purified by column chromatography (silica gel; hexanes/EtOAc; 50:1 to 10:1) to afford 0.2 g (85%) of **141** as a yellow oil: ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 1.41 (s, 6H, (CH₃)₂), 5.05 (m, 2H, CH₂), 5.97 (m, 1H, CH), 6.24 (s, 1H, Ar), 6.97-7.48 (m, 4H, Ar), 7.8 (br s, 1H, indolic NH). Compound **141** was used in the preparation of compound **137**. **5-Bromo-2-(1-pentynyl)aniline** (142). Compound 142 was prepared following a literature procedure for a similar compound.²⁰⁴ A mixture of 5-bromo-2-iodoaniline (79) (1.0 g, 3.4 mmol), CuI (0.03 g, 0.2 mmol) and PdCl₂(PPh₃)₂ (0.12 g, 0.2 mmol) were suspended in anhydrous THF (30 mL). Et₃N (1.4 mL, 10.1 mmol) and 1-pentyne (0.4 mL, 4.4 mmol) were added successively and the reaction mixture was allowed to stir at room temperature overnight. The reaction mixture was diluted with Et₂O (100 mL), filtered through Celite, and the organic portion was washed sequentially with H₂O (3 x 100 mL), a saturated aqueous solution of NH₄Cl (50 mL), brine (50 mL), dried (Na₂SO₄) and the solvent was evaporated under reduced pressure to yield a crude residue. The crude product was purified by column chromatography (silica gel; hexanes/EtOAc 100:1 to 75:1) to afford 1.4 g (88%) of 142 as a light-yellow oil: ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 0.98 (t, 3H, CH₃), 1.57 (m, 2H, CH₂), 2.36 (t, 2H, CH₂), 4.14 (br s, 2H, NH₂), 6.70 (dd, *J* = 8.2, 1.9 Hz, 1H, Ar), 6.76 (d, *J* = 1.9 Hz, 1H, Ar), 7.01 (d, *J* = 8.2 Hz, 1H, Ar).

6-Bromo-2-propyl-1*H***-indole (143)**. Compound **143** was prepared following a literature procedure for a similar compound.¹⁸⁸ Zinc iodide (0.9 g, 0.3 mmol) was added in one portion to a solution of 5-bromo-2-(1-pentynyl)aniline (**142**) (1.4 g, 5.9 mmol) in anhydrous toluene (20 mL) and the reaction mixture was heated at reflux for 3 h. The reaction mixture was allowed to cool to room temperature, quenched with H₂O (100 mL) and extracted with CH₂Cl₂ (3 X 50 mL). The combined organic portion was washed with H₂O (3 x 70 mL), dried (Na₂SO₄) and the solvent was evaporated under reduced pressure to afford a crude product which after recrystallization from hexanes yielded 1.2 g (87%) of **143** as yellow crystals: mp 85-86 °C; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ

0.93 (t, 3H, CH₃), 1.67 (m, 2H, CH₂), 2.64 (t, 2H, CH₂), 6.14 (s, 1H, Ar), 7.09 (dd, J = 8.4, 1.7 Hz, 1H, Ar), 7.29 (d, J = 8.4 Hz, 1H, Ar), 7.36 (s, 1H, Ar), 7.77 (br s, 1H, indolic NH). Compound **143** was employed in preparation of compound **138**.

N-Methyl-5,6-Dibromo-2-(1,1-dimethylallyl)tryptamine Hydrochloride (144). Gaseous HCl was bubbled through a solution of *tert*-butyl-2-(5,6-dibromo-2-(1,1-dimethylallyl)-1*H*-indol-3-yl)ethyl-*N*-methylcarbamate (151) (280 mg) in dry anhydrous EtOAc (10 mL) at 0 °C. The reaction mixture was allowed to stir for 24 h and the solvent was evaporated to yield a white solid which upon recrystallization from *i*-PrOH, yielded 60 mg (25%) of 144 as white crystals: mp 238-239 °C; ¹H NMR (DMSO-*d*₆) δ 1.52 (s, 6H, CH₃), 2.62 (s, 3H NH(CH3), 2.95 (t, 2H, CH₂), 3.09 (t, 2H, CH₂), 5.10-5.16 (m, 2H, CH₂), 6.12-6.19 (m, 1H, CH), 7.71 (s, 1H, Ar), 8.03 (s, 1H, Ar), 8.81 (br s, 1H, NH⁺ aliphatic), 10.98 (s, 1H, indolic NH). Anal. Calcd for (C₁₆H₂₀Br₂N₂·HCl) C, 44.01; H, 4.85; N, 6.35. Found: C, 43.99; H, 4.74; N, 6.35.

Methyl-5,6-dibromo-1*H***-indolyl-3-carboxylate** (146). Compound 146 was prepared as described.¹⁹⁴ Liquid Br₂ (3.9 mL, 75 mmol) was added to a suspension of commercially available methyl-1*H*-indolyl-3-carboxylate (145) (6 g, 34 mmol) in HOAc (45 mL) and the reaction mixture was allowed to stir at room temperature for 16 h. The reaction mixture was filtered and the precipitate was collected and washed with EtOH (2 x 50 mL) and petroleum ether (50 mL), and dried in air to yield 7.7 g (68%) of 146 as a grey powder: mp 246-252 °C (lit.¹⁹⁴ mp 237-242 °C); ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 3.85 (s, 3H, CH₃), 7.65 (s, 1H, Ar), 7.83 (s, 1H, Ar), 8.39 (s, 1H, Ar), 8.45 (br s, 1H, indolic NH).
5,6-Dibromo-1*H***-indole** (147). Compound 146 was prepared as described.¹⁹⁴ Methyl-5,6dibromo-1*H*-indolyl-3-carboxylate (146) (5 g, 15 mmol), KOH (3 g, 54 mmol), MeOH (9 mL), THF (9 mL) and H₂O (4 mL) was added to a 50 mL glass tube. The solution was microwave (100 W, 150 °C, 1 h) irradiated. The reaction mixture was diluted with CH₂Cl₂ (50 mL) and the organic phase was separated and washed with H₂O (2 x 50 mL), and dried (Na₂SO₄) to obtain a crude brown solid which, on recrystallization with toluene/hexanes, yielded 3.2 g (68%) of 147 as buff-colored flakes: mp 150-152 °C (lit.¹⁹² mp 150-151°C); ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 6.41 (m, 1H, Ar), 7.14 (t, 1H, Ar), 7.63 (s, 1H, Ar), 7.84 (s, 1H, Ar), 8.09 (br s, 1H, indolic NH).

N-Methyl-5,6-dibromo-1*H*-indol-3-glyoxylamide (148). Compound 148 was prepared according to a literature procedure for a similar compound.²⁰¹ A solution of 5,6-dibromo-1*H*-indole (147) (1.8 g, 6.6 mmol) in anhydrous Et₂O (20 mL) in a 2-neck flask was chilled to -5 °C and N₂ was bubbled in for 5 min. Oxalyl chloride (1.2 mL, 13.1 mmol) was added in a dropwise manner and the reaction mixture was heated at reflux for 5 h. The reaction mixture was filtered and the precipitate was washed with cold Et₂O (2 x 10 mL) and air dried. The solid was added to cold methylamine (40% in H₂O, 25 mL) and the solution was allowed to stir at room temperature overnight. The reaction mixture was diluted with H₂O (100 mL) and the residue was collected by filtration and air dried to yield 1.8 g (76%) of **148** as a buff-colored solid: mp 263-264 °C (decomp); ¹H NMR (DMSOd₆) δ 2.75 (s, 3H, CH₃), 7.14 (s, 1H, Ar), 7.63 (s, 1H, Ar), 7.84 (s, 1H, Ar), 8.09 (br s, 1H, indolic NH).

N-Methyl-5,6-Dibromotryptamine (149). Borane dimethylsulfide (10.1M in THF, 1.4 mL, 14 mmol) was added in a dropwise manner at 60 °C to a stirred solution of *N*-methyl-5,6-dibromo-1*H*-indol-3-glyoxylamide (148) (1.7 g, 5 mmol) in dry THF (35 mL). The reaction mixture was allowed to stir at reflux for 7 h, cooled to 0 °C, quenched with H₂O (4 mL), acidified with HCl (2N, to pH 1), and heated at reflux for 1 h. The THF was evaporated under reduced pressure and the remaining aqueous portion was diluted with H₂O (100 mL), basified with NaOH (3M, to pH 9) and extracted with CH₂Cl₂ (3 x 50 mL). The combined organic portions were washed with H₂O (2 x 50 mL), dried (Na₂SO₄), and solvent was evaporated under reduced pressure to yield 1.5 g (96%) of **149** as a white solid: mp 107-111 °C; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 2.30 (s, 3H, NHCH₃), 2.71 (t, 2H, CH₂), 2.76 (t, 2H, CH₂), 7.25 (s, 1H, Ar), 7.73 (s, 1H, Ar), 7.91 (s, 1H, Ar), 11.09 (br s, 1H, indolic NH). The material was used without further purification for synthesis of compound **150**.

tert-Butyl-2-(5,6-dibromo-1*H*-indol-3-yl)ethyl-*N*-methylcarbamate (150). Compound 150 was prepared based on a literature procedure for similar compound.⁹ Triethylamine (0.5 g, 4.5 mmol) and di-*tert*-butyl dicarbonate (1.0 g, 4.5 mmol) were added to a solution of 5,6-dibromo-1*H*-indol-3-yl-*N*-methylethanamine (149) (1.5 g, 4.5 mmol) in DMF (20 mL) and the solution was allowed to stir at room temperature for 24 h. The reaction mixture was quenched with H₂O (40 mL) and extracted with EtOAc (3 x 40 mL). The combined organic portions were washed with H₂O (3 x 40 mL), brine (50 mL), dried (Na₂SO₄) and the solvent was evaporated under reduced pressure to yield a crude residue. The residue was purified by column chromatography (silica gel; hexanes/EtOAc; 100:1 to 3:1) to afford 1.2 g (60%) of **150** as a white foam: ¹H NMR

(CDCl₃) δ 1.40 (s, 9H, CH₃), 2.84 (s, 3H, NHCH₃), 2.91 (t, 2H, CH₂), 3.48 (t, 2H, CH₂), 7.01 (s, 1H, Ar), 7.66 (s, 1H, Ar), 7.87 (s, 1H, Ar), 8.07 (br s, 1H, indolic NH).

tert-Butyl-2-(5,6-dibromo-2-(1,1-dimethylallyl)-1H-indol-3-yl)ethyl-N-methylcarbamate

(151). Compound 151 was prepared based on a literature procedure of a similar compound.¹⁹⁸ tert-Butyl hypochlorite (0.3 g, 3.0 mmol) was added to a solution of tert-butyl-2-(5,6-dibromo-1H-indol-3-yl)ethyl-N-methylcarbamate (150) (1.0 g, 2.3 mmol) and Et₃N (0.3 g, 3 mmol) in THF (25 mL) at -78 °C and the solution was allowed to stir for 90 min. Freshly prepared prenyl 9-BBN¹⁷⁹ (4.6 mmol) was added in a dropwise manner over 20 min while maintaining the temperature at -55 °C. The reaction mixture was allowed to warm to room temperature and stirred for an additional 6 h. Sodium hydroxide (3M, 10 mL) and H₂O₂ (30%, 10 mL) were added in a dropwise manner, and reaction mixture was stirred for an additional 2 h, and then diluted with Et₂O (100 mL). The organic layer was washed with H₂O (3 x 60 mL), brine (80 mL), dried (Na₂SO₄), and evaporated under reduced pressure to yield a crude residue. The residue was purified by column chromatography (silica gel; hexanes/EtOAc; 100:1 to 10:1) to afford 0.4 g (33%) of **151** as a white foam: mp 55-57 °C; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 1.44 (s, 9H, CH₃), 2.71-2.90 (m, 5H, CH₂, CH₃), 3.29 (m, 2H, CH₂), 5.07-5.12 (m, 2H, CH₂), 5.99-6.06 (m, 1H, CH), 7.49 (s, 1H, Ar), 7.72 (s, 1H, Ar), 7.82 (br s, 1H, indolic NH). Compound 151 was employed in the preparation of compound 144.

B. Electrophysiology

The electrophysiological studies were performed in Dr. Shulte's lab at the University of Alaska (Fairbanks). The cDNA sequences for the human $\alpha 4$ (NCBI Reference Sequence: NM_000744.5) and β 2 (NCBI Reference Sequence: NM_000748.2) nACh receptors were used for the synthesis of the cDNA for for each of the subunits (performed in Burlingame, CA). The cDNA for the β 2 subunit was inserted in the pcDNA3.1/Zero (+) expression vector and the α 4 subunit was inserted in the pcDNA3.1/hygromyocin expression vector (both the vectors obtained from Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA). Ovarian lobes from the *Xenopus laevis* frogs were obtained by surgically removing and washing twice with Barth's buffer (Ca^{2+} free) (82.5 mM NaCl/2.5 mM KCl/1 mM MgCl₂/5 mM HEPES, pH 7.4). The oocytes were then shaken with collagenase (1.5 mg/mL, Sigma Type II obtained from Sigma-Aldrich) for 1 h at 20-25 °C. Stage IV oocytes were selected for the microinjection and injected with 50 nL of the appropriate ratios of the synthetic cRNA transcripts of $\alpha 4$ and $\beta 2$ subunits (prepared using mMESSAGE mMACHINE High Yield Capped RNA Transcription Kit obtained from Ambion, TX) at a concentration of 0.2 ng/mL. Later the injected oocytes were incubated at 19 °C for 24-72 h before being used for the voltage clamp experiments. The incubated oocytes were used for recordings were obtained using an automated two-electrode voltage-clamp system incorporating an OC-725C oocyte amplifier (obtained from Warner Instruments, CT) which was coupled to a computerized data acquisition system; Datapac 2000 (obtained from RUN technologies) and an autoinjection system (Gilson) for the injection of solution of test compounds. The electrodes used for recording and the one providing the current (with a resistance of 1-4 M Ω) were filled with 3 M KCl solution. The oocytes were held in a vertical flow chamber of 200 µL volume and perfused with ND-96 buffer (96 mM NaCl/ 2 mM KCl/ 1.8 mM CaCl₂/ 1 mM MgCl₂/5 mM HEPES; pH 7.4) at a rate of 20 mL/min. The test compound solution (using ND-96 buffer) were injected into the chamber (20 mL/min) using the autoinjection system. The test compounds were applied alone or co-applied with 100 μ M (EC₇₅) of ACh.⁹ All assays were performed at least in triplicate. The EC₅₀ values were calculated by fitting the dose-response curve by non-linear cruve fitting. Built-in algorithms of GraphPad prism (San Diego, CA) was used for the calculation. For IC₅₀ determination dose-response curve data were fit to a single-site competition model. For compounds with the biphasic dose-response curve the data were fit to a hormetic model which generates the EC₅₀ and IC₅₀ simultaneously. Data was expressed in ± SEM or 95% confidence limits. All statistical differences were tested using student's *t*-test with the P values (*P* < 0.05 representing significant statistical difference).^{9,167,216}

REFERENCES

1. Albuquerque, E. X.; Pereira, E. F. R.; Alkondon, M.; Rogers, S. W. Mammalian nicotinic acetylcholine receptors: From structure to function. *Physiol. Rev.* **2009**, *89*, 73-120.

2. Lindstrom, J. Nicotinic acetylcholine receptors. In *Encyclopedia of life sciences*; John Wiley & Sons, Ltd: Chichester, 2001.

3. D'hoedt, D.; Bertrand, D. Nicotinic acetylcholine receptors: An overview on drug discovery. *Expert Opin. Ther. Targets* **2009**, *13*, 395-411.

4. Wilkins, L. H., Jr.; Grinevich, V. P.; Ayers, J. T.; Crooks, P. A.; Dwoskin, L. P. *N-n*-Alkylnicotinium analogs, a novel class of nicotinic receptor antagonists: Interaction with $\alpha 4\beta 2^*$ and $\alpha 7^*$ neuronal nicotinic receptors. *J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther.* **2003**, *304*, 400-410.

5. Katz, B.; Thesleff, S. A study of the `desensitization' produced by acetylcholine at the motor end-plate. *J. Physiol.* **1957**, *138*, 63-80.

6. Jensen, A. A.; Frolund, B.; Liljefors, T.; Krogsgaard-Larsen, P. Neuronal nicotinic acetylcholine receptors: Structural revelations, target identifications, and therapeutic inspirations. *J. Med. Chem.* **2005**, *48*, 4705-4745.

7. Changeux, J.-P. Allosteric receptors: From electric organ to cognition. *Annu. Rev. Pharmacol. Toxicol.* **2010**, *50*, 1-38.

8. Arias, H. R. Positive and negative modulation of nicotinic receptors. *Adv. Protein Chem. Struct. Biol.* **2010**, *80*, 153-203.

9. Kim, J.-S.; Padnya, A.; Weltzin, M.; Edmonds, B. W.; Schulte, M. K.; Glennon, R. A. Synthesis of desformylflustrabromine and its evaluation as an $\alpha 4\beta 2$ and $\alpha 7$ nACh receptor modulator. *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.* **2007**, *17*, 4855-4860.

10. Kenakin, T. P.; Bond, R. A;. Bonner, T. I. Definition of pharmacological receptors. *Pharmacol. Rev.* **1992**, *44*, 351-362.

11. Maehle, A. H. "Receptive substances": John Newport Langley (1852-1925) and his path to a receptor theory of drug action. *Med. Hist.* **2004**, *48*, 153-174.

12. Neubig, R. R.; Spedding, M.; Kenakin, T.; Christopoulos, A. International union of pharmacology committee on receptor nomenclature and drug classification. XXXVIII. Update on terms and symbols in quantitative pharmacology. *Pharmacol. Rev.* **2003**, *55*, 597-606.

13. Langley, J. N. On the contraction of muscle, chiefly in relation to the presence of "receptive" substances: Part I. J. Physiol. **1907**, *36*, 347-384.

14. Hodgkin, A. L. Evidence for electrical transmission in nerve: Part I. J. Physiol. 1937, 90, 183-210.

15. Hodgkin, A. L.; Huxley, A. F.; Katz, B. Measurement of current-voltage relations in the membrane of the giant axon of loligo. *J. Physiol.* **1952**, *116*, 424-448.

16. Ortells, M. O.; Lunt, G. G. Evolutionary history of the ligand-gated ion-channel superfamily of receptors. *Trends Neurosci.* **1995**, *18*, 121-127.

17. Hucho, F.; Weise, C. Ligand-gated ion channels. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* **2001**, *40*, 3100-3116.

Unwin, N. Neurotransmitter action: Opening of ligand-gated ion channels. *Cell* 1993, 72
 Suppl., 31-41.

19. Zimmermann, I.; Dutzler, R. Ligand activation of the prokaryotic pentameric ligandgated ion channel ELIC. *PLoS Biol.* [Online] **2011**, *9*, http://www.plosbiology.org/article/info%3Adoi%2F10.1371%2Fjournal.pbio.1001101 (accessed Nov 26, 2012)

20. Gamgee, A.; Blankenhorn, E. On protagon. J. Physiol. 1879, 2, 113-131.

21. Liebreich, O. Ueber die chemische beschaffenheit der gehirnsubstanz. *Liebigs Ann.* **1865**, *134*, 29-44.

22. Cramer, W. On protagon, cholin and neurin. J. Physiol. 1904, 31, 30-37.

23. Ewins, A. J. Acetylcholine, a new active principle of ergot. *Biochem. J.* 1914, *8*, 44-49.

24. Ewins, A. J. Some new physiologically active derivatives of choline. *Biochem. J.* **1914**, *8*, 366-373.

25. Dale, H. H. Action of certain esters and ethers of choline, and their relation with muscarine. *J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther.* **1914**, *6*, 147-281.

26. Clark, A. J. The reaction between acetylcholine and muscle cells. *J. Physiol.* **1926**, *61*, 530-546.

27. Dale, H. H. On some physiological actions of ergot. J. Physiol. 1906, 34, 163-206.

28. Prado, M. A.; Reis, R. A.; Prado, V. F.; de Mello, M. C.; Gomez, M. V.; de Mello, F. G. Regulation of acetylcholine synthesis and storage. *Neurochem. Int.* **2002**, *41*, 291-299.

29. Devillers-Thiery, A.; Galzi, J. L.; Eisele, J. L.; Bertrand, S.; Bertrand, D.; Changeux, J.-P. Functional architecture of the nicotinic acetylcholine receptor: A prototype of ligand-gated ion channels. *J. Membr. Biol.* **1993**, *136*, 97-112.

30. Niewiadomska, G.; Baksalerska-Pazera, M.; Riedel, G. The septo-hippocampal system, learning and recovery of function. *Prog. Neuro-Psychopharmacol. Biol. Psychiatry* **2009**, *33*, 791-805.

31. Levitan, H.; Tauc, L. Acetylcholine receptors: Topographic distribution and pharmacological properties of two receptor types on a single molluscan neurone. *J. Physiol.* **1972**, 222, 537-558.

32. Kehoe, J. Three acetylcholine receptors in *Aplysia* neurones. J. Physiol. 1972, 225, 115146.

33. Caulfield, M. P.; Birdsall, N. J. International union of pharmacology. XVII. Classification of muscarinic acetylcholine receptors. *Pharmacol. Rev.* **1998**, *50*, 279-290.

34. Lukas, R. J.; Changeux, J. P.; Le Novere, N.; Albuquerque, E. X.; Balfour, D. J.; Berg, D. K.; Bertrand, D.; Chiappinelli, V. A.; Clarke, P. B.; Collins, A. C.; Dani, J. A.; Grady, S. R.; Kellar, K. J.; Lindstrom, J. M.; Marks, M. J.; Quik, M.; Taylor, P. W.; Wonnacott, S. International union of pharmacology. XX. Current status of the nomenclature for nicotinic acetylcholine receptors and their subunits. *Pharmacol. Rev.* **1999**, *51*, 397-401.

35. Nirthanan, S.; Gwee, M. C. Three-finger α -neurotoxins and the nicotinic acetylcholine receptor, forty years on. *J. Pharmacol. Sci.* **2004**, *94*, 1-17.

36. Elliott, T. R. The innervation of the bladder and urethra. J. Physiol. 1907, 35, 367-445.

37. Herring, P. T. The physiological action of extracts of the electrical organs of the skate (*Raia clavata*) and torpedo (*T. marmorata*). *J. Physiol.* **1919**, *52*, 454-456.

38. Feldberg, W.; Fessard, A. The cholinergic nature of the nerves to the electric organ of the *Torpedo (Torpedo marmorata)*. *J. Physiol.* **1942**, *101*, 200-216.

39. Unwin, N. Nicotinic acetylcholine receptor an 9 Å resolution. *J. Mol. Biol.* **1993**, 229, 1101-1124.

40. Lindstrom, J.; Anand, R.; Peng, X.; Gerzanich, V.; Wang, F.; Li, Y. Neuronal nicotinic receptor subtypes. *Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci.* **1995**, *757*, 100-116.

41. Silman, I.; Karlin, A. Acetylcholine receptor: Covalent attachment of depolarizing groups at the active site. *Science* **1969**, *164*, 1420-1421.

42. Leonard, S.; Bertrand, D. Neuronal nicotinic receptors: From structure to function. *Nicotine Tob. Res.* **2001**, *3*, 203-223.

43. Macklin, K. D.; Maus, A. D. J.; Pereira, E. F. R.; Albuquerque, E. X.; Conti-Fine, B. M. Human vascular endothelial cells express functional nicotinic acetylcholine receptors. *J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther.* **1998**, *287*, 435-439.

44. Gotti, C.; Clementi, F.; Fornari, A.; Gaimarri, A.; Guiducci, S.; Manfredi, I.; Moretti, M.; Pedrazzi, P.; Pucci, L.; Zoli, M. Structural and functional diversity of native brain neuronal nicotinic receptors. *Biochem. Pharmacol.* **2009**, *78*, 703-711.

45. Elgoyhen, A. B.; Vetter, D. E.; Katz, E.; Rothlin, C. V.; Heinemann, S. F.; Boulter, J. α10: A determinant of nicotinic cholinergic receptor function in mammalian vestibular and cochlear mechanosensory hair cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* **2001**, *98*, 3501-3506.

46. Chavez-Noriega, L. E.; Crona, J. H.; Washburn, M. S.; Urrutia, A.; Elliott, K. J.; Johnson, E. C. Pharmacological characterization of recombinant human neuronal nicotinic acetylcholine receptors h $\alpha 2\beta 2$, h $\alpha 2\beta 4$, h $\alpha 3\beta 2$, h $\alpha 3\beta 4$, h $\alpha 4\beta 2$, h $\alpha 4\beta 4$ and h $\alpha 7$ expressed in *Xenopus* oocytes. *J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther.* **1997**, 280, 346-356.

47. Gotti, C.; Riganti, L.; Vailati, S.; Clementi, F. Brain neuronal nicotinic receptors as new targets for drug discovery. *Curr. Pharm. Des.* **2006**, *12*, 407-428.

48. Lukas, R. J.; Norman, S. A.; Lucero, L. Characterization of nicotinic acetylcholine receptors expressed by cells of the SH-SY5Y human neuroblastoma clonal line. *Mol. Cell. Neurosci.* **1993**, *4*, 1-12.

49. Vernallis, A. B.; Conroy, W. G.; Berg, D. K. Neurons assemble acetylcholine receptors with as many as three kinds of subunits while maintaining subunit segregation among receptor subtypes. *Neuron* **1993**, *10*, 451-464.

50. Romano, S. J.; Pugh, P. C.; McIntosh, J. M.; Berg, D. K. Neuronal-type acetylcholine receptors and regulation of α 7 gene expression in vertebrate skeletal muscle. *J. Neurobiol.* **1997**, *32*, 69-80.

51. Grando, S. A.; Horton, R. M.; Pereira, E. F. R.; Diethelm-Okita, B. M.; George, P. M.; Albuquerque, E. X.; Conti-Fine, B. M. A nicotinic acetylcholine receptor regulating cell adhesion and motility is expressed in human keratinocytes. *J. Investig. Dermatol.* **1995**, *105*, 774-781.

52. Maus, A. D. J.; Pereira, E. F. R.; Karachunski, P. I.; Horton, R. M.; Navaneetham, D.; Macklin, K.; Cortes, W. S.; Albuquerque, E. X.; Conti-Fine, B. M. Human and rodent bronchial epithelial cells express functional nicotinic acetylcholine receptors. *Mol. Pharmacol.* **1998**, *54*, 779-788.

53. Benhammou, K.; Lee, M.; Strook, M.; Sullivan, B.; Logel, J.; Raschen, K.; Gotti, C.; Leonard, S. [³H]Nicotine binding in peripheral blood cells of smokers is correlated with the number of cigarettes smoked per day. *Neuropharmacology* **2000**, *39*, 2818-2829.

54. Gotti, C.; Clementi, F. Neuronal nicotinic receptors: From structure to pathology. *Prog. Neurobiol.* **2004**, *74*, 363-396.

55. Zoli, M.; Léna, C.; Picciotto, M. R.; Changeux, J.-P. Identification of four classes of brain nicotinic receptors using β2 mutant mice. *J. Neurosci.* **1998**, *18*, 4461-4472.

56. Zoli, M.; Moretti, M.; Zanardi, A.; McIntosh, J. M.; Clementi, F.; Gotti, C. Identification of the nicotinic receptor subtypes expressed on dopaminergic terminals in the rat striatum. *J. Neurosci.* **2002**, *22*, 8785-8789.

57. Gotti, C.; Zoli, M.; Clementi, F. Brain nicotinic acetylcholine receptors: Native subtypes and their relevance. *Trends Pharmacol. Sci.* **2006**, *27*, 482-491.

58. Lake, C. R.; Hurwitz, N. Schizoaffective disorders are psychotic mood disorders; there are no schizoaffective disorders. *Psychiatry Res.* **2006**, *143*, 255-287.

59. Lohr, J. B.; Flynn, K. Smoking and schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res.* 1992, *8*, 93-102.

Poirier, M.-F.; Canceil, O.; Baylé, F.; Millet, B.; Bourdel, M.-C.; Moatti, C.; Olié, J.-P.;
 Attar-Lévy, D. Prevalence of smoking in psychiatric patients. *Prog. Neuro-Psychopharmacol. Biol. Psychiatry* 2002, 26, 529-537.

61. Patkar, A. A.; Sterling, R. C.; Leone, F. T.; Lundy, A.; Weinstein, S. P. Relationship between tobacco smoking and medical symptoms among cocaine-, alcohol-, and opiate-dependent patients. *Am. J. Addict.* **2002**, *11*, 209-218.

62. Mobascher, A.; Winterer, G. The molecular and cellular neurobiology of nicotine abuse in schizophrenia. *Pharmacopsychiatry* **2008**, *41*, S51-S59.

Martin-Ruiz, C. M.; Haroutunian, V. H.; Long, P.; Young, A. H.; Davis, K. L.; Perry, E.
K.; Court, J. A. Dementia rating and nicotinic receptor expression in the prefrontal cortex in schizophrenia. *Biol. Psychiatry* 2003, *54*, 1222-1233.

64. Breese, C. R.; Adams, C.; Logel, J.; Drebing, C.; Rollins, Y.; Barnhart, M.; Sullivan, B.; Demasters, B. K.; Freedman, R.; Leonard, S. Comparison of the regional expression of nicotinic acetylcholine receptor α 7 mRNA and [¹²⁵I]- α -bungarotoxin binding in human postmortem brain. *J. Comp. Neurol.* **1997**, *387*, 385-398.

65. Luntz-Leybman, V.; Bickford, P. C.; Freedman, R. Cholinergic gating of response to auditory stimuli in rat hippocampus. *Brain Res.* **1992**, *587*, 130-136.

66. Freedman, R.; Wetmore, C.; Stromberg, I.; Leonard, S.; Olson, L. *α*-Bungarotoxin binding to hippocampal interneurons: Immunocytochemical characterization and effects on growth factor expression. *J. Neurosci.* **1993**, *13*, 1965-1975.

67. Freedman, R.; Hall, M.; Adler, L. E.; Leonard, S. Evidence in postmortem brain tissue for decreased numbers of hippocampal nicotinic receptors in schizophrenia. *Biol. Psychiatry* **1995**, *38*, 22-33.

68. Martin, L. F.; Kem, W. R.; Freedman, R. Alpha-7 nicotinic receptor agonists: Potential new candidates for the treatment of schizophrenia. *Psychopharmacology (Berlin, Ger.)* **2004**, *174*, 54-64.

69. Martin, S. E.; de Fiebre, N. E.; de Fiebre, C. M. The alpha7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor-selective antagonist, methyllycaconitine, partially protects against beta-amyloid1-42 toxicity in primary neuron-enriched cultures. *Brain Res.* **2004**, *1022*, 254-256.

70. Di Carlo, M. Beta amyloid peptide: From different aggregation forms to the activation of different biochemical pathways. *Eur. Biophys. J.* **2010**, *39*, 877-888.

71. LaFerla, F. M.; Tinkle, B. T.; Bieberich, C. J.; Haudenschild, C. C.; Jay, G. The Alzheimer's A_{β} peptide induces neurodegeneration and apoptotic cell death in transgenic mice. *Nat. Genet.* **1995**, *9*, 21-30.

72. Gotti, C.; Moretti, M.; Bohr, I.; Ziabreva, I.; Vailati, S.; Longhi, R.; Riganti, L.; Gaimarri, A.; McKeith, I. G.; Perry, R. H.; Aarsland, D.; Larsen, J. P.; Sher, E.; Beattie, R.; Clementi, F.; Court, J. A. Selective nicotinic acetylcholine receptor subunit deficits identified in Alzheimer's disease, parkinson's disease and dementia with lewy bodies by immunoprecipitation. *Neurobiol. Dis.* **2006**, *23*, 481-489.

73. Cook, L. J.; Ho, L. W.; Taylor, A. E.; Brayne, C.; Evans, J. G.; Xuereb, J.; Cairns, N. J.; Pritchard, A.; Lemmon, H.; Mann, D.; St Clair, D.; Turic, D.; Hollingworth, P.; Moore, P. J.; Jehu, L.; Archer, N.; Walter, S.; Foy, C.; Edmondson, A.; Powell, J.; Lovestone, S.; Owen, M. J.; Williams, J.; Lendon, C.; Rubinsztein, D. C. Candidate gene association studies of the $\alpha 4$ (CHRNA4) and $\beta 2$ (CHRNA2) neuronal nicotinic acetylcholine receptor subunit genes in Alzheimer's disease. *Neurosci. Lett.* **2004**, *358*, 142-146.

74. Buckingham, S. D.; Jones, A. K.; Brown, L. A.; Sattelle, D. B. Nicotinic acetylcholine receptor signalling: Roles in Alzheimer's disease and amyloid neuroprotection. *Pharmacol. Rev.* **2009**, *61*, 39-61.

75. Wu, J.; Kuo, Y.-P.; George, A. A.; Xu, L.; Hu, J.; Lukas, R. J. β-Amyloid directly inhibits human α 4β2-nicotinic acetylcholine receptors heterologously expressed in human SH-EP1 cells. *J. Biol. Chem.* **2004**, *279*, 37842-37851.

Maelicke, A.; Samochocki, M.; Jostock, R.; Fehrenbacher, A.; Ludwig, J.; Albuquerque,
E. X.; Zerlin, M. Allosteric sensitization of nicotinic receptors by galantamine, a new treatment strategy for Alzheimer's disease. *Biol. Psychiatry* 2001, *49*, 279-288.

77. Geurts, H. M.; Grasman, R. P. P. P.; Verté, S.; Oosterlaan, J.; Roeyers, H.; van Kammen, S. M.; Sergeant, J. A. Intra-individual variability in adhd, autism spectrum disorders and tourette's syndrome. *Neuropsychologia* **2008**, *46*, 3030-3041.

Zee, M.; Martin-Ruiz, C.; Graham, A.; Court, J.; Jaros, E.; Perry, R.; Iversen, P.;
Bauman, M.; Perry, E. Nicotinic receptor abnormalities in the cerebellar cortex in autism. *Brain* 2002, *125*, 1483-1495.

79. Wilens, T. E.; Verlinden, M. H.; Adler, L. A.; Wozniak, P. J.; West, S. A. ABT-089, a neuronal nicotinic receptor partial agonist, for the treatment of attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder in adults: Results of a pilot study. *Biol. Psychiatry* **2006**, *59*, 1065-1070.

80. Barkley, R. A.; Murphy, K. R.; Dupaul, G. J.; Bush, T. Driving in young adults with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder: Knowledge, performance, adverse outcomes, and the role of executive functioning. *J. Int. Neuropsychol. Soc.* **2002**, *8*, 655-672.

81. Wilens, T. E.; Decker, M. W. Neuronal nicotinic receptor agonists for the treatment of attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder: Focus on cognition. *Biochem. Pharmacol.* **2007**, *74*, 1212-1223.

82. McGehee, D. S. Nicotine and synaptic plasticity in prefrontal cortex. *Sci. STKE* **2007**, 2007, pe44.

83. deRuiter, W.; Faulkner, G. Tobacco harm reduction strategies: The case for physical activity. *Nicotine Tob. Res.* **2006**, *8*, 157-168.

84. Changeux, J.-P. Nicotine addiction and nicotinic receptors: Lessons from genetically modified mice. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* **2010**, *11*, 389-401.

85. Picciotto, M. R.; Corrigall, W. A. Neuronal systems underlying behaviors related to nicotine addiction: Neural circuits and molecular genetics. *J. Neurosci.* **2002**, *22*, 3338-3341.

86. Picciotto, M. R.; Zoli, M.; Rimondini, R.; Lena, C.; Marubio, L. M.; Pich, E. M.; Fuxe,
K.; Changeux, J.-P. Acetylcholine receptors containing the β2 subunit are involved in the reinforcing properties of nicotine. *Nature* 1998, *391*, 173-177.

87. Glassman, A. H.; Helzer, J. E.; Covey, L. S.; Cottler, L. B.; Stetner, F.; Tipp, J. E.; Johnson, J. Smoking, smoking cessation, and major depression. *J. Am. Med. Assoc.* **1990**, *264*, 1546-1549.

88. Mineur, Y. S.; Picciotto, M. R. Nicotine receptors and depression: Revisiting and revising the cholinergic hypothesis. *Trends Pharmacol. Sci.* **2010**, *31*, 580-586.

89. Philip, N.; Carpenter, L.; Tyrka, A.; Price, L. Nicotinic acetylcholine receptors and depression: A review of the preclinical and clinical literature. *Psychopharmacology (Berlin, Ger.)* **2010**, *212*, 1-12.

90. Rabenstein, R. L.; Caldarone, B. J.; Picciotto, M. R. The nicotinic antagonist mecamylamine has antidepressant-like effects in wild-type but not β 2- or α 7-nicotinic acetylcholine receptor subunit knockout mice. *Psychopharmacology (Berlin, Ger.)* **2006**, *189*, 395-401.

91. Caldarone, B. J.; Harrist, A.; Cleary, M. A.; Beech, R. D.; King, S. L.; Picciotto, M. R. High-affinity nicotinic acetylcholine receptors are required for antidepressant effects of amitriptyline on behavior and hippocampal cell proliferation. *Biol. Psychiatry* **2004**, *56*, 657-664.

92. Andreasen, J. T.; Olsen, G. M.; Wiborg, O.; Redrobe, J. P. Antidepressant-like effects of nicotinic acetylcholine receptor antagonists, but not agonists, in the mouse forced swim and mouse tail suspension tests. *J. Psychopharmacol.* **2009**, *23*, 797-804.

93. Papke, R. L.; Heinemann, S. F. Partial agonist properties of cytisine on neuronal nicotinic receptors containing the beta 2 subunit. *Mol. Pharmacol.* **1994**, *45*, 142-149.

94. Papke, R. L.; Porter Papke, J. K. Comparative pharmacology of rat and human α 7 nAChR conducted with net charge analysis. *Br. J. Pharmacol.* **2002**, *137*, 49-61.

95. Mineur, Y. S.; Somenzi, O.; Picciotto, M. R. Cytisine, a partial agonist of high-affinity nicotinic acetylcholine receptors, has antidepressant-like properties in male C57BL/6J mice. *Neuropharmacology* **2007**, *52*, 1256-1262.

96. Rollema, H.; Guanowsky, V.; Mineur, Y. S.; Shrikhande, A.; Coe, J. W.; Seymour, P. A.; Picciotto, M. R. Varenicline has antidepressant-like activity in the forced swim test and augments sertraline's effect. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* **2009**, *605*, 114-116.

97. Mineur, Y. S.; Eibl, C.; Young, G.; Kochevar, C.; Papke, R. L.; Gundisch, D.; Picciotto,
M. R. Cytisine-based nicotinic partial agonists as novel antidepressant compounds. *J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther.* 2009, *329*, 377-386.

98. Xiao, Y.; Fan, H.; Musachio, J. L.; Wei, Z. L.; Chellappan, S. K.; Kozikowski, A. P.; Kellar, K. J. Sazetidine-A, a novel ligand that desensitizes $\alpha 4\beta 2$ nicotinic acetylcholine receptors without activating them. *Mol. Pharmacol.* **2006**, *70*, 1454-1460.

99. Turner, J. R.; Castellano, L. M.; Blendy, J. A. Nicotinic partial agonists varenicline and sazetidine-A have differential effects on affective behavior. *J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther.* **2010**, *334*, 665-672.

100. Quik, M.; Wonnacott, S. $\alpha 6\beta 2^*$ and $\alpha 4\beta 2^*$ Nicotinic acetylcholine receptors as drug targets for parkinson's disease. *Pharmacol. Rev.* **2011**, *63*, 938-966.

101. Perez, X. A.; Bordia, T.; McIntosh, J. M.; Quik, M. $\alpha 6\beta 2^*$ and $\alpha 4\beta 2^*$ Nicotinic receptors both regulate dopamine signaling with increased nigrostriatal damage: Relevance to parkinson's disease. *Mol. Pharmacol.* **2010**, *78*, 971-980.

102. Grady, S. R.; Salminen, O.; Laverty, D. C.; Whiteaker, P.; McIntosh, J. M.; Collins, A.
C.; Marks, M. J. The subtypes of nicotinic acetylcholine receptors on dopaminergic terminals of mouse striatum. *Biochem. Pharmacol.* 2007, *74*, 1235-1246.

103. Livingstone, P. D.; Wonnacott, S. Nicotinic acetylcholine receptors and the ascending dopamine pathways. *Biochem. Pharmacol.* **2009**, *78*, 744-755.

104. Decker, M. W.; Brioni, J. D.; Sullivan, J. P.; Buckley, M. J.; Radek, R. J.; Raszkiewicz, J. L.; Kang, C. H.; Kim, D. J.; Giardina, W. J.; Wasicak, J. T. (S)-3-methyl-5-(1-methyl-2-pyrrolidinyl)isoxazole (ABT 418): A novel cholinergic ligand with cognition-enhancing and anxiolytic activities: II. In vivo characterization. *J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther.* **1994**, *270*, 319-328.

105. Frölich, L.; Ashwood, T.; Nilsson, J.; Eckerwall, G. Effects of AZD3480 on cognition in patients with mild-to-moderate Alzheimer's disease: A phase IIb dose-finding study. *J. Alzheimers Dis.* **2011**, *24*, 363-374.

106. Clinical Trials Home page. http://clinicaltrials.gov (accessed Nov 26, 2012), Search for study no: NCT00683462 (ClinicalTrials.gov identifier).

107. Mazurov, A. A.; Miao, L.; Bhatti, B. S.; Strachan, J.-P.; Akireddy, S.; Murthy, S.; Kombo, D.; Xiao, Y.-d.; Hammond, P.; Zhang, J.; Hauser, T. A.; Jordan, K. G.; Miller, C. H.; Speake, J. D.; Gatto, G. J.; Yohannes, D. Discovery of 3-(5-chloro-2-furoyl)-3,7-

diazabicyclo[3.3.0]octane (TC-6683, AZD1446), a novel highly selective $\alpha 4\beta 2$ nicotinic acetylcholine receptor agonist for the treatment of cognitive disorders. *J. Med. Chem.* **2012**, *55*, 9181-9194.

108. Scott, L. J.; Goa, K. L. Galantamine: A review of its use in Alzheimer's disease. *Drugs*2000, *60*, 1095-1122.

109. Shutske, G. M.; Pierrat, F. A.; Cornfeldt, M. L.; Szewczak, M. R.; Huger, F. P.; Bores, G. M.; Haroutunian, V.; Davis, K. L. (±)-9-Amino-1,2,3,4-tetrahydroacridin-1-ol. A potential Alzheimer's disease therapeutic of low toxicity. *J. Med. Chem.* 1988, *31*, 1278-1279.

110. Jann, M. W.; Brandt, N. Supportive care for the patient with Alzheimer's disease. *J. Am. Pharm. Assoc.* **2000**, *40*, S50-51.

111. Cummings, J.; Winblad, B. A rivastigmine patch for the treatment of Alzheimer's disease and parkinson's disease dementia. *Expert Rev. Neurother.* **2007**, *7*, 1457-1463.

112. FDA approves memantine drug for treating AD. *Am. J. Alzheimer's Dis Other Demen.*2003, *18*, 329-330.

113. Kertesz, A. Memantine in moderate to severe Alzheimer's disease. *Curr. Neurol. Neurosci.* **2003**, *3*, 485-486.

114. Burns, A.; Rossor, M.; Hecker, J.; Gauthier, S.; Petit, H.; Moller, H. J.; Rogers, S. L.; Friedhoff, L. T. The effects of donepezil in Alzheimer's disease - results from a multinational trial. *Dement. Geriatr. Cogn.* **1999**, *10*, 237-244.

115. Rueter, L. E.; Donnelly-Roberts, D. L.; Curzon, P.; Briggs, C. A.; Anderson, D. J.; Bitner, R. S. A-85380: A pharmacological probe for the preclinical and clinical investigation of the $\alpha 4\beta 2$ neuronal nicotinic acetylcholine receptor. *CNS Drug Rev.* **2006**, *12*, 100-112. 116. Feighner, J. P.; Meredith, C. H.; Stern, W. C.; Hendrickson, G.; Miller, L. L. A doubleblind study of bupropion and placebo in depression. *Am. J. Psychiat.* **1984**, *141*, 525-529.

117. Warner, C.; Shoaib, M. How does bupropion work as a smoking cessation aid? *Addict.Biol.* 2005, *10*, 219-231.

118. Drenan, R. M.; Grady, S. R.; Whiteaker, P.; McClure-Begley, T.; McKinney, S.; Miwa, J. M.; Bupp, S.; Heintz, N.; McIntosh, J. M.; Bencherif, M.; Marks, M. J.; Lester, H. A. In vivo activation of midbrain dopamine neurons via sensitized, high-affinity alpha 6 nicotinic acetylcholine receptors. *Neuron* **2008**, *60*, 123-136.

119. Malysz, J.; Anderson, D. J.; Gronlien, J. H.; Ji, J.; Bunnelle, W. H.; Hakerud, M.; Thorin-Hagene, K.; Ween, H.; Helfrich, R.; Hu, M.; Gubbins, E.; Gopalakrishnan, S.; Puttfarcken, P. S.; Briggs, C. A.; Li, J.; Meyer, M. D.; Dyhring, T.; Ahring, P. K.; Nielsen, E. O.; Peters, D.; Timmermann, D. B.; Gopalakrishnan, M. In vitro pharmacological characterization of a novel selective α 7 neuronal nicotinic acetylcholine receptor agonist ABT-107. *J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther.* **2010**, *334*, 863-874.

120. Othman, A. A.; Lenz, R. A.; Zhang, J.; Li, J.; Awni, W. M.; Dutta, S. Single- and multiple-dose pharmacokinetics, safety, and tolerability of the selective α7 neuronal nicotinic receptor agonist, ABT-107, in healthy human volunteers. *J. Clin. Pharmacol.* 2011, *51*, 512-526.
121. Freedman, R.; Olincy, A.; Buchanan, R. W.; Harris, J. G.; Gold, J. M.; Johnson, L.; Allensworth, D.; Guzman-Bonilla, A.; Clement, B.; Ball, M. P.; Kutnick, J.; Pender, V.; Martin, L. F.; Stevens, K. E.; Wagner, B. D.; Zerbe, G. O.; Soti, F.; Kem, W. R. Initial phase 2 trial of a nicotinic agonist in schizophrenia. *Am. J. Psychiatry* 2008, *165*, 1040-1047.

122. Hauser, T. A.; Kucinski, A.; Jordan, K. G.; Gatto, G. J.; Wersinger, S. R.; Hesse, R. A.; Stachowiak, E. K.; Stachowiak, M. K.; Papke, R. L.; Lippiello, P. M.; Bencherif, M. TC-5619: An alpha7 neuronal nicotinic receptor-selective agonist that demonstrates efficacy in animal models of the positive and negative symptoms and cognitive dysfunction of schizophrenia. *Biochem. Pharmacol.* **2009**, *78*, 803-812.

123. Warner, M. Targacept ends development of ADHD drug- MarketWatch. http://www.marketwatch.com/story/targacept-ends-development-of-adhd-drug-2012-09-17 (accessed on Nov 26, 2012).

124. Auerbach, A.; Akk, G. Desensitization of mouse nicotinic acetylcholine receptor channels. A two-gate mechanism. *J. Gen. Physiol.* **1998**, *112*, 181-197.

125. Andreev, A. A.; Veprintsev, B. N.; Vulfius, C. A. Two-component desensitization of nicotinic receptors induced by acetylcholine agonists in *Lymnaea stagnalis* neurones. *J. Physiol.*1984, 353, 375-391.

126. Rowell, P. P.; Li, M. Dose-response relationship for nicotine-induced up-regulation of rat brain nicotinic receptors. *J. Neurochem.* **1997**, *68*, 1982-1989.

127. Buccafusco, J. J.; Beach, J. W.; Terry, A. V., Jr. Desensitization of nicotinic acetylcholine receptors as a strategy for drug development. *J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther.* **2009**, *328*, 364-370.

128. Arias, H. R. Binding sites for exogenous and endogenous non-competitive inhibitors of the nicotinic acetylcholine receptor. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* **1998**, *1376*, 173-220.

129. Baenziger, J. E.; Chew, J. P. Desensitization of the nicotinic acetylcholine receptor mainly involves a structural change in solvent-accessible regions of the polypeptide backbone. *Biochemistry* **1997**, *36*, 3617-3624.

130. Heidmann, T.; Changeux, J.-P. Fast kinetic studies on the allosteric interactions between acetylcholine receptor and local anesthetic binding sites. *Eur. J. Biochem.* **1979**, *94*, 281-296.

131. Heidmann, T.; Changeux, J.-P. Fast kinetic studies on the interaction of a fluorescent agonist with the membrane-bound acetylcholine receptor from *Torpedo marmorata*. *Eur. J. Biochem.* **1979**, *94*, 255-279.

132. Pitchford, S.; Day, J. W.; Gordon, A.; Mochly-Rosen, D. Nicotinic acetylcholine receptor desensitization is regulated by activation-induced extracellular adenosine accumulation. *J. Neurosci.* **1992**, *12*, 4540-4544.

133. El-Fakahany, E. F.; Eldefrawi, A. T.; Eldefrawi, M. E. Nicotinic acetylcholine receptor desensitization studied by [³H]perhydrohistrionicotoxin binding. *J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther.* **1982**, *221*, 694-700.

134. Quick, M. W.; Lester, R. A. Desensitization of neuronal nicotinic receptors. *J. Neurobiol.*2002, *53*, 457-478.

135. Wang, H.; Sun, X. Desensitized nicotinic receptors in brain. *Brain Res. Rev.* 2005, 48, 420-437.

136. Revah, F.; Bertrand, D.; Galzi, J. L.; Devillers-Thiery, A.; Mulle, C.; Hussy, N.; Bertrand, S.; Ballivet, M.; Changeux, J.-P. Mutations in the channel domain alter desensitization of a neuronal nicotinic receptor. *Nature* **1991**, *353*, 846-849.

137. Monod, J.; Wyman, J.; Changeux, J.-P. On the nature of allosteric transitions: A plausible model. *J. Mol. Biol.* **1965**, *12*, 88-118.

138. Changeux, J.-P.; Edelstein, S. J. Allosteric receptors after 30 years. *Neuron* **1998**, *21*, 959-980.

139. Bertrand, D.; Gopalakrishnan, M. Allosteric modulation of nicotinic acetylcholine receptors. *Biochem. Pharmacol.* **2007**, *74*, 1155-1163.

140. Storch, A.; Schrattenholz, A.; Cooper, J. C.; Abdel Ghani, E. M.; Gutbrod, O.; Weber, K.
H.; Reinhardt, S.; Lobron, C.; Hermsen, B.; Soskic, V. Physostigmine, galanthamine and codeine act as 'noncompetitive nicotinic receptor agonists' on clonal rat pheochromocytoma cells. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* **1995**, *290*, 207-219.

141. Lester, H. A.; Changeux, J.-P.; Sheridan, R. E. Conductance increases produced by bath application of cholinergic agonists to electrophorus electroplaques. *J. Gen. Physiol.* **1975**, *65*, 797-816.

142. Hille, B. *Ion channels of excitable membranes*; Sinauer Associates, Inc.: Sunderland, MA, 2001.

143. Grosman, C.; Auerbach, A. Kinetic, mechanistic, and structural aspects of unliganded gating of acetylcholine receptor channels: A single-channel study of second transmembrane segment 12' mutants. *J. Gen. Physiol.* **2000**, *115*, 621-635.

144. Bowery, N. G. *Allosteric receptor modulation in drug targeting*; Taylor & Francis: New York, 2006.

145. Christopoulos, A. Allosteric binding sites on cell-surface receptors: Novel targets for drug discovery. *Nat. Rev. Drug Discov.* **2002**, *1*, 198-210.

146. Krause, R. M.; Buisson, B.; Bertrand, S.; Corringer, P. J.; Galzi, J. L.; Changeux, J.-P.; Bertrand, D. Ivermectin: A positive allosteric effector of the α 7 neuronal nicotinic acetylcholine receptor. *Mol. Pharmacol.* **1998**, *53*, 283-294.

147. Pereira, E. F.; Alkondon, M.; Reinhardt, S.; Maelicke, A.; Peng, X.; Lindstrom, J.; Whiting, P.; Albuquerque, E. X. Physostigmine and galanthamine: Probes for a novel binding site on the alpha 4 beta 2 subtype of neuronal nicotinic acetylcholine receptors stably expressed in fibroblast cells. *J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther.* **1994**, *270*, 768-778.

148. Paradiso, K.; Zhang, J.; Steinbach, J. H. The C terminus of the human nicotinic $\alpha 4\beta 2$ receptor forms a binding site required for potentiation by an estrogenic steroid. *J. Neurosci.* **2001**, *21*, 6561-6568.

149. Moroni, M.; Vijayan, R.; Carbone, A.; Zwart, R.; Biggin, P. C.; Bermudez, I. Nonagonist-binding subunit interfaces confer distinct functional signatures to the alternate stoichiometries of the $\alpha 4\alpha 2$ nicotinic receptor: An $\alpha 4$ - $\alpha 4$ interface is required for Zn²⁺ potentiation. *J. Neurosci.* **2008**, *28*, 6884-6894.

150. Eisele, J. L.; Bertrand, S.; Galzi, J. L.; Devillers-Thiery, A.; Changeux, J.-P.; Bertrand, D. Chimaeric nicotinic-serotonergic receptor combines distinct ligand binding and channel specificities. *Nature* **1993**, *366*, 479-483.

151. Hsiao, B.; Dweck, D.; Luetje, C. W. Subunit-dependent modulation of neuronal nicotinic receptors by zinc. *J. Neurosci.* **2001**, *21*, 1848-1856.

152. Hsiao, B.; Mihalak, K. B.; Magleby, K. L.; Luetje, C. W. Zinc potentiates neuronal nicotinic receptors by increasing burst duration. *J. Neurophysiol.* **2008**, *99*, 999-1007.

153. Grønlien, J. H.; Håkerud, M.; Ween, H.; Thorin-Hagene, K.; Briggs, C. A.; Gopalakrishnan, M.; Malysz, J. Distinct profiles of α 7 nAChR positive allosteric modulation revealed by structurally diverse chemotypes. *Mol. Pharmacol.* **2007**, *72*, 715-724.

154. Williams, D. K.; Wang, J.; Papke, R. L. Positive allosteric modulators as an approach to nicotinic acetylcholine receptor-targeted therapeutics: Advantages and limitations. *Biochem. Pharmacol.* **2011**, *82*, 915-930.

155. Bertrand, D.; Bertrand, S.; Cassar, S.; Gubbins, E.; Li, J.; Gopalakrishnan, M. Positive allosteric modulation of the α 7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor: Ligand interactions with distinct binding sites and evidence for a prominent role of the M2-M3 segment. *Mol. Pharmacol.* **2008**, 74, 1407-1416.

156. Dunlop, J.; Lock, T.; Jow, B.; Sitzia, F.; Grauer, S.; Jow, F.; Kramer, A.; Bowlby, M. R.; Randall, A.; Kowal, D.; Gilbert, A.; Comery, T. A.; Larocque, J.; Soloveva, V.; Brown, J.; Roncarati, R. Old and new pharmacology: Positive allosteric modulation of the α 7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor by the 5-hydroxytryptamine_{2B/C} receptor antagonist SB-206553 (3,5dihydro-5-methyl-*N*-3-pyridinylbenzo[1,2-b:4,5-*b*']dipyrrole-1(2*H*)-carboxamide). *J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther.* **2009**, *328*, 766-776.

157. Young, G. T.; Zwart, R.; Walker, A. S.; Sher, E.; Millar, N. S. Potentiation of α7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptors via an allosteric transmembrane site. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* **2008**, *105*, 14686-14691.

158. Barron, S. C.; McLaughlin, J. T.; See, J. A.; Richards, V. L.; Rosenberg, R. L. An allosteric modulator of α 7 nicotinic receptors, *N*-(5-chloro-2,4-dimethoxyphenyl)-*N*'-(5-methyl-

3-isoxazolyl)-urea (PNU-120596), causes conformational changes in the extracellular ligand binding domain similar to those caused by acetylcholine. *Mol. Pharmacol.* **2009**, *76*, 253-263.

159. Samochocki, M.; Hoffle, A.; Fehrenbacher, A.; Jostock, R.; Ludwig, J.; Christner, C.; Radina, M.; Zerlin, M.; Ullmer, C.; Pereira, E. F. R.; Lubbert, H.; Albuquerque, E. X.; Maelicke, A. Galantamine is an allosterically potentiating ligand of neuronal nicotinic but not of muscarinic acetylcholine receptors. *J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther.* **2003**, *305*, 1024-1036.

160. Zwart, R.; De Filippi, G.; Broad, L. M.; McPhie, G. I.; Pearson, K. H.; Baldwinson, T.; Sher, E. 5-Hydroxyindole potentiates human α 7 nicotinic receptor-mediated responses and enhances acetylcholine-induced glutamate release in cerebellar slices. *Neuropharmacology* **2002**, *43*, 374-384.

161. Anderson, D. J.; Vaidyanathan, S.; Namovic, M.; Donnelly-Roberts, D.; Lee, L.; Gopalakrishnan, M. Radioligand binding characterization of $[^{3}H]$ -A-998679: A novel positive allosteric modulator of $\alpha 4\beta 2$ nAChRs. *Biochem. Pharmacol.* **2009**, *78*, 903-904.

Broad, L. M.; Zwart, R.; Pearson, K. H.; Lee, M.; Wallace, L.; McPhie, G. I.; Emkey, R.;
Hollinshead, S. P.; Dell, C. P.; Baker, S. R.; Sher, E. Identification and pharmacological profile
of a new class of selective nicotinic acetylcholine receptor potentiators. *J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther.* **2006**, *318*, 1108-1117.

163. Peters, L. K., G. M.; Terlau, H.; Wright, D. A. Four new bromotryptamine derivatives from the marine Bryozoan *Flustra foliacea*. *J. Nat. Prod.* **2002**, *65*, 5.

164. Lysek, N.; Rachor, E.; Lindel, T. Isolation and structure elucidation of deformylflustrabromine from the North sea Bryozoan *Flustra foliacea*. *Z. Naturforsch., C: J. Biosci.* **2002**, *57*, 1056-1061.

165. Peters, L.; Wright, A. D.; Kehraus, S.; Gündisch, D.; Tilotta, M. C.; König, G. M. Prenylated indole alkaloids from *Flustra foliacea* with subtype specific binding on NAChRs. *Planta Med.* **2004**, *70*, 883-886.

Sala, F.; Mulet, J.; Reddy, K. P.; Bernal, J. A.; Wikman, P.; Valor, L. M.; Peters, L.;
Konig, G. M.; Criado, M.; Sala, S. Potentiation of human α4β2 neuronal nicotinic receptors by a *Flustra foliacea* metabolite. *Neurosci. Lett.* 2005, *373*, 144-149.

167. Joshi, P. R.; Suryanarayanan, A.; Schulte, M. K. A vertical flow chamber for Xenopus oocyte electrophysiology and automated drug screening. *J. Neurosci. Methods* 2004, *132*, 69-79.
168. Lindel, T.; Brauchle, L.; Golz, G.; Bohrer, P. Total synthesis of flustramine C *via* dimethylallyl rearrangement. *Org. Lett.* 2007, *9*, 283-286.

169. Glennon, R. A.; Young, R. Drug discrimination and development of novel agents and pharmacological tools. In *Drug Discrimination: Applications to Medicinal Chemistry and Drug Studies*; Glennon, R. A.; Young, R., Eds.; Wiley: Hoboken, New Jersey, 2011; pp 235-237.

170. Topliss, J. G. Utilization of operational schemes for analog synthesis in drug design. J.Med. Chem. 1972, 15, 1006-1011.

171. Craig, P. N. Interdependence between physical parameters and selection of substituent groups for correlation studies. *J. Med. Chem.* **1971**, *14*, 680-684.

172. Lipinski, C. A.; Lombardo, F.; Dominy, B. W.; Feeney, P. J. Experimental and computational approaches to estimate solubility and permeability in drug discovery and development settings. *Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev.* **1997**, *23*, 3-25.

173. Ghose, A. K.; Viswanadhan, V. N.; Wendoloski, J. J. A knowledge-based approach in designing combinatorial or medicinal chemistry libraries for drug discovery. 1. A qualitative and quantitative characterization of known drug databases. *J. Comb. Chem.* **1998**, *1*, 55-68.

174. Walters, W. P.; Green, J.; Weiss, J. R.; Murcko, M. A. What do medicinal chemists actually make? A 50-year retrospective. *J. Med. Chem.* **2011**, *54*, 6405-6416.

175. German, N.; Kim, J.-S.; Jain, A.; Dukat, M.; Pandya, A.; Ma, Y.; Weltzin, M.; Schulte, M. K.; Glennon, R. A. Deconstruction of the $\alpha 4\beta 2$ nicotinic acetylcholine receptor positive allosteric modulator desformylflustrabromine. *J. Med. Chem.* **2011**, *54*, 7259-7267.

176. Schumacher, R. W.; Davidson, B. S. Synthesis of didemnolines A-D, N9-substituted β -carboline alkaloids from the marine ascidian Didemnum sp. *Tetrahedron* **1999**, *55*, 935-942.

177. Gron, C.; Chirstophersen, C. Marine alkaloids. 9. *Synthesis of 6-bromotryptamine. *Acta. Chem. Scand. B.* **1984**, *38*, 709-711.

178. Burm, B. E. A.; Meijler, M. M.; Korver, J.; Wanner, M. J.; Koomen, G.-J. Synthesis of the brominated marine alkaloids (±)-arborescidine A, B and C. *Tetrahedron* **1998**, *54*, 6135-6146.

179. Kramer, W. G.; C. Brown, H. Organoboranes: XIX. The preparation and some unusual chemistry of b-allyl derivatives of 9-borabicyclo[3.3.1]nonane. *J. Organomet. Chem.* **1977**, *132*, 9-27.

180. Suffert, J. Simple direct titration of organolithium reagents using N-pivaloyl-o-toluidine and/or N-pivaloyl-o-benzylaniline. *J. Org. Chem.* **1989**, *54*, 509-510.

181. Smith, K.; El-Hiti, A. G.; J. Pritchard, G.; Hamilton, A. Carbonylation of various organolithium reagents. A novel approach to heterocycles *via* intramolecular trapping of aromatic acyllithiums. *J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1* **1999**, 2299-2303.

182. Zhu, X.; Ganesan, A. Regioselective synthesis of 3-alkylindoles mediated by zinc triflate.*J. Org. Chem.* 2002, *67*, 2705-2708.

183. Garcia, E. E.; Fryer, R. I. A new synthesis of *o*-nitrobenzylketones. Intermediates for the synthesis of 2-substituted indoles. *J. Heterocyclic Chem.* **1974**, *11*, 219-221.

184. Pei, T.; Tellers, D. M.; Streckfuss, E. C.; Chen, C.-y.; Davies, I. W. [1,2]-Aryl migration in the synthesis of substituted indoles: Scope, mechanism, and high throughput experimentation. *Tetrahedron* **2009**, *65*, 3285-3291.

185. Manley, P. W.; Acemoglu, M.; Marterer, W.; Pachinger, W. Large-scale Negishi coupling as applied to the synthesis of PDE472, an inhibitor of phosphodiesterase type 4D. *Org. Proc. Res. Dev.* **2003**, *7*, 436-445.

186. Flatt, A. K.; Yao, Y.; Maya, F.; Tour, J. M. Orthogonally functionalized oligomers for controlled self-assembly. *J. Org. Chem.* **2004**, *69*, 1752-1755.

187. Hirano, T.; Iwakiri, K.; Miyamoto, H.; Nakazaki, A.; Kobayashi, S. Total synthesis of (-)-flustramine B *via* one-pot intramolecular Ullmann coupling and Claisen rearrangement. *Heterocycles* **2009**, *79*, 805-820.

188. Okuma, K.; Seto, J.-i.; Sakaguchi, K.-i.; Ozaki, S.; Nagahora, N.; Shioji, K. Palladiumfree zinc-mediated hydroamination of alkynes: Efficient synthesis of indoles from 2akynylaniline derivatives. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2009**, *50*, 2943-2945. 189. Fuente, M. C.; Domínguez, D. Normal electron demand diels–alder cycloaddition of indoles to 2,3-dimethyl-1,3-butadiene. *Tetrahedron* **2011**, *67*, 3997-4001.

190. Pedras, M. S. C; Jha, M. Toward the control of Leptosphaeria maculans: Design, syntheses, biological activity, and metabolism of potential detoxification inhibitors of the crucifer phytoalexin brassinin. *Bioorg. Med. Chem.* **2006**, *14*, 4958-4979.

191. Celik, L.; Sinning, S.; Severinsen, K.; Hansen, C. G.; Møller, M. S.; Bols, M.; Wiborg, O.; Schiøtt, B. Binding of serotonin to the human serotonin transporter. Molecular modeling and experimental validation. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2008**, *130*, 3853-3865.

Hugon, B.; Anizon, F.; Bailly, C.; Golsteyn, R. M.; Pierré, A.; Léonce, S.; Hickman, J.;
Pfeiffer, B.; Prudhomme, M. Synthesis and biological activities of isogranulatimide analogues. *Bioorg. Med. Chem.* 2007, *15*, 5965-5980.

193. Miller, K. A.; Welch, T. R.; Greshock, T. J.; Ding, Y.; Sherman, D. H.; Williams, R. M. Biomimetic total synthesis of malbrancheamide and malbrancheamide B. *J. Org. Chem.* **2008**, *73*, 3116-3119.

194. Parsons, T. B.; Ghellamallah, C.; Male, L.; Spencer, N.; Grainger, R. S. Regioselective dibromination of methyl indole-3-carboxylate and application in the synthesis of 5,6-dibromoindoles. *Org. Biomol. Chem.* **2011**, *9*, 5021-5023.

195. Hamouda, A. K.; Stewart, D.; Jain, A.; Glennon, R. A.; Cohen, J. B. Interactions of desformylflustrabromine with a muscle-type nicotinic acetylcholine receptor (nAChR). Presented at the 42nd Annual Meeting of the Society of Neuroscience, New Orleans, LA, October 13-17, 2012.

196. Timmermann, D. B.; Sandager-Nielsen, K.; Dyhring, T.; Smith, M.; Jacobsen, A. M.; Nielsen, E. O.; Grunnet, M.; Christensen, J. K.; Peters, D.; Kohlhaas, K.; Olsen, G. M.; Ahring, P. K. Augmentation of cognitive function by NS9283, a stoichiometry-dependent positive allosteric modulator of α 2- and α 4-containing nicotinic acetylcholine receptors. *Br. J. Pharmacol.* **2012**, *167*, 164-182.

197. Brutcher, J. F.; Vanderwerff, W. Notes - Concerning a preparation of tryptamine. *J. Org. Chem.* **1958**, *23*, 146-147.

198. Lindel, T.; Bräuchle, L.; Golz, G.; Böhrer, P. Total synthesis of flustramine C via dimethylallyl rearrangement. *Org. Lett.* **2007**, *9*, 283-286.

199. Wu, T. Y. H.; Schultz, P. G. A versatile linkage strategy for solid-phase synthesis of *N*,*N*-dimethyltryptamines and β -carbolines. *Org. Lett.* **2002**, *4*, 4033-4036.

200. Lebedev, A. V.; Lebedeva, A. B.; Sheludyakov, V. D.; Kovaleva, E. A.; Ustinova, O. L.; Kozhevnikov, I. B. Vilsmeier formylation of hydrazones and semicarbazones derived from alkyl, benzyl, and cycloalkyl methyl ketones. *Russ. J. Gen. Chem.* **2005**, *75*, 412-416.

201. Martins, C. P. B.; Freeman, S.; Alder, J. F.; Brandt, S. D. Characterisation of a proposed internet synthesis of N,N-dimethyltryptamine using liquid chromatography/electrospray ionisation tandem mass spectrometry. *J. Chromatogr. A* **2009**, *1216*, 6119-6123.

202. Lawson, W. B.; Patchornik, A.; Witkop, B. Substitution, oxidation and group participation in the bromination of indoles. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1960**, *82*, 5918-5923.

203. Seo, J. H.; Artman, G. D.; Weinreb, S. M. Synthetic studies on perophoramidine and the communesins: Construction of the vicinal quaternary stereocenters. *J. Org. Chem.* **2006**, *71*, 8891-8900.

204. Terrasson, V.; Michaux, J.; Gaucher, A.; Wehbe, J.; Marque, S.; Prim, D.; Campagne, J.-M. Iron–palladium association in the preparation of indoles and one-pot synthesis of bis(indolyl)methanes. *Eur. J. Org. Chem.* **2007**, *2007*, 5332-5335.

205. Clarke, H. T.; Gillespie, H. B.; Weisshaus, S. Z. The action of formaldehyde on amines and amino acids. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1933**, *55*, 4571-4587.

206. Primofiore, G.; Taliani, S.; Da Settimo, F.; Marini, A. M.; La Motta, C.; Simorini, F.; Patrizi, M. P.; Sergianni, V.; Novellino, E.; Greco, G.; Cosimelli, B.; Calderone, V.; Montali, M.; Besnard, F.; Martini, C. Novel N-substituted indol-3-ylglyoxylamides probing the L_{Di} and L_1/L_2 lipophilic regions of the benzodiazepine receptor site in search for subtype-selective ligands. *J. Med. Chem.* **2007**, *50*, 1627-1634.

207. Liou, J.-P.; Wu, C.-Y.; Hsieh, H.-P.; Chang, C.-Y.; Chen, C.-M.; Kuo, C.-C.; Chang, J.-Y. 4- and 5-aroylindoles as novel classes of potent antitubulin agents. *J. Med. Chem.* **2007**, *50*, 4548-4552.

208. Mor, M.; Spadoni, G.; Di Giacomo, B.; Diamantini, G.; Bedini, A.; Tarzia, G.; Plazzi, P. V.; Rivara, S.; Nonno, R.; Lucini, V.; Pannacci, M.; Fraschini, F.; Stankov, B. M. Synthesis, pharmacological characterization and QSAR studies on 2-substituted indole melatonin receptor ligands. *Bioorg. Med. Chem.* **2001**, *9*, 1045-1057.

209. Aurell, M. J.; Gil, S.; Mestres, R.; Parra, M.; Parra, L. Alkylation of lithium dienediolates of butenoic acids. Regioselectivity effects of structure and leaving group of the alkylating agent. *Tetrahedron* **1998**, *54*, 4357-4366.

210. Palladino, M. A.; Llyod, G. K.; Hayashi, Y. Analogs of dehydrophenylahistins and their therapeutic use. U.S. Patent 20,080,221,122, September 11, 2008.

211. Gaspar, B.; Carreira, E. M. Catalytic hydrochlorination of unactivated olefins with paratoluenesulfonyl chloride. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* **2008**, *47*, 5758-5760.

212. Charton, J.; Girault-Mizzi, S.; Debreu-Fontaine, M.-A.; Foufelle, F.; Hainault, I.; Bizot-Espiard, J.-G.; Caignard, D.-H.; Sergheraert, C. Synthesis and biological evaluation of benzimidazole derivatives as potent amp-activated protein kinase activators. *Bioorg. Med. Chem.* **2006**, *14*, 4490-4518.

213. Houghton, E.; Saxton, J. E. Studies in the echinulin series. Part II. Synthesis of (±)alanyltryptophan anhydride and L-alanyl-2-(1,1-dimethylallyl)tryptophan anhydride. *J. Chem. Soc. C* **1969**, 1003-1012.

214. Hugon, B.; Pfeiffer, B.; Renard, P.; Prudhomme, M. Synthesis of granulatimide analogues bearing a maleimide instead of an imidazole heterocycle. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2003**, *44*, 3935-3937.

215. Kuttruff, C. A.; Zipse, H.; Trauner, D. Concise total syntheses of variecolortides a and b through an unusual hetero-diels–alder reaction. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* **2011**, *50*, 1402-1405.

216. Weltzin, M. M.; Schulte, M. K. Pharmacological characterization of the allosteric modulator desformylflustrabromine and its interaction with $\alpha 4\beta 2$ neuronal nicotinic acetylcholine receptor orthosteric ligands. *J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther.* **2010**, *334*, 917-926.

Vita

Atul Dilip Jain was born on June 28, 1983 in Mumbai, India to the parents Dilip and Manjula Jain. He received a Bachelor of Pharmaceutical Science degree from Bombay College of Pharmacy, Mumbai University, India in August 2005 and a Master of Science with major in Pharmaceutical Chemistry from Bombay College of Pharmacy, Mumbai University, India in May 2008. Subsequently he was enrolled in the Virginia Commonwealth University's School of Pharmacy, Pharmaceutical Sciences graduate program with a concentration in Medicinal Chemistry in August 2008.